
 

 
 
 
 
Summons to Meeting 
 
Monday 6 December 2021 
 

Development Panel 
 

Tuesday 14 December 2021, 1.00 pm 
 

Council Chamber, Allerdale House 
 

Membership: 
  
Councillor Tony Annison (Chair) Councillor Janet Farebrother (Vice-Chair) 
Councillor Carole Armstrong Councillor Nicky Cockburn 
Councillor Allan Daniels Councillor Daniel Horsley 
Councillor George Kemp Councillor Elaine Lynch 
Councillor Antony McGuckin Councillor Ron Munby MBE 
Councillor Andrew Semple Councillor Alan Tyson 
 

 
 If you have any questions or queries contact Kathryn Magnay on 

kathryn.magnay@allerdale.gov.uk. 

 

Agenda 
 
1. Minutes  (Pages 3 - 26) 
 

 To sign as a correct record the minutes of the meeting held on 23 November 
2021 

  

2. Apologies for Absence   
 

3. Declaration of Interests   
 

 Councillors/Staff to give notice of any disclosable pecuniary interest, other 
registrable interest or any other interest and the nature of that interest relating to 
any item on the agenda in accordance with the adopted Code of Conduct. 

  

4. Questions   
 

 To answer questions from Councillors and members of the public – submitted in 
writing or by electronic mail no later than 5.00pm on a working day, allowing two 
clear working days before the day of the meeting. 



  

5. VAR/2020/0009 - Lowmoor Road, Wigton - Variation of condition 6 on 
approved application 2/2016/0249  (Pages 27 - 46) 

 

6. RMA/2019/0015 - Lowmoor Road, Wigton - Residential development and 
associated infrastructure  (Pages 47 - 74) 

 

7. FUL/2021/0067 - Princess Street - Mixed use development retail, 
apartments, houses  (Pages 75 - 94) 

 

8. FUL/2021/0286 - 32 Wilson Street, Workington - Window replacements to 
UPVC  (Pages 95 - 104) 

 

9. OUT/2019/0017 - Land at Beech Grove, Low Seaton - Outline application for 
8 dwellings  (Pages 105 - 124) 

 

 
 

 
 
Chief Executive 
 

 
Date of Next Meeting: 

 
Tuesday 18 January 2022, 1.00 pm 

 
 
 



At a meeting of the Development Panel held in Council Chamber, Allerdale House on 
Tuesday 23 November 2021 at 1.00 pm 
 
Members 
 
Councillor Tony Annison (Chair) Councillor Janet Farebrother (Vice-Chair) 
Councillor Carole Armstrong Councillor Nicky Cockburn 
Councillor Allan Daniels Councillor Daniel Horsley 
Councillor Elaine Lynch Councillor Antony McGuckin 
Councillor Ron Munby MBE Councillor Andrew Semple 
Councillor Alan Tyson  
 
Apologies for absence were received from   
 
Staff Present 
 
S Long, Rebecca Wilson, K Magnay and J Morgan 
 
Also Present 
 
Shamus Giles, Highways, Cumbria County Council 
 
268. Minutes  

 
The minutes of the meeting on 28 September 2021 and 26 October 2021 were 
signed as a correct record. 
 

269. Declaration of Interests  
 
Councillor A Semple declared an interest in item 7 as Cockermouth Town 
Councillor and would leave the meeting for this item. 
 

270. Questions  
 
None received.  
 

271. VAR/2020/0009 - Lowmoor Road, Wigton - Variation of condition 6 of 
application 2/2016/0249 to remove reference to the mini roundabout  
 
Representations 
 
Sandra Hodgson and Pamela Batley spoke against the application. 
 
The Agent, David Wright spoke in support of the application. 
 
Application  
 
The Senior Planning Officer recommended granting planning permission 
subject to conditions and the signing of a Deed of Variation to ensure that the 
contributions secured under the original outline approval are tied to the 
implementation of this permission.  
 

Page 3

Agenda Item 1



The Planning Officer outlined the application and detailed the main issues within 
the report as follows: 
 

 Removal of a mini-roundabout 
 

The Highways Authority has raised no objection to the alternative 
provision of a T-junction access to the site as shown within Reserved 
Matters application RMA/2019/0015. 
 

Members noted the representations received in respect of the application, the 
main grounds of which were set out in the report. 
 
Councillor N Cockburn moved approval for variation of condition 6. 
Councillor J Farebrother seconded. 
 
Debate ensued with regards to the difference between a roundabout and a T-
junction, members questioned officers and Shamus Giles. 
 
Councillor N Cockburn withdrew her motion of approval and recommended 
deferral to explore highways consideration relating to the revised access details.  
 
Councillor D Horsley seconded. 
 
A vote was taken; 10 voted in favour, 0 against, 0 abstensions. 
 
The motion in favour of deferral was carried. 
 
Decision 
 
Deferred 
 

272. RMA/2019/0015 - Lowmoor Road, Wigton  
 
The Planning Officer advised that VAR/2020/0009, could be deferred to enable 
the applicant to consider the previous motion. 
 
A vote was taken on the motion to defer, 10 voted in favour, 0 against, 0 
abstentions. 
 
The motion was carried 
 
Decision 
 
Application deferred as per officers advice. 
 
Councillor T Annison joined the meeting. 
 
Councillor A Semple left the meeting 
 
 
 

Page 4



273. HOU/2021/0201 - 21 Melbreak Avenue - Re-submission of application 
HOU/2021/0117 for a two storey side extension  
 
Representations 
 
A letter was read out on behalf of the applicant. 
The Agent, Anthea Jones spoke in support of the application. 
 
Application 
 
The Senior Planning Officer recommended refusal. 
 
The Senior Planning Officer outlined the application and detailed the main 
issues within the report as follows: 
 

 Residential Amenity 
 

The proposal, by reason of its proximity and scale to habitable room 
windows within the side elevation of 19 Melbreak Avenue, would have a 
significant harmful effect on the living conditions of the neighbours at 19 
Melbreak Avenue, with regard to loss of outlook and oppressiveness 
 

Members noted the representations received in respect of the application, the 
main grounds of which were set out in the report. 
 
Councillor N Cockburn moved refusal as per the officer’s recommendations. 
Councillor E Lynch seconded. 
 
A vote was taken; 10 voted in favour of refusal 
 
The motion in favour of refusal was carried. 

 
Decision  
 
Refused 
 
Councillor A Semple re-joined the meeting. 
 

274. FUL/2020/0024 - Gleesons Abbeytown - Housing Development  
 
Representations 
 
David Dockray spoke in objection to the application. 
 
The Agent, David Wright spoke in support of the application. 
 
Application 
 
The Senior Planning Officer recommended approval. 
 
The Senior Planning Officer outlined the application and detailed the main 
issues within the report as follows: 

Page 5



 

 Principle of Development 
 

The built development within application site is within the settlement 
limits of Abbeytown as defined in the Allerdale Local Plan Part 2 and is a 
Housing Allocation under Policy SA20 of ALPP2. The principle of the 
development has therefore been previously accepted under its allocated 
status. The submitted site does partially extends outside the allocated 
area, but its built development is confined within it (reflecting the 
settlement limits under policy SA2 of ALPP2). On this basis it has been 
advertised as a departure to the local plan. 
 

 Benefits of the proposal 
 

The provision of 39 houses would contribute to strategic objective SO2c 
of the ALPP1, which seeks to ensure a deliverable supply of housing 
land that meets the needs of the community and local economy, as well 
as the Council Plan in terms of strengthening our economy and 
supporting the development of new homes where they are needed.  

 
The additional affordable houses to be provided by the proposal would 
increase access to affordable housing in the Borough, in accordance with 
strategic objective SO2d of the ALPP1.   
 

 Balanced and mixed communities including affordable and accessible 
homes 
 
The development is for 39 two storey dwellings comprising: 8 x 4 
bedroom; 25 x 3 bedroom and 6 x 2 bedroom. 4 affordable low cost 
dwellings are proposed. The housing mix is considered to be acceptable. 
It was acknowledged that albeit compliant with M4(2) it was not 
compliant with M4(3) re wheelchair adaptable. This had been omitted on 
viability grounds. 
 

 Scale, Layout, Design and Materials  
 
The scale and layout is acceptable for this development site with the 
design and materials responding to the character of the built environment 
and on site constraints.  
 

 Sustainability, Vehicular Access and Highway Safety  
 

The highway arrangements are acceptable. Suitable visibility splays can 
be provided to allow for a safe vehicular access. Parking standards are 
met.  
 

 Flooding / Drainage  
 
The development secures an acceptable scheme for the disposal of foul 
and surface water that will not introduce new flow routes or increased 
flows into the existing watercourses from the drained site nor does it 
increase flood risk downstream.  

Page 6



 

 Heritage / Archaeology 
 
The development will preserve both the physical and functional setting 
characteristics of the nearby listed buildings with less than substantial 
harm to the significance of the assets.  
 

 Landscape and Visual Effects  
 
There is limited adverse impact on the landscape character of the locality 
due to the relatively flat nature of the site, the arrangement of the 
dwellings and the relationship with existing development. There will also 
be hedgerow tree planting proposed as part of the scheme. There will be 
a visual change for nearby dwellings however the change is deemed 
acceptable and will not have a significant impact on neighbouring 
residential amenity by virtue of overlooking or loss of light.  
 

 Play Provision / Amenity Greenspace 
 

The developer has provided amenity green space throughout the 
development in line with the SPD. 

 
A financial contribution of £6,271.20 will be paid to the parish council for 
the upgrade / extension of the existing play provision in the village. 
 

 Ecology / Biodiversity Enhancements 
 

A suitable Ecological Appraisal has been provided for the proposal along 
with soft landscaping plans. 

  
The proposal will retain boundary hedging and trees. Additional tree 
planting is proposed throughout the scheme and infill hedgerow is 
proposed to the outer boundaries, which will be secured by condition 
 

The Senior Planning Officer advised members that the application is for 39 
dwellings not 40 as set out in the title of the report. 
 
Members noted the representations received in respect of the application, the 
main grounds of which were set out in the report. 
 
Councillor E Lynch proposed to accept approval as per the officers 
recommendations. 
 
Councillor N Cockburn seconded. 
 
A vote was taken; 11 voted in favour. 
 
The motion in favour of approval was carried. 

 
Decision 
 
Approved 

Page 7



 
Conditions 
 
Time Limit: 
 

1. The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the 
expiration of three years from the date of this permission. 
 
Reason: In order to comply with Section 91 of the Town and Country 
Planning Act 1990. 
 
 

In Accordance: 
  

2. The development hereby permitted shall be carried out solely in 
accordance with the following plans: 
Amended 45D-MJD-001 Rev B Site Location Plan 21.10.21 
Amended 45D-MJG 120 Revision D Proposed Streetscenes 08.10.21 
Amended 45D-MJG 100 Revision G Detailed Site Layout Plan 
08.10.21 
Amended 45D-MJG 102 Revision F Boundary and Elevation 
Diagram 08.10.21 
SD 103 Rev B Boundary Details Post & Wire Fence 
SD-100 Rev D Boundary Treatments 1800mm High Timber Fence 
GH-AY-TS01-A Rev A Topographical Survey 
45D-MJD-103 Rev C Access Drawing (access details only) 
Amended 45D-MJG 122 Revision B Management Control Plan 
08.10.21 
Amended GHA-WW01A Landscape Plan 8.10.21 
Amended 443-045 House Type 201/301 08.10.21 
Amended 443-045 House Type 201 08.10.21 
Amended 201/1F House Type 201 Floor Plans 16.08.21 
Amended 443-045 House Type 301 08.10.21 
Amended 443/045 House Type 301 Plans & Elevations 16.08.21 
Amended 301/1G House Type 301 Floor Plans 16.08.21 
Amended 13/301-08 Rev E House Type 301 (Rural) Elevations only 
18.06.21 
Amended 443-045 House Type 302 08.10.21 
Amended 302/1G House Type 302 Floor Plans 16.08.21 
Amended 13-310-10 Rev D House Type 310 (Rural) Elevations only 
18.06.21 
310-03 Rev R House Type 310 Ground Floor Plan only 
310-04 Rev Q House Type 310 First Floor only 
Amended 443-045 House Type 315 08.10.21 
Amended 13-315-9 Rev A House Type 315 (Rural 13) Elevations only 
18.06.21 
315 House Type 315 Floor Plans & Elevations 
Amended 443-045 House Type 350 08.10.21 
Amended 13-350-8 Rev B House Type 350 (Rural 13) Elevations only 
18.06.21 
Amended 350-03 Rev E House Type 350 Ground Floor 21.09.21 
Amended 350-04 Rev G House Type 350 First Floor 13.09.21 

Page 8



Amended 443-045 House Type 351 08.10.21 
Amended 443/05 House Type 351 Plans & Elevations 16.08.21 
Amended 351-REN House Type 351 Render Variant Elevations only 
22.06.21 
Amended 351-REN House Type 351 Render Variant Elevations only 
18.06.21 
Amended 443-045 House Type 450 8.10.21 
Amended 443/045 House Type 454 08.10.21 
Amended 454-03 Rev G House Type 454 Ground Floor 21.09.21 
Amended 454-04 Rev E House Type 454 First Floor 13.09.21 
SD700 Rev A Detached Single Garage Details 
SD701 Rev B Detached Garage Details Double 
N19302-250 Rev P1 Road Setting Out 
Amended 1915-D701 Rev 1 Drainage Details 05.03.21 
Amended 19195-D203 Rev 1 Typical SuDs Details 05.03.21 
Amended 19195-D201 Rev 1 Flood Route Plan 05.03.21 
Amended 19195-D201 Rev 1 Proposed Manhole Schedule 05.03.21 
Amended 19195-D001 Rev 1 Proposed Engineering Layout 05.03.21 
Amended 19195-D700 Rev 1 Road Construction Details 05.03.21 
Amended 19195-D301 Rev 1 Longsections Sheet 2 of 2 05.03.21 
Amended 19195-D300 Rev 1 Longsections Sheet 1 of 2 05.03.21 
Amended Storm Water Design Details 16.08.21 
Amended Storm Water Design 16.08.21 
Amended Specification for M4(2) Plots Rev D 13.09.21 
Archaeological Desk Based Assessment dated 7 Dec 2019 
Amended Specifications for a Programme of Archaeological 
Evaluation 07.09.21 
Amended Geophysical Survey Report May 2020 07.09.21 
Amended Flood Risk Assessment & Drainage Strategy dated Dec 
2020 05.03.21 
Amended 19195-SuDs Maintenance Strategy 16.08.21 
Preliminary Ecological Appraisal dated 20 February 2020 
Additional Ecological Statement 25.02.21 
GI Phase 1 and 2 Ground Investigation Report dated July 2019 
Gas Monitoring Results Addendum Letter dated 24 October 2019 
Construction Management Plan 

 
Reason: In order to ensure that the development is carried out in 
complete accordance with the approved plans and any material and non-
material alterations to the scheme are properly considered. 

 
 
Pre-commencement conditions: 
 

3. The carriageway, footways, footpaths, cycleways etc shall be 
designed, constructed, drained and lit to a standard suitable for 
adoption and in this respect further details, including 
longitudinal/cross sections, shall be submitted to the Local 
Planning Authority for approval before any part of the development 
hereby permitted is commenced. No work shall be commenced until 
a full specification has been approved. These details shall be in 
accordance with the standards laid down in the current Cumbria 

Page 9



Design Guide. Any works so approved shall be constructed before 
the development is fully occupied. 
 
Reason: To ensure a minimum standard of construction within the 
approved development in the interests of highway safety. 
 

4. No development shall commence within the site until the applicant 
has secured the implementation of a programme of archaeological 
work in accordance with a written scheme of investigation which 
has been submitted by the applicant and approved by the Local 
Planning Authority. This written scheme will include the following 
components: 
 
i) An archaeological evaluation; 
ii) An archaeological recording programme the scope of which will 
be dependent upon the results of the evaluation; 
iii) Where significant archaeological remains are revealed by the 
programme of archaeological work, there shall be carried out within 
one year of the completion of that programme on site, or within 
such timescale as otherwise agreed in writing by the LPA: a post 
excavation assessment and analysis, preparation of a site archive 
ready for deposition at a store approved by the LPA, completion of 
an archive report, and submission of the results for publication in a 
suitable journal. 
 
Reasons: To afford reasonable opportunity (prior to the 
excavation/disturbance of the site and any loss/damage to any potential 
important remains) for an examination to be made to determine the 
existence of any remains of archaeological interest within the site and for 
the preservation, examination and recording of such remains. 

 
5. No development shall take place until there has been submitted to 

and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority a detailed 
scheme for remedial contamination works relevant to and 
referencing the submitted and hereby approved site .The scheme 
must include an appraisal of remediation options, identification of 
the preferred option(s), the proposed remediation objectives and 
remediation criteria, and a description and programme of the works 
to be undertaken including the verification plan. 
 
Reason: To minimise any risk during or post construction works arising 
from any possible contamination from the development to the local 
environment in compliance with the National Planning Policy Framework 
and Policy S30 of the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1), Adopted July 2014. 

 
 
Post-commencement/Pre use commencing conditions: 
 

 
6. Any remediation scheme under condition 5, shall be implemented 

and a verification report submitted to and approved in writing by 

Page 10



the Local Planning Authority, prior to the development (or relevant 
phase of development) being brought into use. 
 
Reason: To minimise any risk during or post construction works arising 
from any possible contamination from the development to the local 
environment in compliance with the National Planning Policy Framework 
and Policy S30 of the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1), Adopted July 2014. 

 
7. No dwelling shall be occupied until the estate road, including 

footways, to serve that dwelling, has been constructed in all 
respects to base course level, and street lighting where it is to form 
part of the estate road, has been provide and brought into full 
operational use. 
 
Reason: In the interests of highway safety.  
 

8. The dwellings hereby approved shall not be occupied until the 
vehicular access, parking and turning requirements have been 
constructed for that dwelling in accordance with the approved plan 
and have been brought into use. The vehicular access, parking and 
turning provisions shall be retained and capable of use at all times 
thereafter and shall not be removed or altered without the prior 
consent of the Local Planning Authority. 
 
Reason: To ensure a minimum standard of access, parking and turning 
provision when the development is brought into use. 

 
9. Prior to the first occupation of each dwelling, details for that 

dwelling shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the local 
planning authority of either:- 
a)   Evidence that the applicant will provide onsite access to 
broadband infrastructure providers during the construction process 
to allow the providers to install the necessary broadband 
infrastructure; or 

b)     Evidence, following contact with broadband infrastructure 
providers, that it is not practicably or viably possible to install 
broadband infrastructure to achieve superfast (as defined by 
Government standards) fibre broadband connectivity.        
                                                   
Reason: To seek to secure sustainable superfast (as defined by 
Government standards) fibre broadband connectivity in accordance with 
policy SA33 of the Allerdale Local Plan Part 2, Adopted July 2020. 
 

10. The approved means of enclosures as shown on drawing number 
45D-MJG 102 Revision F Boundary and Elevation Diagram received 
08.10.2021 shall be constructed prior to the approved dwelling 
being occupied. All means of enclosures so constructed shall be 
retained and no part thereof shall be removed without the prior 
consent of the Local Planning Authority. 
 
Reason: To ensure a satisfactory standard of development which is 
compatible with the character of the surrounding area and safeguard the 

Page 11



amenity of neighbouring properties, in compliance with the National 
Planning Policy Framework and Policy S4 and S32 of the Allerdale Local 
Plan (Part 1), Adopted July 2014.  
 

11. The surface water and foul drainage details Amended 1915-D701 
Rev 1 Drainage Details 05.03.21, Amended 19195-D203 Rev 1 
Typical SuDs Details 05.03.21, Amended 19195-D201 Rev 1 Flood 
Route Plan 05.03.21, Amended 19195-D201 Rev 1 Proposed Manhole 
Schedule 05.03.21, Amended 19195-D001 Rev 1 Proposed 
Engineering Layout 05.03.21, Amended 19195-D301 Rev 1 
Longsections Sheet 2 of 2 05.03.21, Amended 19195-D300 Rev 1 
Longsections Sheet 1 of 2 05.03.21, Amended Storm Water Design 
Details 16.08.21, Amended Storm Water Design 16.08.21, Amended 
Flood Risk Assessment & Drainage Strategy dated Dec 2020 
05.03.21 and Amended 19195-SuDs Maintenance Strategy 16.08.21 
hereby approved shall be completed (prior to occupation of any 
dwellinghouse), maintained and managed in accordance with the 
approved details. 
 
Reason: To ensure a satisfactory means of drainage from the site and 
minimise the risk of flooding from the development, in compliance with 
the National Planning Policy Framework and Policies S2 and S29 of the 
Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1), Adopted July 2014. 

 
 
Other:  

 
12. All landscaping works (including public open space) shall be 

carried out in accordance with the approved Landscape Plan 
Drawing Number GHA-AA01A received 08.10.2021 within the first 
planting season following the completion of the estate. Any trees or 
plants which within a period of 5 years from the completion of the 
development die, are removed or become seriously damaged or 
diseased shall be replaced in the next planting season with others 
of similar size and species, unless otherwise agreed in writing by 
the Local Planning Authority. 
 
Reason: In order to enhance the appearance of the development and 
minimised the impact of the development on the locality.  
 

13. In the event that contamination is found at any time when carrying 
out the approved development that was not previously identified it 
must be reported immediately to the Local Planning Authority. 
Development on the part of the site affected must be halted and a 
risk assessment carried out and submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority. Where unacceptable risks 
are found remediation and verification schemes shall be submitted 
to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. These 
shall be implemented prior to the development (or relevant phase of 
development) being brought into use. All works shall be undertaken 
in accordance with current UK guidance, particularly CLR11. 
 

Page 12



Reason: To minimise any risk arising from any possible contamination 
from the development to the local environment in compliance with the 
National Planning Policy Framework and Policy S30 of the Allerdale 
Local Plan (Part 1), Adopted July 2014. 

 
 

14. Foul and surface water shall be drained on separate systems.  
 

Reason: To ensure a satisfactory means of foul drainage and to minimise 
the risk of water pollution to the local water environment, in compliance 
with the National Planning Policy Framework and Policy S2 of the 
Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1), Adopted July 2014. 

 
15. Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning 

(General Permitted Development) Order 2015 (or in any Statutory 
Instrument revoking or re-enacting that Order with or without 
modification) the wall adjacent Abbey Road shall not be altered 
without the prior written approval of the Local Planning Authority 
upon an application submitted to it.  
 
Reason: The Local Planning Authority wishes to retain control over the 
wall in the interests of the appearance of the site in line with Policy S27 
of the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1), Adopted July 2014. 
 

16. The works shall be implemented solely in accordance with the 
measures outlined in the Ecological Statement: Great Crested 
Newts dated 25 February 2021. 

 
Reason: To safeguard the habitat of Great Crested Newts in compliance 
with the National Planning Policy Framework and Policy S35 of the 
Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1), Adopted July 2014. 
 

17. The development shall be carried out in strict accordance with the 
approved Construction Management Plan. The site operating hours 
shall be restricted to 8:00am – 6:00pm Monday to Friday, 9:00am – 
1:00pm Saturdays and no working on Sundays or Bank Holidays.  

 
Reason: In the interest of highway safety and preserving the amenity of 
neighbouring residents, in compliance with the National Planning Policy 
Framework and Policy S32 of the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1), Adopted 
July 2014.  

 
The meeting closed at 3.50 pm 
 

Page 13



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 14



At a meeting of the Development Panel held in Council Chamber, Allerdale House on 
Tuesday 23 November 2021 at 1.00 pm 
 
Members 
 
Councillor Tony Annison (Chair) Councillor Janet Farebrother (Vice-Chair) 
Councillor Carole Armstrong Councillor Nicky Cockburn 
Councillor Allan Daniels Councillor Daniel Horsley 
Councillor Elaine Lynch Councillor Antony McGuckin 
Councillor Ron Munby MBE Councillor Andrew Semple 
Councillor Alan Tyson  
 
Apologies for absence were received from   
 
Staff Present 
 
S Long, Rebecca Wilson, K Magnay and J Morgan 
 
Also Present 
 
Shamus Giles, Highways, Cumbria County Council 
 
268. Minutes  

 
The minutes of the meeting on 28 September 2021 and 26 October 2021 were 
signed as a correct record. 
 

269. Declaration of Interests  
 
Councillor A Semple declared an interest in item 7 as Cockermouth Town 
Councillor and would leave the meeting for this item. 
 

270. Questions  
 
None received.  
 

271. VAR/2020/0009 - Lowmoor Road, Wigton - Variation of condition 6 of 
application 2/2016/0249 to remove reference to the mini roundabout  
 
Representations 
 
Sandra Hodgson and Pamela Batley spoke against the application. 
 
The Agent, David Wright spoke in support of the application. 
 
Application  
 
The Senior Planning Officer recommended granting planning permission 
subject to conditions and the signing of a Deed of Variation to ensure that the 
contributions secured under the original outline approval are tied to the 
implementation of this permission.  
 

Page 15



The Planning Officer outlined the application and detailed the main issues within 
the report as follows: 
 

 Removal of a mini-roundabout 
 

The Highways Authority has raised no objection to the alternative 
provision of a T-junction access to the site as shown within Reserved 
Matters application RMA/2019/0015. 
 

Members noted the representations received in respect of the application, the 
main grounds of which were set out in the report. 
 
Councillor N Cockburn moved approval for variation of condition 6. 
Councillor J Farebrother seconded. 
 
Debate ensued with regards to the difference between a roundabout and a T-
junction, members questioned officers and Shamus Giles. 
 
Councillor N Cockburn withdrew her motion of approval and recommended 
deferral to explore highways consideration relating to the revised access details.  
 
Councillor D Horsley seconded. 
 
A vote was taken; 10 voted in favour, 0 against, 0 abstensions. 
 
The motion in favour of deferral was carried. 
 
Decision 
 
Deferred 
 

272. RMA/2019/0015 - Lowmoor Road, Wigton  
 
The Planning Officer advised that VAR/2020/0009, could be deferred to enable 
the applicant to consider the previous motion. 
 
A vote was taken on the motion to defer, 10 voted in favour, 0 against, 0 
abstentions. 
 
The motion was carried 
 
Decision 
 
Application deferred as per officers advice. 
 
Councillor T Annison joined the meeting. 
 
Councillor A Semple left the meeting 
 
 
 

Page 16



273. HOU/2021/0201 - 21 Melbreak Avenue - Re-submission of application 
HOU/2021/0117 for a two storey side extension  
 
Representations 
 
A letter was read out on behalf of the applicant. 
The Agent, Anthea Jones spoke in support of the application. 
 
Application 
 
The Senior Planning Officer recommended refusal. 
 
The Senior Planning Officer outlined the application and detailed the main 
issues within the report as follows: 
 

 Residential Amenity 
 

The proposal, by reason of its proximity and scale to habitable room 
windows within the side elevation of 19 Melbreak Avenue, would have a 
significant harmful effect on the living conditions of the neighbours at 19 
Melbreak Avenue, with regard to loss of outlook and oppressiveness 
 

Members noted the representations received in respect of the application, the 
main grounds of which were set out in the report. 
 
Councillor N Cockburn moved refusal as per the officer’s recommendations. 
Councillor E Lynch seconded. 
 
A vote was taken; 10 voted in favour of refusal 
 
The motion in favour of refusal was carried. 

 
Decision  
 
Refused 
 
Councillor A Semple re-joined the meeting. 
 

274. FUL/2020/0024 - Gleesons Abbeytown - Housing Development  
 
Representations 
 
David Dockray spoke in objection to the application. 
 
The Agent, David Wright spoke in support of the application. 
 
Application 
 
The Senior Planning Officer recommended approval. 
 
The Senior Planning Officer outlined the application and detailed the main 
issues within the report as follows: 

Page 17



 

 Principle of Development 
 

The built development within application site is within the settlement 
limits of Abbeytown as defined in the Allerdale Local Plan Part 2 and is a 
Housing Allocation under Policy SA20 of ALPP2. The principle of the 
development has therefore been previously accepted under its allocated 
status. The submitted site does partially extends outside the allocated 
area, but its built development is confined within it (reflecting the 
settlement limits under policy SA2 of ALPP2). On this basis it has been 
advertised as a departure to the local plan. 
 

 Benefits of the proposal 
 

The provision of 39 houses would contribute to strategic objective SO2c 
of the ALPP1, which seeks to ensure a deliverable supply of housing 
land that meets the needs of the community and local economy, as well 
as the Council Plan in terms of strengthening our economy and 
supporting the development of new homes where they are needed.  

 
The additional affordable houses to be provided by the proposal would 
increase access to affordable housing in the Borough, in accordance with 
strategic objective SO2d of the ALPP1.   
 

 Balanced and mixed communities including affordable and accessible 
homes 
 
The development is for 39 two storey dwellings comprising: 8 x 4 
bedroom; 25 x 3 bedroom and 6 x 2 bedroom. 4 affordable low cost 
dwellings are proposed. The housing mix is considered to be acceptable. 
It was acknowledged that albeit compliant with M4(2) it was not 
compliant with M4(3) re wheelchair adaptable. This had been omitted on 
viability grounds. 
 

 Scale, Layout, Design and Materials  
 
The scale and layout is acceptable for this development site with the 
design and materials responding to the character of the built environment 
and on site constraints.  
 

 Sustainability, Vehicular Access and Highway Safety  
 

The highway arrangements are acceptable. Suitable visibility splays can 
be provided to allow for a safe vehicular access. Parking standards are 
met.  
 

 Flooding / Drainage  
 
The development secures an acceptable scheme for the disposal of foul 
and surface water that will not introduce new flow routes or increased 
flows into the existing watercourses from the drained site nor does it 
increase flood risk downstream.  

Page 18



 

 Heritage / Archaeology 
 
The development will preserve both the physical and functional setting 
characteristics of the nearby listed buildings with less than substantial 
harm to the significance of the assets.  
 

 Landscape and Visual Effects  
 
There is limited adverse impact on the landscape character of the locality 
due to the relatively flat nature of the site, the arrangement of the 
dwellings and the relationship with existing development. There will also 
be hedgerow tree planting proposed as part of the scheme. There will be 
a visual change for nearby dwellings however the change is deemed 
acceptable and will not have a significant impact on neighbouring 
residential amenity by virtue of overlooking or loss of light.  
 

 Play Provision / Amenity Greenspace 
 

The developer has provided amenity green space throughout the 
development in line with the SPD. 

 
A financial contribution of £6,271.20 will be paid to the parish council for 
the upgrade / extension of the existing play provision in the village. 
 

 Ecology / Biodiversity Enhancements 
 

A suitable Ecological Appraisal has been provided for the proposal along 
with soft landscaping plans. 

  
The proposal will retain boundary hedging and trees. Additional tree 
planting is proposed throughout the scheme and infill hedgerow is 
proposed to the outer boundaries, which will be secured by condition 
 

The Senior Planning Officer advised members that the application is for 39 
dwellings not 40 as set out in the title of the report. 
 
Members noted the representations received in respect of the application, the 
main grounds of which were set out in the report. 
 
Councillor E Lynch proposed to accept approval as per the officers 
recommendations. 
 
Councillor N Cockburn seconded. 
 
A vote was taken; 11 voted in favour. 
 
The motion in favour of approval was carried. 

 
Decision 
 
Approved 

Page 19



 
Conditions 
 
Time Limit: 
 

1. The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the 
expiration of three years from the date of this permission. 
 
Reason: In order to comply with Section 91 of the Town and Country 
Planning Act 1990. 
 
 

In Accordance: 
  

2. The development hereby permitted shall be carried out solely in 
accordance with the following plans: 
Amended 45D-MJD-001 Rev B Site Location Plan 21.10.21 
Amended 45D-MJG 120 Revision D Proposed Streetscenes 08.10.21 
Amended 45D-MJG 100 Revision G Detailed Site Layout Plan 
08.10.21 
Amended 45D-MJG 102 Revision F Boundary and Elevation 
Diagram 08.10.21 
SD 103 Rev B Boundary Details Post & Wire Fence 
SD-100 Rev D Boundary Treatments 1800mm High Timber Fence 
GH-AY-TS01-A Rev A Topographical Survey 
45D-MJD-103 Rev C Access Drawing (access details only) 
Amended 45D-MJG 122 Revision B Management Control Plan 
08.10.21 
Amended GHA-WW01A Landscape Plan 8.10.21 
Amended 443-045 House Type 201/301 08.10.21 
Amended 443-045 House Type 201 08.10.21 
Amended 201/1F House Type 201 Floor Plans 16.08.21 
Amended 443-045 House Type 301 08.10.21 
Amended 443/045 House Type 301 Plans & Elevations 16.08.21 
Amended 301/1G House Type 301 Floor Plans 16.08.21 
Amended 13/301-08 Rev E House Type 301 (Rural) Elevations only 
18.06.21 
Amended 443-045 House Type 302 08.10.21 
Amended 302/1G House Type 302 Floor Plans 16.08.21 
Amended 13-310-10 Rev D House Type 310 (Rural) Elevations only 
18.06.21 
310-03 Rev R House Type 310 Ground Floor Plan only 
310-04 Rev Q House Type 310 First Floor only 
Amended 443-045 House Type 315 08.10.21 
Amended 13-315-9 Rev A House Type 315 (Rural 13) Elevations only 
18.06.21 
315 House Type 315 Floor Plans & Elevations 
Amended 443-045 House Type 350 08.10.21 
Amended 13-350-8 Rev B House Type 350 (Rural 13) Elevations only 
18.06.21 
Amended 350-03 Rev E House Type 350 Ground Floor 21.09.21 
Amended 350-04 Rev G House Type 350 First Floor 13.09.21 

Page 20



Amended 443-045 House Type 351 08.10.21 
Amended 443/05 House Type 351 Plans & Elevations 16.08.21 
Amended 351-REN House Type 351 Render Variant Elevations only 
22.06.21 
Amended 351-REN House Type 351 Render Variant Elevations only 
18.06.21 
Amended 443-045 House Type 450 8.10.21 
Amended 443/045 House Type 454 08.10.21 
Amended 454-03 Rev G House Type 454 Ground Floor 21.09.21 
Amended 454-04 Rev E House Type 454 First Floor 13.09.21 
SD700 Rev A Detached Single Garage Details 
SD701 Rev B Detached Garage Details Double 
N19302-250 Rev P1 Road Setting Out 
Amended 1915-D701 Rev 1 Drainage Details 05.03.21 
Amended 19195-D203 Rev 1 Typical SuDs Details 05.03.21 
Amended 19195-D201 Rev 1 Flood Route Plan 05.03.21 
Amended 19195-D201 Rev 1 Proposed Manhole Schedule 05.03.21 
Amended 19195-D001 Rev 1 Proposed Engineering Layout 05.03.21 
Amended 19195-D700 Rev 1 Road Construction Details 05.03.21 
Amended 19195-D301 Rev 1 Longsections Sheet 2 of 2 05.03.21 
Amended 19195-D300 Rev 1 Longsections Sheet 1 of 2 05.03.21 
Amended Storm Water Design Details 16.08.21 
Amended Storm Water Design 16.08.21 
Amended Specification for M4(2) Plots Rev D 13.09.21 
Archaeological Desk Based Assessment dated 7 Dec 2019 
Amended Specifications for a Programme of Archaeological 
Evaluation 07.09.21 
Amended Geophysical Survey Report May 2020 07.09.21 
Amended Flood Risk Assessment & Drainage Strategy dated Dec 
2020 05.03.21 
Amended 19195-SuDs Maintenance Strategy 16.08.21 
Preliminary Ecological Appraisal dated 20 February 2020 
Additional Ecological Statement 25.02.21 
GI Phase 1 and 2 Ground Investigation Report dated July 2019 
Gas Monitoring Results Addendum Letter dated 24 October 2019 
Construction Management Plan 

 
Reason: In order to ensure that the development is carried out in 
complete accordance with the approved plans and any material and non-
material alterations to the scheme are properly considered. 

 
 
Pre-commencement conditions: 
 

3. The carriageway, footways, footpaths, cycleways etc shall be 
designed, constructed, drained and lit to a standard suitable for 
adoption and in this respect further details, including 
longitudinal/cross sections, shall be submitted to the Local 
Planning Authority for approval before any part of the development 
hereby permitted is commenced. No work shall be commenced until 
a full specification has been approved. These details shall be in 
accordance with the standards laid down in the current Cumbria 

Page 21



Design Guide. Any works so approved shall be constructed before 
the development is fully occupied. 
 
Reason: To ensure a minimum standard of construction within the 
approved development in the interests of highway safety. 
 

4. No development shall commence within the site until the applicant 
has secured the implementation of a programme of archaeological 
work in accordance with a written scheme of investigation which 
has been submitted by the applicant and approved by the Local 
Planning Authority. This written scheme will include the following 
components: 
 
i) An archaeological evaluation; 
ii) An archaeological recording programme the scope of which will 
be dependent upon the results of the evaluation; 
iii) Where significant archaeological remains are revealed by the 
programme of archaeological work, there shall be carried out within 
one year of the completion of that programme on site, or within 
such timescale as otherwise agreed in writing by the LPA: a post 
excavation assessment and analysis, preparation of a site archive 
ready for deposition at a store approved by the LPA, completion of 
an archive report, and submission of the results for publication in a 
suitable journal. 
 
Reasons: To afford reasonable opportunity (prior to the 
excavation/disturbance of the site and any loss/damage to any potential 
important remains) for an examination to be made to determine the 
existence of any remains of archaeological interest within the site and for 
the preservation, examination and recording of such remains. 

 
5. No development shall take place until there has been submitted to 

and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority a detailed 
scheme for remedial contamination works relevant to and 
referencing the submitted and hereby approved site .The scheme 
must include an appraisal of remediation options, identification of 
the preferred option(s), the proposed remediation objectives and 
remediation criteria, and a description and programme of the works 
to be undertaken including the verification plan. 
 
Reason: To minimise any risk during or post construction works arising 
from any possible contamination from the development to the local 
environment in compliance with the National Planning Policy Framework 
and Policy S30 of the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1), Adopted July 2014. 

 
 
Post-commencement/Pre use commencing conditions: 
 

 
6. Any remediation scheme under condition 5, shall be implemented 

and a verification report submitted to and approved in writing by 

Page 22



the Local Planning Authority, prior to the development (or relevant 
phase of development) being brought into use. 
 
Reason: To minimise any risk during or post construction works arising 
from any possible contamination from the development to the local 
environment in compliance with the National Planning Policy Framework 
and Policy S30 of the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1), Adopted July 2014. 

 
7. No dwelling shall be occupied until the estate road, including 

footways, to serve that dwelling, has been constructed in all 
respects to base course level, and street lighting where it is to form 
part of the estate road, has been provide and brought into full 
operational use. 
 
Reason: In the interests of highway safety.  
 

8. The dwellings hereby approved shall not be occupied until the 
vehicular access, parking and turning requirements have been 
constructed for that dwelling in accordance with the approved plan 
and have been brought into use. The vehicular access, parking and 
turning provisions shall be retained and capable of use at all times 
thereafter and shall not be removed or altered without the prior 
consent of the Local Planning Authority. 
 
Reason: To ensure a minimum standard of access, parking and turning 
provision when the development is brought into use. 

 
9. Prior to the first occupation of each dwelling, details for that 

dwelling shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the local 
planning authority of either:- 
a)   Evidence that the applicant will provide onsite access to 
broadband infrastructure providers during the construction process 
to allow the providers to install the necessary broadband 
infrastructure; or 

b)     Evidence, following contact with broadband infrastructure 
providers, that it is not practicably or viably possible to install 
broadband infrastructure to achieve superfast (as defined by 
Government standards) fibre broadband connectivity.        
                                                   
Reason: To seek to secure sustainable superfast (as defined by 
Government standards) fibre broadband connectivity in accordance with 
policy SA33 of the Allerdale Local Plan Part 2, Adopted July 2020. 
 

10. The approved means of enclosures as shown on drawing number 
45D-MJG 102 Revision F Boundary and Elevation Diagram received 
08.10.2021 shall be constructed prior to the approved dwelling 
being occupied. All means of enclosures so constructed shall be 
retained and no part thereof shall be removed without the prior 
consent of the Local Planning Authority. 
 
Reason: To ensure a satisfactory standard of development which is 
compatible with the character of the surrounding area and safeguard the 

Page 23



amenity of neighbouring properties, in compliance with the National 
Planning Policy Framework and Policy S4 and S32 of the Allerdale Local 
Plan (Part 1), Adopted July 2014.  
 

11. The surface water and foul drainage details Amended 1915-D701 
Rev 1 Drainage Details 05.03.21, Amended 19195-D203 Rev 1 
Typical SuDs Details 05.03.21, Amended 19195-D201 Rev 1 Flood 
Route Plan 05.03.21, Amended 19195-D201 Rev 1 Proposed Manhole 
Schedule 05.03.21, Amended 19195-D001 Rev 1 Proposed 
Engineering Layout 05.03.21, Amended 19195-D301 Rev 1 
Longsections Sheet 2 of 2 05.03.21, Amended 19195-D300 Rev 1 
Longsections Sheet 1 of 2 05.03.21, Amended Storm Water Design 
Details 16.08.21, Amended Storm Water Design 16.08.21, Amended 
Flood Risk Assessment & Drainage Strategy dated Dec 2020 
05.03.21 and Amended 19195-SuDs Maintenance Strategy 16.08.21 
hereby approved shall be completed (prior to occupation of any 
dwellinghouse), maintained and managed in accordance with the 
approved details. 
 
Reason: To ensure a satisfactory means of drainage from the site and 
minimise the risk of flooding from the development, in compliance with 
the National Planning Policy Framework and Policies S2 and S29 of the 
Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1), Adopted July 2014. 

 
 
Other:  

 
12. All landscaping works (including public open space) shall be 

carried out in accordance with the approved Landscape Plan 
Drawing Number GHA-AA01A received 08.10.2021 within the first 
planting season following the completion of the estate. Any trees or 
plants which within a period of 5 years from the completion of the 
development die, are removed or become seriously damaged or 
diseased shall be replaced in the next planting season with others 
of similar size and species, unless otherwise agreed in writing by 
the Local Planning Authority. 
 
Reason: In order to enhance the appearance of the development and 
minimised the impact of the development on the locality.  
 

13. In the event that contamination is found at any time when carrying 
out the approved development that was not previously identified it 
must be reported immediately to the Local Planning Authority. 
Development on the part of the site affected must be halted and a 
risk assessment carried out and submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority. Where unacceptable risks 
are found remediation and verification schemes shall be submitted 
to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. These 
shall be implemented prior to the development (or relevant phase of 
development) being brought into use. All works shall be undertaken 
in accordance with current UK guidance, particularly CLR11. 
 

Page 24



Reason: To minimise any risk arising from any possible contamination 
from the development to the local environment in compliance with the 
National Planning Policy Framework and Policy S30 of the Allerdale 
Local Plan (Part 1), Adopted July 2014. 

 
 

14. Foul and surface water shall be drained on separate systems.  
 

Reason: To ensure a satisfactory means of foul drainage and to minimise 
the risk of water pollution to the local water environment, in compliance 
with the National Planning Policy Framework and Policy S2 of the 
Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1), Adopted July 2014. 

 
15. Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning 

(General Permitted Development) Order 2015 (or in any Statutory 
Instrument revoking or re-enacting that Order with or without 
modification) the wall adjacent Abbey Road shall not be altered 
without the prior written approval of the Local Planning Authority 
upon an application submitted to it.  
 
Reason: The Local Planning Authority wishes to retain control over the 
wall in the interests of the appearance of the site in line with Policy S27 
of the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1), Adopted July 2014. 
 

16. The works shall be implemented solely in accordance with the 
measures outlined in the Ecological Statement: Great Crested 
Newts dated 25 February 2021. 

 
Reason: To safeguard the habitat of Great Crested Newts in compliance 
with the National Planning Policy Framework and Policy S35 of the 
Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1), Adopted July 2014. 
 

17. The development shall be carried out in strict accordance with the 
approved Construction Management Plan. The site operating hours 
shall be restricted to 8:00am – 6:00pm Monday to Friday, 9:00am – 
1:00pm Saturdays and no working on Sundays or Bank Holidays.  

 
Reason: In the interest of highway safety and preserving the amenity of 
neighbouring residents, in compliance with the National Planning Policy 
Framework and Policy S32 of the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1), Adopted 
July 2014.  

 
The meeting closed at 3.50 pm 
 

Page 25



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 26



Allerdale Borough Council 
 

Planning Application VAR/2020/0009 
 

Development Panel Report 

 
Reference Number: VAR/2020/0009 

Valid Date:   12th June 2020 

Location:   Lowmoor Road, Wigton, Cumbria 

Applicant:   Gleesons 

Proposal: Variation of condition 6 of planning permission 2/2016/0249 
for residential development and associated infrastructure, to 
remove the reference to the mini roundabout.  

 

RECOMMENDATION  

Subject to verification of the visibility splay for Plot 1, grant planning permission 
subject to conditions and the signing of a Deed of Variation to ensure that the 
contributions secured under the original outline approval are tied to the 
implementation of this permission.  

UPDATE 

Members will recall that this item (and the following item), were considered at the 
previous Development Panel on the 23rd November 2021. Both items were deferred 
from that meeting following concerns that were expressed with the loss of a mini-
roundabout as the junction arrangement with Lowmoor Road, as the mini-roundabout 
was considered a means of slowing traffic speeds. 

Subsequently, the applicant has provided a Stage 1 and 2 Road Safety Audit and 
Designers Response and this information has been provided to the Highways Authority 
for comment.   The purpose of a Road Safety Audit is to identify any safety issues 
arising from a particular scheme and the Designers Response will set out how these are 
to be addressed. The following points are noted from the report: 

1. Problem – New access points with dropped kerbs and flush crossings proposed, 
but no corresponding flush crossing to opposite side of Lowmoor Road for 
pedestrians. 

Response – Will provide flush crossings for pedestrians and non-motorised 
users on both sides of Lowmoor Road. This will be carried out under the s278 
Agreement with the County Council as the Highways Authority.  

2. Problem - Plots 5 and 6 appear to have limited turning space within the 
driveways and the possibility exists of vehicles having to reverse out of drives 
onto Lowmoor Road, leading to potential conflicts and accidents. In addition to 

Page 27

Agenda Item 5



this, parking of cars on the drives will lessen the visibility for vehicles leaving the 
main junction, to the left and right of it. The visibility from the shared drive at Plot 
1 is also very poor to the left, as Lowmoor Road bends to the left shortly beyond 
it and there is an existing building which will compromise the visibility splay. 

Response - A review of driveway positions will be undertaken and they will be 
adjusted accordingly. 

3. Problem – Risk of falling into SUDS pond from footpath. 

Response - A suitable fencing solution has been proposed (already included on 
the submitted plans). 

4. Problem – Position of speed limit signage. The existing speed restriction should 
be moved to the east and made more visible to drivers, possibly with red texture 
and markings on the road.  

5. Response – It is agreed that the speed limit signage should be re-positioned and 
this has already been secured by a payment within the s106 agreement 
(attached to the outline approval).  

The response from the Highways Authority is summarised as follows: 

Note the safety audit response form the designer and find this acceptable. It 
seeks to rectify all elements picked up in the RSA. With regards to the traffic 
calming issue, active frontages are an effective means of traffic calming. This 
development will create this. Low Moor Road currently has no visual clues to 
drivers to slow down. It was envisaged that in response to the outline application 
that the roundabout would provide this clue, and force drivers to slow down. The 
revised layout, with multiple accesses directly onto the road, will hopefully 
achieve a similar purpose.  
 
From a Local Highway Authority point of view, speeds are high. This could be 
enforced by the police. From a design point of view however this is well within 
our tolerance for access designs. The 60m splay required assumes a 37mph 
85%ile speed. 
 
Numerous potential additional traffic calming measures have been discussed, 
e.g. (raised table at the main access onto Low Moor Road, carriageway 
narrowing, vehicle activated speed sign, chicane) but considering the above, this 
cannot be attributed to this applicant if the CIL tests are applied.  

 
As such, having undertaken a Road Safety Audit and Review, none of the issues raised 
have related to the provision of a T junction arrangement in lieu of a roundabout at the 
entrance to the site. The Highways Authority remain satisfied that the replacement of a 
roundabout with a T junction would not give rise to severe highway impacts, which is the 
planning test. The Highways Authority go on to discuss traffic speeds and are satisfied 
that , subject to verification of the visibility of the access onto Plot 1, the provision of 
housing facing onto Lowmoor Road with multiple accesses, will in itself be an indicator 
that cars should slow down. Further traffic calming measures are not considered 
reasonably necessary to make the development acceptable and cannot therefore be 

Page 28



pursued at a cost to the applicant as they would not meet the legal test under the 
Community Infrastructure Levy Regulations.  

Further, the Highways Authority appear satisfied that those issues flagged by the Road 
Safety Audit can be satisfactorily addressed.  

To conclude on this matter, subject to verification of the visibility splay for Plot 1 it 
remains the advice of the Highways Authority and Officers that the highway safety 
implications of the proposal are acceptable, subject to the recommended conditions and 
s106 agreement. There is no evidence available to support a refusal on this matter.    

Other issues raised at the last meeting included the loss of the frontage hedgerow and 
the potential loss of an historic stone wall to the eastern boundary. The loss of the 
hedgerow has been considered in detail as part of the reserved matters application at 
section 16 onwards. The hedgerow to be lost measures 125m and replacement 
hedgerow is proposed totalling 340m. This is considered to be adequate compensation. 
The submitted plans confirm that the stone wall is to be retained as part of the site 
boundary, with a small section potentially lowered in height if required for visibility. The 
stone wall is highlighted in the Archaeological Evaluation undertaken for the site and no 
concerns have been raised by the County Archaeologist. Therefore this limited 
reduction to this wall is considered to be acceptable.  

The recommendation remains as originally drafted.  

 

1.        Summary 

Issue Conclusion 

Removal of mini-roundabout The Highways Authority has raised no 
objection to the alternative provision of a T 
junction access to the site as shown within 
Reserved Matters application 
RMA/2019/0015.  

 

2  Proposal 
 
2.1 An application has been submitted under section 73 of the Town and Country 

Planning Act as amended, to vary condition 6 of planning permission 
2/2016/0249, which will allow housing development to be undertaken at the site 
with access provided by a T junction and not a mini-roundabout. Application 
2/2016/0249 secured planning permission for the following description of 
development: 

 
Outline application for residential development and associated 
infrastructure.  
 

 

Page 29



2.2 Condition 6 of that permission states: 
 

A frontage footway, its links to the footway on the northern side of 
Lowmoor Road and the access mini roundabout shall be designed, 
constructed, drained and lit to a suitable standard and in this respect 
further details, including longitudinal/cross sections, shall be 
submitted to the Local Planning Authority for approval before any 
part of the development hereby permitted is commenced. No work 
shall be commenced until a full specification has been approved. 
Any works so approved shall be constructed before the development 
is completed. 
Reason: To ensure a minimum standard of construction within the 
approved development in the interests of highway safety. 

 
2.3 It is proposed to vary condition 6 as follows: 

 
A frontage footway, its links to the footway on the northern side of 
Lowmoor Road and the access shall be designed, constructed, 
drained and lit to a suitable standard and in this respect further 
details, including longitudinal/cross sections, shall be submitted to 
the Local Planning Authority for approval before any part of the 
development hereby permitted is commenced. No work shall be 
commenced until a full specification has been approved. Any works 
so approved shall be constructed before the development is 
completed.  
Reason: To ensure a minimum standard of construction within the 
approved development in the interests of highway safety.  

 
2.4 This application seek the variation of condition 6 only. The principle of the 

development is not therefore for consideration here, only whether condition 6 
should be varied or not in the manner applied for.  

 
2.5 The Council is concurrently considering an application for approval of the 

outstanding reserved matters for this site. The outstanding reserved matters 
include details of access and provides the detailed plans for the development of 
57 houses with the main access provided by a T-junction arrangement positioned 
centrally to the site frontage along Lowmoor Road.   

 
 
2.6 A section 73 application cannot extend the time period for the implementation of 

a planning permission. As such, any approval of this application would have to 
retain the original timescales for the implementation of the permission.  

 
2.8   Should Members be minded to approve the current application, Officers have 

revised the conditions of the original permission to include the variation of 
condition 6 and the revised timescales for implementation, otherwise the 
conditions of the original permission remain unchanged.  

 
 

 

Page 30



3        Site 
 

3.1 The application site is located along Lowmoor Road, Wigton, to the south east of 
Wigton town centre. The site is comprised of grazing pasture with a hedgerow 
forming part of the frontage with Lowmoor Road.  The site lies to the south of the 
B5305 Lowmoor Road, with Lowmoor Road forming its frontage and fields 
forming its boundary to the south and east and residential properties forming its 
western edge. The proposal site is bounded by hedgerow and rails to the north 
boundary, with a partial sandstone wall to the east and the other boundaries by 
railings/fencing. To the north and directly off Lowmoor Road is the residential 
development of Scholars Green. The site generally falls from the north to the 
south, approx. 10.58AOD at the north boundary and 6.24AOD at the south 
eastern boundary. The land to the rear falls away slightly further before then 
rising to the housing estate to the south (Highmoor Gardens). 

 
 

4 Relevant Planning History 
 
4.1 The relevant planning history relates primarily to applications: 
 

2/2016/0249 – Outline planning permission for residential development and 
associated infrastructure, all matters reserved. Granted subject to conditions and 
a legal agreement that secured the following: 

  

 20% of the total units to be affordable units, 75% of which are to be let at 
an affordable rent, 25% for discounted sale (80% of the open market 
value). The s106 stipulates that these will be formed as two and three bed 
properties.  

 An off-site Play Area Contribution to improve existing play facilities at 
Phoenix Park (No. of dwellings x 1.39) x £140 

 A sum of £4500 to cover a traffic regulation order to extend the 30mph 
speed limit zone. 

 
RMA/2019/0015 - Reserved matters application following outline permission on 
2/2016/0249 for residential development and associated infrastructure (57 
dwellings), pending.  

 
5      Representations 

 
5.1 Wigton Town Council  

 
Wigton Town Council consider the best option for access to the estate is via the 
mini‐roundabout as detailed in the previous plans and that appropriate signage is 
erected.  
 
 

5.2 CCC Highways  
 

 Confirm no objection to the variation of the condition.  
 

Page 31



 
 Other representations  
 
5.13 The application, has been advertised by press advert, site notice and neighbour 

letter. 8 representations have been received to date raising objection to the 
variation of condition 6, which are summarised as follows:  

1. One representation has been submitted raising difficulty with commenting 
on the application. 

2. Question whether if a mini-roundabout it not supported, whether a cross 
road with Scholars Green would be considered on safety and habitat 
grounds.  

3. Why is a T junction considered to be a better alternative to a mini-
roundabout by the Highways Authority and Allerdale Borough Council? 
How can a T-junction along a B road be more effective than a roundabout 
in terms of traffic calming measures resulting in better highway safety?  

4. Will this alternative be cheaper? 
5. Proposal will exacerbate congestion on this road already arising from the 

school. 
6. There are no traffic calming measures in place along the road and the 

speed of most vehicles travelling along the road, in either direction, is 
often well above the 30 MPH limit. Removal of the proposed roundabout 
to provide safe access to Scholars Green and the proposed new housing 
development will increase the risk of serious accident for those joining or 
leaving Lowmoor road because of the speed of other road users 
approaching the junctions to Scholars Green and the new development. 

7. Questions the lack of consultation with properties on West Avenue have 
been consulted and why people in Skinburness? Is this legal?  

8. T junction will result in loss of hedgerow, which should be retained. 
Ecological impacts, soakaway impacts for drainage and helps filter car 
pollution.   

9. Why would any planner not wish to make use of the existing arrangement 
which has three legs of the roundabout already built? (East/west legs on 
Lowmoor Road and existing entrance into Scholars Green). 

10. Why has the developer not discussed this with residents?  
11. Development will be a significant nuisance to residents at 39-31 Lowmoor 

Road in particular, but other residents also.  
 

 
6         Environmental Impact Assessment 

6.1 The proposal is not considered to be schedule 1 or 2 development under the EIA 
Regulations 2017.  

 
 

7 Duties 
 
7.1 None relevant.  
 
 
 

Page 32



8. Development Plan Policies 
 
           Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1) 
 
8.1 Policy S1 - Presumption in favour of sustainable development 

Policy S2 – Sustainable Development Principles 
Policy S3 - Spatial Strategy and Growth 
Policy S4 - Design principles 
Policy S5 – Development Principles 
Policy S6 – Area Based 
Policy S7 - A mixed and balanced housing market 
Policy S21 – Developer contributions 
Policy S22 - Transport principles 
Policy S24 – Green Infrastructure 
Policy S25 – Sports, Leisure and Open Space 
Policy S29 - Flood Risk and Surface Water Drainage 
Policy S30 – Reuse of Land 
Policy S32 - Safeguarding amenity 
Policy S33 - Landscape 
Policy S35 – Protecting and Enhancing Biodiversity and Geodiversity 
Policy S36 – Air, Water and Soil Quality 
Policy DM12 – Sustainable Construction 
Policy DM14 - Standards of Good Design 
Policy DM16 – Sequential Test for Previously Developed Land 
Policy DM17 – Trees, Hedgerow and Woodland 

 
The following policies are considered to be most relevant to the consideration to 
remove condition 16;- 
 

Policy S22 – Transport Principles 
Policy S32 – Safeguarding Amenity 
 
These policies can be found here;- 
https://www.allerdale.gov.uk/en/planning-building-control/planning-policy/local-
plan-part-1/ 
 
 
Allerdale Borough Local Plan (Part 2)  

 
8.2 The site falls within the defined settlement limit for Wigton. The site is an 

identified housing commitment.   
 

 Policy SA1 Identified Sites  
Policy SA2 Settlement Boundaries 
Policy SA3 Affordable Housing 
Policy SA5 Housing Standards 
Policy SA6 Housing Delivery 
Policy SA33 – Broadband 

  
 https://www.allerdale.gov.uk/en/siteallocations/ 

Page 33

https://www.allerdale.gov.uk/en/planning-building-control/planning-policy/local-plan-part-1/
https://www.allerdale.gov.uk/en/planning-building-control/planning-policy/local-plan-part-1/
https://www.allerdale.gov.uk/en/siteallocations/


 
 

9.       Other material considerations 
 

National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) (2021) 
 
9.1 Paragraph 219 advises that the weight afforded to development plan policies can 

vary according to their degree consistency with the framework (the closer the 
policies in the plan to the policies in the Framework, the greater the weight that 
may be given). 

 
9.2 Paragraph 218 of the NPPF advises that policies in that Framework are material 

consideration which should be taken into account in dealing with the applications 
from the day of its publication.  

 
9.3 Paragraph 111 of the NPPF advises that development should only be prevented 

or refused on highways grounds if there would be an unacceptable impact on 
highway safety, or the residual cumulative impacts on the road network would be 
severe. 

 
9.4 Paragraph 112 (a) advises that within new development, give priority first to 

pedestrian and cycle movements, both within the scheme and with neighbouring 
areas; and second – so far as possible – to facilitating access to high quality 
public transport, with layouts that maximise the catchment area for bus or other 
public transport services, and appropriate facilities that encourage public 
transport use.  

 
9.5 The NPPF is available to view at:- 
 

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/national-planning-policy-
framework--2 

 
 
10. Policy weighting  
 
10.1 Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires that, 

if regard is to be had to the development plan for the purpose of any 
determination to be made under the Planning Acts, the determination must be 
made in accordance with the plan unless material considerations indicate 
otherwise. This means that the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1) 2014 and Allerdale 
Local Plan (Part 2) 2020 policies have primacy. Full weight is afforded to the 
relevant development plan policies as they are considered consistent with the 
NPPF.  

 
10.2 A consideration afforded some weight is the existence of the original permission 

and its conditions. 
 
 
 
 

Page 34

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/national-planning-policy-framework--2
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/national-planning-policy-framework--2


11. Assessment 
 

Introduction 
 

11.1 Section 73(2) of the 1990 Act states that “the local planning authority shall 
consider only the question of the conditions subject to which planning permission 
should be granted.” 

 
11.2 The options open to this Authority are:- 

A. If it is decided that permission should be granted subject to different 
conditions to those previously imposed or it should be granted 
unconditionally, then permission should be granted accordingly. 

B. If it is decided that permission should be granted subject to the same 
conditions as previously imposed, then the s73 application should be 
refused. 

 
11.3 The principle of the development itself is not in question. 
 
11.4 Where an application under section 73 is granted, the effect is the issue of a new 

planning permission, sitting alongside the original permission, which remains 
intact and unamended. Given that a new permission is being considered, then 
the determination must be made in the context of current development plan 
policies and material considerations.  

 
 

Highways Matters 
 
11.5  Condition 6 of the original planning permission required the implementation of a 

number of off-site highways measures, including access into the housing 
development from Lowmoor Road via a mini-roundabout. This application to vary 
condition 6 seeks to remove this requirement only.   

 
11.6 The inclusion of a condition on any planning permission requires consideration of 

the six tests – whether it is necessary; relevant to planning; relevant to the 
development to be permitted; enforceable; precise; and reasonable in all other 
respects. In considering whether a condition should be removed, these tests 
remain relevant considerations. Is the condition sought for removal still necessary 
and reasonably required to make the development acceptable?  

 
11.7  The outline approval did not include the details of access. Approval of the detail 

of ‘Access’ was reserved for later consideration. In these circumstances, the 
judgement at the outline stage should be to determine whether a safe access to 
the site for the specified purpose is achievable, and not how that access should 
be achieved. However, in this case, a condition has been included that specifies 
the use of a mini-roundabout.  

 
11.8 Policy S22 of the Allerdale Local Plan Part 1 contains a number of criteria for new 

development, including that new development should, improve accessibility, be 

Page 35



accessed safely and not compromise the safety of any transport route, 
encourage attractive and well-connected street networks, make provision for 
pedestrians and cyclists to be given the highest priority within new development, 
and be required to provide adequate levels of car parking, cycle facilities, and 
where appropriate incorporate charging points for electric and hybrid vehicles.  

 
11.9 The NPPF at paragraph 104, advises that patterns of movement, streets, parking 

and other transport considerations are integral to the design of schemes, and 
contribute to making high quality places. Paragraph 110 of the NPPF advises 
that new development should ensure safe and suitable access to the site for all 
users, that the design of streets should reflect current national guidance, 
including the National Design Guide and the National Model Design Code. 
Further, the NPPF requires that any significant impacts from a development on 
the transport network (in terms of capacity and congestion), or on highway safety, 
should be mitigated to an acceptable degree. Paragraph 111 advises that 
development should only be prevented or refused on highways grounds if there 
would be an unacceptable impact on highway safety, or the residual cumulative 
impacts on the road network would be severe. 

 
11.10 Within this context, the NPPF requires amongst other things that applications for 

development should give priority first to pedestrian and cycle movement, and that 
they should create places that are safe, secure and attractive, which minimise the 
scope for conflicts between pedestrians, cyclists and vehicles, avoid unnecessary 
street clutter and respond to local character and design standards.  

 
11.11 As set out within the report for the reserved matters application, in pre-application 

discussions with the applicant relating to the access and layout of the site, it was 
noted that the outline application included with it, indicative plans which initially 
showed a central access point with T-junction, then amended to an easterly 
access point with roundabout. The consultation responses from the Highways 
Authority at that outline stage, raised no specific objection to either arrangement.   

 
11.12 Following discussions with the applicant at the pre-application and application 

stage, a central access with T-junction has been pursued as part of the detailed 
reserved matters application. This is for two reasons, (1) This option had not 
attracted any specific objection from the Highways Authority at the outline stage 
and (2) A central access to the site is considered allow for a better design 
approach to the layout of the housing scheme overall. A central access with 
dwellings either side of that access facing onto Lowmoor Road and with an 
internal tree lined road then leading to a central area of open space with housing 
facing onto that open space, is considered to provide a more focused and 
attractive entrance to the development and better standard of layout and design 
overall, than could be achieved from a more easterly access junction, with mini-
roundabout.  It is considered that a mini-roundabout would have prioritised the 
design of the entrance for private car users, over and above the form and design 
of the development overall, and above the access and movement of pedestrians 
into and through the site, which would have been less convenient from a more 
easterly location. Further, mini-roundabouts allow for the free flow of traffic and 
are often more difficult to navigate for pedestrians in Officers opinion.   

 

Page 36



11.13 The proposed central access lies opposite 39 Lowmoor Road, approx. 60m from 
the existing junction into Scholars Green (measured from the centre line of the 
existing and proposed junctions). This separation distance between the existing 
and proposed junctions is similar to previously accepted arrangements for other 
housing schemes served by T-junction arrangements, including the recently 
considered housing scheme at Main Road, High Harrington by Story Homes.  

 
11.14 The Highways Authority has not raised any objection to the access and layout 

details now shown for a T-junction arrangement, located centrally to the site 
frontage along Lowmoor Road as part of reserved matters application, nor have 
they raised objection to this application for the variation of condition 6 to remove 
the requirement for the mini-roundabout.  Whilst the road safety concerns of the 
Town Council and members of the public are noted relating to the loss of the 
mini-roundabout, the Highways Authority have not raised any safety concerns 
themselves. The NPPF clearly sets out that development should only be refused 
on highway grounds if there would be an unacceptable impact on highway safety 
and given the advice of the Highways Authority, this is not considered to be the 
case here. As the proposed T-junction is considered to provide a suitable 
entrance in highway safety terms and a better scheme in terms of the overall 
design and layout of the scheme, then the variation of condition 6 to remove the 
reference to a mini-roundabout, is considered to be acceptable in officer’s 
opinion.  

11.15 On the basis that a safe alternative access has been provided to the satisfaction 
of the Local Highway Authority, the element of condition 6 relating to a mini-
roundabout is no longer considered reasonable or necessary. Officers 
recommend that the condition can be varied to reflect the text set out at section 
2.3 above.  

 
 Other matters 
 
11.16 Condition 18 of the original planning permission related to a requirement for 

further archaeological investigation. The required investigation and reporting has 
been undertaken and provided with the reserved matters application and the 
County Archaeologist has confirmed that this report satisfies the requirements of 
the original condition. As this is the case, original condition 18 has been deleted 
and original condition 19 (which secures ecological mitigation) is now condition 
18 in the below recommendation.  

 
11.17 As part of the reserved matters application, some supporting information has 

been provided relating to ground conditions. However the repose from 
Environmental Health suggests that there may still be matters to be resolved in 
this respect, therefore conditions 14-17 relating to contamination are retained in 
the below recommendation. 

 
11.18 The conditions relating to the timing for implementation of the permission and 

submission of details for the reserved matters have been amended so that they 
reflect the timescales of the original outline permission as an application made 
under s73 should not extend the time limits for implementation of a permission. 

 

Page 37



11.19 In all other respects, the conditions remain unchanged as there has been no 
separate discharge of conditions applications relating to the original outline 
permission.  

 
Local Financial Considerations 

 
11.20  Having regard to S70 (2) of the Town and Country Planning Act the proposal will 

have financial implications arising New Homes Bonus and Council Tax Revenue.  
 

12 Balance and Conclusions 

12.1 The mini-roundabout secured by condition 6 is not considered to be necessary to 
make the development acceptable on the basis that an alternative proposal has 
been provided which has secured the support of the Highways Authority in 
highway safety terms and officers in design terms. Officers recommend that the 
condition can be varied as requested. 

 

RECOMMENDATION 

Delegate to the Planning and Building Control Manager the granting of 
permission subject to conditions and upon the signing of a Deed of 
Variation to tie the existing s106 legal agreement to this permission, if 
considered necessary by Legal Services. 

 

Page 38



Annex 1 

Conditions: 

1. Before any works commence details of the layout, scale and appearance, 
access and landscaping (hereinafter called 'reserved matters') shall be 
submitted to and approved by the Local Planning Authority. 
Reason: The application has been submitted as an outline application, in 
accordance with the provisions of the details of the Town and Country Planning 
(Development Management Procedure) Order 2015. 

 

2. The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance 
with the following plans:  
SS011-LP Site Location Plan 

 Ecological Appraisal 
 Ecological update received 2 August 2016 
 Flood Risk Assessment & Outline Drainage Strategy 
 Transport Statement 
 Transport Statement Addendum received 7 July 2016 
 Geophysical Survey Report 
 Phase 1 Geo-Environmental Site Assessment 
 Reason: In order to ensure that the development is carried out in complete 

accordance with the approved plans and any material and non-material 
alterations to the scheme are properly considered. 

 
3. The submission of all reserved matters applications shall be made no later 

than 7 February 2020 and the development shall begin no later than 
whichever is the later of the following dates: 

 (a) 7 February 2020, or  
 (b) The expiration of 2 years from the final approval of the reserved matters 

or, in the case of approval on different dates, the final approval of the last 
such matter to be approved. 

 Reason: In order to comply with Sections 91 and 92 of the Town and Country 
Planning Act 1990. 

 
4. Any application for reserved matters of layout shall include plans showing 

the following: 
 (a) Cross sections through the site; 
 (b) Details of existing and proposed ground levels; 
 (c) Proposed finished floor levels of buildings; 
 (d) Levels of any paths, drives, garages and parking areas; 
 and the development shall be carried out in accordance with the details so 

approved. 
 Reason: To ensure that the works are carried out to a suitable level in relation to 

the adjoining properties and highways and in the interests of visual amenity. 
 
5. The carriageway, footways, footpaths, cycleways etc. shall be designed, 

constructed, drained and lit to a standard suitable for adoption and in this 
respect further details, including longitudinal/cross sections, shall be 
submitted to the Local Planning Authority for approval before any part of 

Page 39



the development hereby permitted is commenced. No work shall be 
commenced until a full specification has been approved. These details 
shall be in accordance with the standards laid down in the current Cumbria 
Design Guide. Any works so approved shall be constructed before the 
development is completed. 

 Reason: To ensure a minimum standard of construction within the approved 
development in the interests of highway safety. 

 
6. A frontage footway and its links to the footway on the northern side of 

Lowmoor Road shall be designed, constructed, drained and lit to a suitable 
standard and in this respect further details, including longitudinal/cross 
sections, shall be submitted to the Local Planning Authority for approval 
before any part of the development hereby permitted is commenced. No 
work shall be commenced until a full specification has been approved. Any 
works so approved shall be constructed before the development is 
completed. 

 Reason: To ensure a minimum standard of construction within the approved 
development in the interests of highway safety. 

 
7. The development shall not commence until visibility splays at each point of 

access, providing clear visibility of 2.4 metres by 70 metres as measured 
down the centre of the access(es) or access road and the nearside channel 
line of the major road have been provided at the junction of each access 
road with the county highway. Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town 
and Country Planning (General Permitted Development) Order 2015 (or any 
Order revoking and re-enacting that Order) relating to permitted 
development, no structure or object of any kind shall be erected or placed 
and no trees, bushes or other plants shall be planted or be permitted to 
grow within the visibility splays which exceed 1 metre in height and 
obstruct the visibility splays. The visibility splays shall be constructed 
before general development of the site commences so that construction 
traffic is safeguarded. 

 Reason: To ensure a satisfactory means of access for the development during 
the construction and operational use of the site, in compliance with the National 
Planning Policy Framework and Policy S2 of the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1), 
Adopted July 2014. 

 

8. No dwellings shall be occupied until the estate road including footways 
and cycleways to serve such dwellings has been constructed in all 
respects to base course level and street lighting where it is to form part of 
the estate road has been provided and brought into full operational use. 

 Reason: In the interests of highway safety. 
  
9. No dwelling shall be occupied until its access and parking arrangements 

(in accordance with the County Councils parking guidelines) have been 
constructed. Any such access and or parking provision shall be retained 
and be capable of use when the development is completed and shall not 
be removed or altered without the prior consent of the Local Planning 
Authority. 

Page 40



 Reason: To ensure that proper access and parking provision is made and 
retained for use in relation to the development. 

 
10. No development shall commence until full details of the surface water 

system demonstrating that no flooding will occur on any part of the site 
for a 1 in 30 year event unless designed to do so, flooding will not occur 
to any building in a 1 in 100 year event plus 40% to account for climate 
change, and where reasonably possible flows resulting from rainfall in 
excess of a 1 in 100 year 6 hour rainfall event are managed in conveyance 
routes (plans of flow routes etc.) have been agreed in writing with the 
Local Planning Authority. 

 Reason: To manage flood risk within the development that results from surface 
water to minimise the risk to people and property, in compliance with the 
National Planning Policy Framework and Policies S2 and S29 of the Allerdale 
Local Plan (Part 1), Adopted July 2014. 

 
11. The drainage for the development hereby approved, shall be carried out in 

accordance with principles set out in the submitted Flood Risk 
Assessment & Outline Drainage Strategy (Ref No. K32867/01/ODS/RH, 
Issue 03, Dated 11 April 2016) which was prepared by R. G. Parkins & 
Partners LTD proposing surface water discharging into watercourse. No 
surface water will be permitted to drain directly or indirectly into the 
public sewer. Any variation to the discharge of foul shall be agreed in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority prior to the commencement of the 
development. Prior to the occupation of any dwelling the drainage 
scheme shall be completed in accordance with the approved details. 

 Reason: To ensure a satisfactory form of development and to prevent undue 
increase in surface run-off and to reduce the risk of flooding from the 
development, in compliance with the National Planning Policy Framework and 
Policies S29 and S2 of the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1), Adopted July 2014. 

 
12. Prior to any works being constructed above ground floor level a 

sustainable drainage management and maintenance plan for the lifetime 
of the development shall be submitted to the Local Planning Authority 
and agreed in writing. The sustainable drainage management and 
maintenance plan shall include as a minimum: 

 a) The arrangements for adoption by an appropriate public body or 
statutory undertaker, or management and maintenance by a Resident's 
Management Company; and 

 b) Arrangements concerning appropriate funding mechanisms for its 
ongoing maintenance of all elements of the sustainable drainage system 
(including mechanical components) and will include elements such as 
ongoing inspections relating to performance and asset condition 
assessments, operations costs, regular maintenance, remedial works and 
irregular maintenance caused by less sustainable limited life assets or 
any other arrangements to secure the operation of the surface water 
drainage scheme throughout its lifetime. 

 The development shall subsequently be completed, maintained and 
managed in accordance with the approved plan. 

Page 41



 Reason: To manage flooding and pollution and to ensure that a managing body 
is in place for sustainable drainage system and there is funding and 
maintenance mechanism for the lifetime of the development. 

 
13. No development shall take place until a Construction Method Statement 

and Construction Traffic Management Plan has been submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The statement shall 
include the following:  

 (a) Traffic Management Plan to include all traffic associated with the 
development, including site and staff traffic, off-site parking, turning, 
formation of the construction compound and access tracks and any area 
of hardstanding;  

 (b) Details of the construction vehicle routing and the scheduling and 
timing of movements avoiding school opening and closing times and 
temporary warning signs;  

 (c) The sheeting of all HGVs taking spoil to/from the site to prevent 
spillage or deposit of any materials on the highway; 

 (d) Post-construction restoration/reinstatement of the working areas; 
 (e) Access gates will be hung to open away from the public highway no 

less than 10m from the carriageway edge and shall incorporate visibility 
displays; 

 (f) Procedure to monitor and mitigate noise and vibration from the 
construction and demolition and to monitor any properties at risk of 
damage from vibration, as well as taking into account noise from 
vehicles, deliveries. All measurements should make reference to BS7445.  

 (g) Mitigation measures to reduce adverse impacts on residential 
properties from construction compounds including visual impact, noise, 
and light pollution;  

 (h) A written procedure for dealing with complaints regarding the 
construction or demolition;  

 (i) Measures to control the emissions of dust and dirt during construction 
and demolition (including any wheel washing facilities and cleaning of the 
site entrances and the adjacent public highway);  

 (j) Programme of work for Demolition and Construction phase;  
 (k) Hours of working and deliveries;  
 (l) Details of lighting to be used on site.  
 (m) Highway signage / Haulage routes. The approved statement shall be 

adhered to throughout the duration of the development. 
 Reason:  In the interests of safeguarding the amenity of the occupiers of 

neighbouring properties during the construction works of the development 
hereby approved, in compliance with the National Planning Policy Framework 
and Policy S32 of the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1), Adopted July 2014 and in 
the interests of highway safety. 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 42



14. Further to the Phase 1 Geo Environmental Site Assessment ref 10-963-r1 
all necessary Phase 2 site investigation works within the site boundary 
must be carried out to establish the degree and nature of the 
contamination and its potential to pollute the environment or cause harm 
to human health. The scope of works for the site investigations should be 
agreed with the Local Planning Authority prior to their commencement. 

 Reason: To minimise any risk during or post construction works arising from 
any possible contamination from the development to the local environment, in 
compliance with the National Planning Policy Framework and Policy S30 of the 
Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1), Adopted July 2014. 

 
15. Should land affected by contamination be identified under the desk top 

study under condition 14 be found which poses unacceptable risks to 
human health, controlled waters or the wider environment, no 
development shall take place until a detailed remediation scheme has 
been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. The scheme must include an appraisal of remediation options, 
identification of the preferred option(s), the proposed remediation 
objectives and remediation criteria, and a description and programme of 
the works to be undertaken including the verification plan. 

 Reason: To minimise any risk during or post construction works arising from 
any possible contamination from the development to the local environment, in 
compliance with the National Planning Policy Framework and Policy S30 of the 
Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1), Adopted July 2014. 

 
16. Should a contamination remediation scheme be required under condition 

15, the approved strategy shall be implemented and a verification report 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority, 
prior to the development (or relevant phase of development) being 
brought into use. 

 Reason: To minimise any risk during or post construction works arising from 
any possible contamination from the development to the local environment, in 
compliance with the National Planning Policy Framework and Policy S30 of the 
Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1), Adopted July 2014. 

 
17. In the event that contamination is found at any time when carrying out the 

approved development that was not previously identified it must be 
reported immediately to the Local Planning Authority. Development on the 
part of the site affected must be halted and a risk assessment carried out 
and submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
Where unacceptable risks are found remediation and verification 
schemes shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. These shall be implemented prior to the development 
(or relevant phase of development) being brought into use. All works shall 
be undertaken in accordance with current UK guidance, particularly 
CLR11. 

 Reason: To minimise any risk arising from any possible contamination from the 
development to the local environment in compliance with the National Planning 
Policy Framework and Policy S30 of the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1), Adopted 
July 2014. 

Page 43



 
 

18. The works shall be implemented solely in accordance with the 
mitigation/recommendations outlined in Section 6 of the Ecological 
Appraisal dated 25 January 2016 and the further ecological appraisal 
received 2 August 2016. 

 Reason:  To safeguard the habitat of bats in compliance with the National 
Planning Policy Framework, Policy S35 of the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1), 
Adopted July 2014 and Policy E34 of the Cumbria and Lake District Joint 
Structure Plan, 2001-2016 (Saved). 

 
 
 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 44



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Page 45



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 46



Allerdale Borough Council  
 

Planning Application RMA/2019/0015 
 
Proposed  
Development: 

Reserved matters application following outline permission on 
2/2016/0249 for residential development and associated 
infrastructure 

Location: Land At, Lowmoor Road, Wigton 

Applicant: Mr David Wright 
Gleesons 

Recommendation: 
 

That subject to verification of the visibility splay for Plot 1 the 
detailed reserved matters be approved, subject to conditions and 
the signing of a deed of variation to the original legal agreement to 
secure the amended affordable housing provision, (along with the 
originally secured provision for offsite commuted sum for 
upgrading of Phoenix Park and a sum of £4500 to cover a traffic 
regulation order to extend the 30mph speed limit zone). 
 
Should the legal agreement not be satisfactorily completed in a 
timely manner, then it is requested that the powers to refuse the 
proposal be delegated to the Chief Officer - Place and Governance 
or Planning and Building Control Manager, on the basis that those 
measures necessary to make the development acceptable in 
policy terms have not been secured through the necessary legal 
agreement.  

 

UPDATE 

Members will recall that this item (and the following item), were considered at the 
previous Development Panel on the 23rd November 2021. Both items were deferred 
from that meeting following concerns that were expressed with the loss of a mini-
roundabout as the junction arrangement with Lowmoor Road, as the mini-roundabout 
was considered a means of slowing traffic speeds. 

Subsequently, the applicant has provided a Stage 1 and 2 Road Safety Audit and 
Designers Response and this information has been provided to the Highways Authority 
for comment.   The purpose of a Road Safety Audit is to identify any safety issues 
arising from a particular scheme and the Designers Response will set out how these are 
to be addressed. The following points are noted from the report: 

1. Problem – New access points with dropped kerbs and flush crossings proposed, 
but no corresponding flush crossing to opposite side of Lowmoor Road for 
pedestrians. 

Response – Will provide flush crossings for pedestrians and non-motorised 
users on both sides of Lowmoor Road. This will be carried out under the s278 
Agreement with the County Council as the Highways Authority.  

Page 47

Agenda Item 6



2. Problem - Plots 5 and 6 appear to have limited turning space within the 
driveways and the possibility exists of vehicles having to reverse out of drives 
onto Lowmoor Road, leading to potential conflicts and accidents. In addition to 
this, parking of cars on the drives will lessen the visibility for vehicles leaving the 
main junction, to the left and right of it. The visibility from the shared drive at Plot 
1 is also very poor to the left, as Lowmoor Road bends to the left shortly beyond 
it and there is an existing building which will compromise the visibility splay. 

Response - A review of driveway positions will be undertaken and they will be 
adjusted accordingly. 

3. Problem – Risk of falling into SUDS pond from footpath. 

Response - A suitable fencing solution has been proposed (already included on 
the submitted plans). 

4. Problem – Position of speed limit signage. The existing speed restriction should 
be moved to the east and made more visible to drivers, possibly with red texture 
and markings on the road.  

5. Response – It is agreed that the speed limit signage should be re-positioned and 
this has already been secured by a payment within the s106 agreement 
(attached to the outline approval).  

The response from the Highways Authority is summarised as follows: 

Note the safety audit response form the designer and find this acceptable. It 
seeks to rectify all elements picked up in the RSA. With regards to the traffic 
calming issue, active frontages are an effective means of traffic calming. This 
development will create this. Low Moor Road currently has no visual clues to 
drivers to slow down. It was envisaged that in response to the outline application 
that the roundabout would provide this clue, and force drivers to slow down. 
Subject to verification on the access/visibility requirement details for Plot 1 to 
ensure compliance with the outline conditions, the revised layout, with multiple 
accesses directly onto the road, will hopefully achieve a similar purpose.  
 
From a Local Highway Authority point of view, speeds are high. This could be 
enforced by the police. From a design point of view however this is well within 
our tolerance for access designs. The 60m splay required assumes a 37mph 
85%ile speed. 
 
Numerous potential additional traffic calming measures have been discussed, 
e.g. (raised table at the main access onto Low Moor Road, carriageway 
narrowing, vehicle activated speed sign, chicane) but considering the above, this 
cannot be attributed to this applicant if the CIL tests are applied.  

 
As such, having undertaken a Road Safety Audit and Review, none of the issues raised 
have related to the provision of a T junction arrangement in lieu of a roundabout at the 
entrance to the site. The Highways Authority remain satisfied that the replacement of a 
roundabout with a T junction would not give rise to severe highway impacts, which is the 
planning test. The Highways Authority go on to discuss traffic speeds and are satisfied 

Page 48



that the provision of housing facing onto Lowmoor Road with multiple accesses, will in 
itself be an indicator that cars should slow down. Further traffic calming measures are 
not considered reasonably necessary to make the development acceptable and cannot 
therefore be pursued at a cost to the applicant as they would not meet the legal test 
under the Community Infrastructure Levy Regulations.  

Further, the Highways Authority appear satisfied that those issues flagged by the Road 
Safety Audit can be satisfactorily addressed.  

To conclude on this matter, subject to the verification of the access visibility 
requirements for Plot 1, it remains the advice of the Highways Authority and Officers 
that the highway safety implications of the proposal are acceptable, subject to the 
recommended conditions and s106 agreement. There is no evidence available to 
support a refusal on this matter.    

Other issues raised at the last meeting included the loss of the frontage hedgerow and 
the potential loss of an historic stone wall to the eastern boundary. The loss of the 
hedgerow has been considered in detail as part of the reserved matters application at 
section 16 onwards. The hedgerow to be lost measures 125m and replacement 
hedgerow is proposed totalling 340m. This is considered to be adequate compensation. 
The submitted plans confirm that the stone wall is to be retained as part of the site 
boundary, with a small section potentially lowered in height if required for visibility. The 
stone wall is highlighted in the Archaeological Evaluation undertaken for the site and no 
concerns have been raised by the County Archaeologist. Therefore this limited 
reduction to this wall is considered to be acceptable.  

The recommendation remains as originally drafted. 

 

1.0 Summary 

Issue Conclusion 

Principle The principle of the development has already been agreed when 
outline planning permission 2/2016/0249 was granted for 
residential development of the site.    

Access The proposal includes a T-junction access off Lowmoor Road for 
properties internal to the site, along with a number of single and 
shared driveways serving those plots along the site frontage.  
 
The proposal does not include the provision of a mini-roundabout 
as conditioned on the outline approval. This change in design to 
the main access has not attracted any objections from the 
Highways Authority.  
 
A separate application has been made and is being considered 
concurrently to vary condition 6 – to remove reference to a mini-
roundabout.  

Page 49



Layout, Scale, 
Appearance and 
Landscaping 

The detailed design of the scheme is considered to be acceptable 
following the negotiation of amended plans.  

Residential 
Amenity 

The proposal is considered to achieve an acceptable layout in 
relation to existing residential properties. The scheme will result in 
a significant change in outlook for existing residents to the north 
and the east of the site, from an open field to a housing estate. 
However, the separation distances are considered to be 
appropriate and the development would not have a significantly 
adverse impact in terms of outlook, oppressiveness.  

Biodiversity Whilst this issue has largely been considered at the outline stage, 
the reserved matters proposal does confirm the loss of a length of 
frontage hedgerow. Compensatory hedgerow to the eastern and 
southern boundaries is proposed and is considered adequate.  

Amenity 
Greenspace/ 
Children’s Play 
Space 

The housing development is considered to provide an acceptable 
balance of built development and open space. The decision was 
taken at the outline stage to secure a commuted sum for the 
upgrade of offsite play provision, as opposed to provision on site.  

Affordable 
Housing Provision 

The reserved matters scheme provides for 10% affordable housing 
for discounted sale. This is less than the policy complaint amount 
of 20% secured by legal agreement at the outline stage.  
 
A Viability Report has been provided to justify this shortfall and this 
has been peer reviewed by chartered surveyors on behalf of the 
Council. Following the provision of further information, the peer 
review concludes that the site’s viability does justify a lower 
affordable housing provision.   

 

 

2.0 Proposal 
 
2.1 The proposal seeks planning permission for the erection of 57 dwellings (this is a 

revision from the originally submitted scheme which proposed 62 dwellings).  
 
2.2 The proposal includes housing fronting and being accessed directly from 

Lowmoor Road as well as additional housing at the rear served by a single  
access from Lowmoor Road, utilising a standard T junction located approximately 
halfway along the site frontage and opposite 39 Lowmoor Road. On entering the 
site, this access road would approach an area of open space and SUDS pond, 
where it would spur off to the east and west, providing access to further housing.   

 
2.3 The proposed housing consists of: 
  

9 x 2 bed semi-detached houses 
21 x 3 bed semi-detached houses  
20 x 3 bed detached houses 
7 x 4 bed detached houses 

Page 50



 
6 houses are proposed as affordable dwellings for discounted sale, 4 x 2 bed 
houses and 2 x 3 bed houses, equating to 10%.  

 
2.3 Given the sloping nature of the site, the proposal would include some earthworks 

and regrading of levels.  
 
2.5 The site area is approximately 2 hectare and the density of the development is 

28.5 dwellings per hectare.  
 
2.6 Two areas of open space are proposed within the site; one open space located 

centrally and in part containing a sustainable drainage pond and a further area to 
the south east of the site containing a further, larger pond.  

 
2.7 Materials proposed are predominantly brick, with some render.  
 
2.8 The housing has a combination of at least two or three in curtilage parking 

spaces, with the majority of plots having single garages in addition. Parking is 
provided through either frontage driveways, or driveways to the side.  

 
2.9 The submitted drainage details indicate that surface water would connect to an 

existing ditch at the south east corner of the site at an attenuated rate of 6.9l/s. 
For foul drainage a pumping station is proposed to the south east corner of the 
site with riser main, connecting back up to Lowmoor Road.  

 
2.10 A further planning application has been made under s73 of the Town and 

Country Planning Act to vary condition 6 of the outline consent 2/2016/0249. The 
variation to condition 6 seeks to remove reference to a mini-roundabout serving 
the development on Lowmoor Road, on the basis that the access proposed is 
now a T-junction that does not align with the existing entrance to Scholars Green 
on the opposite side of the road. It is acceptable to seek a variation to this 
condition on the basis that the matter of access was reserved for approval, 
access arrangements were not formally approved at the outline stage. It is 
appropriate to consider the two applications together as the subject matters are 
inter-related (access and layout of the site) and the acceptability of one 
application has implications for the other.  

 
2.11 Should Members be minded to approve the s73 application seeking removal of 

the mini-roundabout, this would trigger a revised description for this reserved 
matters application as follows: 

 
‘Reserved matters application following outline permission 2/2016/0249 as varied 
by permission VAR/2020/0009, for residential development and associated 
infrastructure’.  
 
This amendment has been agreed by the applicant’s agent.  

 
 
 
 

Page 51



3.0 Amendments 
 
3.1 Amended plans and additional supporting information has been provided during 

the consideration of the application, relating to the following areas: 
 

 Affordable housing provision, including Viability Appraisal 

 Highway layout alterations and additional surface water drainage 
information 

 Alterations to the layout and orientation of plots to improve the entrance to 
the development, provide a focus to the development and improve the 
street scene and quality of the public realm, including landscaping/tree 
planting. 

 Relocation of public open space away from Lowmoor Road.  

 Provision of a footpath link to the western edge of the site that would align 
with PRoW 259007 on the opposite side of the road, so that residents at 
the south western extent of the site have a more direct route to this public 
right of way that connects to the town. Consideration has been given to 
house orientation and plot boundaries to ensure limited lengths of fencing 
to this footpath.  

 Replacement hedgerow and soft landscaping to the eastern and southern 
boundary adjoining open fields. 

 Alterations to the appearance of the houses to better reflect the character 
of the area.  

 Additional information for earthworks and boundary treatment.  
 

 
4.0 Site 
 
4.1 The application site is located along Lowmoor Road, Wigton, to the south east of 

Wigton town centre. This greenfield site is comprised of grazing pasture with a 
hedgerow forming part of the frontage with Lowmoor Road.  The site lies to the 
south of the B5305 Lowmoor Road, with Lowmoor Road forming its northern 
frontage and fields forming its boundary to the south and east and residential 
properties forming its western edge. The proposal site is bounded by hedgerow 
and rails to the north boundary, with a partial sandstone wall to the east and the 
other boundaries by railings/fencing. To the north and directly off Lowmoor Road 
is the residential development of Scholars Green. The site generally falls from 
the north to the south, approx. 10.58AOD at the north boundary and 6.24AOD at 
the south eastern boundary. The land to the rear falls away slightly further before 
then rising to the housing estate to the south (Highmoor Gardens).  

 
 
5.0 Relevant Planning History 
 
5.1 2/2016/0249 – Outline planning permission for residential development and 

associated infrastructure, all matters reserved. Granted subject to conditions and 
a legal agreement that secured the following: 

  

 20% of the total units to be affordable units, 75% of which are to be let at 
an affordable rent, 25% for discounted sale (80% of the open market 

Page 52



value). The s106 stipulates that these will be formed as two and three bed 
properties.  

 An off-site Play Area Contribution to improve existing play facilities at 
Phoenix Park (No. of dwellings x 1.39) x £140 

 A sum of £4500 to cover a traffic regulation order to extend the 30mph 
speed limit zone. 

 

5.2 VAR/2020/0009 - Variation of Condition 6 of application 2/2016/0249 to remove 
the reference to the mini roundabout, pending.  

 

6.0 Representations 
 

Wigton Town Council 
 
6.1 Response received 9th January 2020: 

 Landscaping – there appears to be no play area or facilities for children 

 Landscaping  –  concerns  about  the  loss  of  habitat  due  to  the  
removal  of  the hedgerow at the front.  

 Scale – 24% increase in the number of properties over outline plans is 
unacceptable  

 Scale – Has the pond increased in size due to the number of properties  

 Layout – It is unclear if the car parking standards have been met – can 
you please confirm?  

 Access  –  Outline  planning  showed  a  roundabout  on  Lowmoor  Road  
which  is  our Councils preferred option.  

           Councillors  also  consider  that  improvements  to  the  pavements  on  Lowmoor  
Road should be part of your assessment, and  request  that  this be looked into 
with a view  to the  Developer making a contribution. 

 
Cumbria County Council Highways Authority/Local Lead Flood Authority 

 
6.2 Response dated 15th January 2020 – Detailed comments provided on internal 

layout requiring some amendment. Further information sought on location of 
SUDS pond to south east corner of the site.  

 
Response dated 12th August 2021 – Confirm that the highway layout is 
acceptable. Request details of internal and external pedestrian crossings. Further 
information/clarification sought in relation to the surface water drainage details for 
the site.   
 
Response received 21st October 2021 – Notes provision of additional surface 
water drainage information. Requires further minor amendments to the drainage 
but accepts that these amendments can be secured through the discharge of the 
surface water drainage condition on the basis that the small changes would not 
result in amendment to the layout as proposed.  

 
 
 
 
 

Page 53



County Archaeologist 
 
6.5 No objection. Submitted Archaeological Evaluation is acceptable and scheme 

unlikely to impact on any archaeologically significant remains. Condition 18 of 
original outline permission complied with.  

 
Cumbria County Council Minerals  

 
No objection, exempt as a reserved matters application.  

 
 

Access Officer 
 
6.14 In respect of access into dwellings for disabled people this must at least meet the 

requirements of 2015 edition Approved Document M volume 1 section M4 (1) 
visitable dwellings for each dwelling.  

 
ABC Housing Services 

 
6.15 Response December 2019 – Sets out need as identified by Housing Study 2016 

and Choice based Lettings Data. None of the schemes referred to by the 
applicant offer housing at a price less than market value and therefore do not 
meet definition of affordable.  

 
Response February 2021 – identifies greatest need from the 2016 Housing Study 
as four beds, then one beds, including for older people. Choice Based Lettings 
data suggests two bedroom properties for affordable rent are in greatest 
demand. Housing Services would therefore support two bedroom units on the 
site that would meet association and landlord standards. Queries whether 201 
house types and 301 house types are of a suitable space standard.  

   
 Response 10th August 2021 – note the latest offer of 10% affordable units for 

discounted sale, mix of two and three beds. Subject to the acceptance of the 
viability appraisal, then a s106 agreement will be required to secure the sale at 
75% of market value, with the Council as the certifying body. Space standards 
should be reflective of those accepted in the social rented sector – suitable for a 
minimum of three people.   

 
Environmental Health 

 
6.21 No objection, require certain risks from gas migration to be further assessed – 

addressed by condition, and require a Construction Management Plan, also 
addressed by condition. A further condition is requested relating to noise 
insulation between the housing.  

 
Cumbria Constabulary 

 
6.22 No comments received.  
 
 

Page 54



Fire Service 
 
6.23 No comments received.  
 

United Utilities 
 
6.25 No comments received to this reserved matters application. (The response to the 

Outline application raised no objection subject to conditions for foul and surface 
water drainage details.    

 
 Cumbria Wildlife Trust 
  
6.27 No comments received.  
 
6.28 The application was originally advertised by press advert, site notice and 

neighbour letter. Further re-consultation has been undertaken for amended 
plans. 

 
6.29 15 letters of objection have been received to date following the original 

advertisement of the application and re-consultation, raising objection to the 
proposal.  The representations are summarised as follows: 

    
1. Housing development in Wigton is already destroying natural environment, 

habitat and flood defences, unnecessary destruction in the face of climate 
change.  

2. Location of site entrance is dangerous for those opposite and 
inconsiderate to housing opposite. Sightlines already restricted by hedges 
to 39 Lowmoor road.  

3. Loss of frontage hedgerow as a distinguished feature.  
4. Increased traffic. Already a high level of traffic from the school, cricket and 

rugby club, a number of businesses. Rat run, dangerous for pedestrians 
and cyclists.  

5. Development will harm the learning environment of the school.  
6. Loss of greenbelt land. 
7. Further strain on services, when facilities are closing down in the town. 
8. Land is a soakaway for significant rainfall, predict difficulties for future 

residents. Lack of detailed Flood Risk Assessment. Standing water on the 
land and road.  

9. Did the original developer Story Homes, pull out because of an inability to 
manage water retention on the site? 

10. The B5305 is too narrow for the amount of traffic it has to convey.  
11. Frequent accidents on the junction with the A595. 
12. Footpaths are narrow and unsuitable.  
13. Achievable sightlines onto B5305 will be dangerous.  
14. Irresponsible if the development impedes ambulance routes to Carlisle 

Infirmary.  
15. Works traffic should not have preference over current traffic.  
16. Concerns relating to private property and amenity during construction. 
17. Exclusion of houses for older people and first time buyers.  
18. Increase in carbon emissions affecting school children.  

Page 55



19. Mini roundabout would result in less danger and disruption.  
20. Queries connection for foul drainage and whether United Utilities has been 

consulted.  
21. Is a footpath proposed? 
22. Geoenvironmental Appraisal carried out at the wrong time. Hedgerow 

should be retained to soften appearance of development.  
23. What evidence to back up need for this type of housing? No provision for 

older people or social/affordable housing.  
24. No provision for POS or play area.  
25. Wigton has been saturated with new houses.  
26. Will see the number of new houses for the Plan area exceeded.  
27. Junction of B5305 and B5304 becomes heavily congested.  
28. Lack of additional parking and inadequate garages.  
29. Harm to character of Wigton, mix of town and country.  
30. Concern that not all can rely on the internet to access plans and 

information.  
31. Not acceptable that the number and details of the scheme, including unit 

numbers and access point has changed from the outline approval.  
32. Natural beauty of the field and ecology, including deer and bats.  
33. The Barn already suffers from flooding from the field opposite Scholars 

Green; the building works and subsequent reduction of natural drainage 
from the field by creating a large extent of hard surfaces is likely to 
increase the problems with water running across the driveway and 
flooding the garage.  The most recent occurrence of this flooding 
happened in December 2019. 

34. The windows on the west facing gable end of the properties will overlook 
The Barn and will give occupants a view directly into the living area in the 
Barn as the living/dining room & bedroom is on the first floor, not the 
ground floor. 

35. Clarification sought that the footpath will not be a security or safety risk to 
occupiers of The Barn.  

36. Open aspect currently enjoyed by The Barn, will be lost.  
37. Driveways onto Lowmoor Road do not appear to accommodate more than 

one car. Any additional parking on Lowmoor Road would block two way 
traffic.  

38. Currently no primary school places at the two closest primary schools and 
the other is a car journey away.  

 
 
7.0 Environmental Impact Assessment 

7.1 With regards to The Town and Country Planning (Environmental Impact 
Assessment) Regulations 2017 the development does not fall within Schedule 1 
nor 2 and, as such, is not EIA development. 

 
 
8.0 Duties 
 
8.1 Regulation 9 of the Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017 

requires all public bodies to have regard to the requirements of the Habitats 

Page 56



Directive in the exercise of their functions, particularly when determining a 
planning application for a development which may have an impact on European 
Protected Species ("EPS"), such as bats, great crested newts or otters. 

 

 

9.0 Development Plan Policies 
 
 

Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1) 
 
9.1 The following policies are considered to apply:- 
 

Policy S1 - Presumption in favour of sustainable development 
Policy S2 – Sustainable Development Principles 
Policy S3 - Spatial Strategy and Growth 
Policy S4 - Design principles 
Policy S5 – Development Principles 
Policy S6 – Area Based 
Policy S7 - A mixed and balanced housing market 
Policy S21 – Developer contributions 
Policy S22 - Transport principles 
Policy S24 – Green Infrastructure 
Policy S25 – Sports, Leisure and Open Space 
Policy S29 - Flood Risk and Surface Water Drainage 
Policy S30 – Reuse of Land 
Policy S32 - Safeguarding amenity 
Policy S33 - Landscape 
Policy S35 – Protecting and Enhancing Biodiversity and Geodiversity 
Policy S36 – Air, Water and Soil Quality 
Policy DM12 – Sustainable Construction 
Policy DM14 - Standards of Good Design 
Policy DM16 – Sequential Test for Previously Developed Land 
Policy DM17 – Trees, Hedgerow and Woodland 
 
https://www.allerdale.gov.uk/en/planning-building-control/planning-policy/local-
plan-part-1/ 

 

Allerdale Local Plan (Part 2) 
 

9.2 The site falls within the defined settlement limit for Wigton. The site is an 
identified housing commitment.   

 
 Policy SA1 Identified Sites  
Policy SA2 Settlement Boundaries 
Policy SA3 Affordable Housing 
Policy SA5 Housing Standards 
Policy SA6 Housing Delivery 
Policy SA33 – Broadband 

  
 https://www.allerdale.gov.uk/en/siteallocations/ 

Page 57

https://www.allerdale.gov.uk/en/planning-building-control/planning-policy/local-plan-part-1/
https://www.allerdale.gov.uk/en/planning-building-control/planning-policy/local-plan-part-1/
https://www.allerdale.gov.uk/en/siteallocations/


 

10.0 Other material considerations 
 
 National Planning Policy Framework (July 2021)  
 

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/national-planning-policy-framework--
2 

 
Allerdale Council Strategy 2020 – 2030 
 

 Ensure there are suitable, affordable, decent homes for all. 
 
 The details of this document can be viewed here: 
 

https://www.allerdale.gov.uk/en/about-council/council-strategy-2020-2030/ 
 
11.0 Policy weighting 
 
11.1 Notwithstanding any duties identified above, Section 38(6) of the Planning and 

Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires that, if regard is to be had to the 
development plan for the purpose of any determination to be made under the 
planning Acts, the determination must be made in accordance with the plan 
unless material considerations indicate otherwise. This means that the Allerdale 
Local Plan Allerdale Borough Local Plan (Part 1) 2014 and Part 2 (2020) have 
primacy. 

 
12.0 Assessment  
 
 
12.1 The principle of housing at this location has been accepted at the outline stage, 

through the approval of application 2/2016/0249. It is not therefore necessary or 
appropriate to re-visit matters that relate to the principle of residential 
development of this site. As an application for approval of reserved matters only, 
these reserved matters are now for consideration – Access, layout, scale, 
appearance and landscaping:  

 
12.2 Access 
 
12.3 Policy S22 of the Allerdale Local Plan Part 1 contains a number of criteria for new 

development, including that new development should, improve accessibility, be 
accessed safely and not compromise the safety of any transport route, 
encourage attractive and well-connected street networks, make provision for 
pedestrians and cyclists to be given the highest priority within new development, 
and be required to provide adequate levels of car parking, cycle facilities, and 
where appropriate incorporate charging points for electric and hybrid vehicles.  

 
12.4 The NPPF at paragraph 104, advices that patterns of movement, streets, parking 

and other transport considerations are integral to the design of schemes, and 
contribute to making high quality places. Paragraph 110 of the NPPF advises 
that new development should ensure safe and suitable access to the site for all 
users, that the design of streets should reflect current national guidance, 

Page 58

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/national-planning-policy-framework--2
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/national-planning-policy-framework--2
https://www.allerdale.gov.uk/en/about-council/council-strategy-2020-2030/


including the National Design Guide and the National Model Design Code. 
Further, the NPPF requires that any significant impacts from a development on 
the transport network (in terms of capacity and congestion), or on highway safety, 
should be mitigated to an acceptable degree. Paragraph 111 advises that 
development should only be prevented or refused on highways grounds if there 
would be an unacceptable impact on highway safety, or the residual cumulative 
impacts on the road network would be severe. 

 
12.5 Access is specified as a reserved matter on the decision notice relating to outline 

approval 2/2016/0249. However, although the approval of such detail was 
reserved at the outline stage, it is noted that the outline decision notice secured 
by condition, the provision of a mini roundabout at the access from Lowmoor 
Road (Condition 6).  

 
12.6 In pre-application discussions with the applicant relating to the access and layout 

of the site for the reserved matters application, it was noted that the outline 
application included with it, indicative plans which initially showed a central 
access point with T-junction, then amended to an easterly access point with 
roundabout. The consultation responses from the Highways Authority at that 
outline stage, raised no specific objection to either arrangement.   

 
12.7 Following discussions with the applicant at the pre-application and application 

stage, a central access with T-junction has been pursued, for two reasons, (1) 
This option had not attracted any objection from the Highways Authority at (2) A 
central access to the site, with dwellings either side of that access facing onto 
Lowmoor Road and with an internal tree lined road then leading to a central area 
of open space with housing facing onto that open space, is considered to provide 
a more focused and attractive entrance to the development and better standard 
of layout and design overall, than could be achieved from a more easterly access 
junction, with mini-roundabout.  It is considered that a mini-roundabout would 
have prioritised the design of the entrance for private car users, over and above 
the form and design of the development overall, and above the access and 
movement of pedestrians into and through the site.   

 
12.8 The proposed central access lies opposite 39 Lowmoor Road, approx. 60m from 

the existing junction into Scholars Green (measured from the centre line of the 
existing and proposed junctions). This separation distance between the existing 
and proposed junctions is similar to previously accepted arrangements for other 
housing schemes such as the Story’s development at High Harrington, off Main 
Road (the A597).  

 
12.9 The Highways Authority has not raised any objection to the access and layout 

details now shown for a T-junction arrangement, located centrally to the site 
frontage along Lowmoor Road as part of this detailed application.  Whilst the 
safety concerns of the Town Council and members of the public are noted 
relating to the loss of the mini-roundabout, the Highways Authority have not 
raised any safety concerns themselves. The NPPF clearly sets out that 
development should only be refused on highway grounds if there would be an 
unacceptable impact on highway safety and given the advice of the Highways 
Authority, this is not considered to be the case here. As the access as proposed 

Page 59



is considered to provide a better entrance to the site and internal layout in  
design and layout terms, and no safety concerns have been raised by the 
Highways Authority, nor evidence from objectors, then the access to the site as 
shown on the detailed plans is considered to be acceptable in officer’s opinion.  

 
12.10 Members will note that an application to vary condition 6 of the outline planning 

permission to remove the reference to the mini-roundabout is also for 
consideration.   

 
13.1 Layout 
 
13.2 The amended layout of the scheme is considered to be generally acceptable. 

Housing along the frontage of the site presents positively onto Lowmoor Road, 
with a combination of shared private driveways and individual private driveways. 
Plots 7 and 49 sit either side of the junction, facing the main road also. The 
internal road will include eight trees for its initial length and will lead to an area of 
open space, used partly for a retention pond and housing will present onto this 
open space. There are then two spurs east and west, leading to additional 
housing. A further retention pond is located to the south east corner. A footpath is 
provided to the western boundary to allow a quicker route for pedestrians wishing 
to connect to PROW 259007 that leads into the town centre on the opposite side 
of the road, for housing in the south west corner of the site.  The landscaping 
plans indicate that this footpath will be bounded by a hedge, which lowers in 
height to the front of plot 1 and plot 17 to increase natural surveillance. Plot 1 will 
have a house type facing onto this footpath, again to improve natural 
surveillance. 

 
13.3 A number of policies of the ALPP1 and principally Policy S32 seek to protect the 

amenity of existing residents to an acceptable standard primarily by ensuring 
adequate separation distances. The proposal has the potential to impact 
principally on those residential properties to the western and northern and 
boundaries of the site.  

 
13.4 With regards to properties to the west, The Barn and Lowmoor House face 

towards the application site. Plot 1 will face west, towards The Barn, in order to 
provide some natural surveillance of the footpath proposed to this boundary. This 
will achieve a 21m separation distance with the existing dwelling at The Barn. 
21m is generally accepted as an appropriate main to main separation distance. 
Plot 17 will sit further south and will not result in any direct overlooking.  It is 
accepted that the outlook from these properties will change, from an open view 
across fields, to a housing estate. The planning process is not required to protect 
a private view, but should consider the impact on outlook and prevent 
development that would be overbearing. Given the separation distances and the 
arrangement of plots on site, with intervening spaces between plots 1 and 17, it 
is not considered that the proposal would significantly impact on outlook or be 
overbearing.  

 
13.5 Separation distances with existing houses on Lowmoor Road are considered to 

be acceptable, exceeding 24m front to front separation.  
 

Page 60



13.6 Internally to the site, the proposal is considered to provide for a good standard of 
housing environment overall for future residents, providing adequate separation 
distances, external amenity space, in curtilage parking and public open space for 
future residents. Due to level changes across the site and the need to engineer 
the ground levels to accommodate the highway and level build plots, garden 
areas will have to be graded in most cases, this will be greatest adjacent to the 
southern boundary, where rear gardens are proposed to have gradients of 1 in 6. 
Whilst this will impact on the usability of these private gardens, the gradients 
would not be such that the gardens would be unusable and the plans indicate 
small level patios to each plot. As such, these graded gardens are considered to 
be acceptable. 

 
13.7 The parking layout indicates a total of 156 parking spaces, 153 in curtilage and 3 

visitor bays. CCC’s Design Guide requires a maximum of 148 spaces for the 
housing mix proposed. As such, the parking requirements of the County 
Council’s Design Guide are met and marginally exceeded.  

 
13.8 Policy S25 of the ALPP1 requires that new residential development makes 

provision for well-designed public open space, either through on site provision of 
new open space or by financial contribution to enhance or create off site 
provision of public open space. The Council has an adopted Supplementary 
Planning Document (SPD) that sets out requirements for open space provision, 
differentiating between amenity greenspace and provision for children and young 
people. For residential developments of this scale, the SPD indicates that 
provision for amenity greenspace should be on site, at a ratio of 15sqm per 
dwellings and equipped play space can be either on or off site depending on the 
proximity of existing off site facilities.  

 
13.9 For amenity greenspace, this equates to a requirement of 855m2. The proposal 

provides for approx. 1879m2 of public open space, consisting of two areas, one 
centrally and one to the south east corner of the site, both areas contain ponds 
that will form part of the surface water drainage system. The proposed SUDS 
ponds, would be fenced with low level vertical railings, and therefore not publicly 
accessible. However, the pond would still provide a biodiversity role, which the 
SPD accepts to be a function of open space, not simply for public amenity. The 
SPD requirements for amenity greenspace would therefore be exceeded. 

 
13.10 With regards to the provision for children/young people and the provision of 

equipped play, the decision was taken at the outline stage that such provision 
could be made off site, and a legal agreement secured an off-site Play Area 
Contribution to improve existing play facilities at Phoenix Park. As such, it is not 
necessary to provide equipped play space within this development.  

 
13.11 The details in respect to layout are considered to be acceptable. 
 
 
14.0 Scale 
 
14.1 Residential development of the site has been approved at the outline stage and 

therefore the principle of housing on a site of this size is accepted in relation to 

Page 61



Wigton as a Key Service Centre. The scale of the development in terms of unit 
numbers proposed has increased over and above those shown indicatively at the 
outline planning stage, from 50 to 57. No concerns are raised with this additional 
seven units indicated over and above that illustrated at the outline stage. The 
density of the development would equate to just under 30 dwellings per hectare, 
which is considered to be an appropriate density having regard to the character 
of the area, whilst also ensuring an efficient use of land. Further, the proposed 
house types are not large and so the inclusion of 57 units does not appear as 
over-development of the site. All houses are detached or semi-detached and the 
majority have parking to the side, which will create visual gaps through the 
housing, increasing the sense of space and ensuring that plots do not appear as 
one continuous block of development, dominated by frontage parking.  

 
14.2 The proposed houses are all two storey, and whilst some engineering works will 

be necessary, the development will generally reflect the natural slope of the site. 
As housing in the locality is predominantly two storey also, then the physical 
scale of the housing is considered to be acceptable.  

 
15.0 Appearance 
 
15.1 Policies S4 and DM14 of the ALPP1 seek to ensure a high quality of design in 

new development and incorporate criteria addressing a number of design issues, 
including responding positively to the character and distinctiveness of an area, 
integration, connectivity, appropriate scale, and so on. The NPPF has been 
updated in July 2021 and requires that the design of streets, parking areas, other 
transport elements reflects current national guidance, including the National 
Design Guide and the National Model Design Code. Further paragraph 126 of 
the NPPF states that, ‘The creation of high quality, beautiful and sustainable 
buildings and places is fundamental to what the planning and development 
process should achieve’. Paragraph 134 states that, ‘Development that is not 
well designed should be refused, especially where it fails to reflect local design 
policies and government guidance on design’. The NPPF now requires Councils 
to produce local design guidance, but as this requirement has only recently been 
introduced, no local design guidance is available at present. Finally, newly 
introduced paragraph 131 states, ‘Trees make an important contribution to the 
character and quality of urban environments, and can also help mitigate and 
adapt to climate change. Planning policies and decisions should ensure that new 
streets are tree-lined, that opportunities are taken to incorporate trees elsewhere 
in developments (such as parks and community orchards), that appropriate 
measures are in place to secure the long-term maintenance of newly-planted 
trees, and that existing trees are retained wherever possible’. 

 
 
15.2 Amendments have been sought from the applicant through layout (as discussed 

above) and landscaping, (as discussed below) as well as through the design of 
the individual houses, to improve how the site sits within its context and to 
provide a greater degree of distinctiveness and character to the scheme. The 
applicant is a large house builder, utilising standard house types into their 
schemes. However, amendments have been sought to the external elevations, 
fenestration, materials and boundary treatment to those plots along the site 

Page 62



frontage and along the main internal route, to reflect to a greater extent, some of 
the elements that create the character and distinctiveness of Wigton. Examples 
of these amendments include the use of a render finish to the frontage plots and 
on the first stretch of road into the site, interlinking brick walls along these same 
plots to create a sense of enclosure, the use of banding and windows with a 
more vertical emphasis, etc. The design of the dwellings as amended are 
considered to be acceptable.  

 
16.0 Landscaping 
 
16.1 A landscaping plan has been provided with the proposal. This shows 11 trees 

planted along the site frontage, within low bands of planting between driveways. 
A further 8 trees are proposed on the initial section of internal road leading to the 
central POS, with 7 trees planted to the central POS, 11 trees to the remaining 
internal roads and 8 trees to the south-eastern POS. New native hedgerow 
planting is proposed to the full length of the eastern boundary, and to much of the 
southern boundary, which is considered an appropriate buffer to the open fields 
beyond. Otherwise, the landscaping is limited to grass seed or turf and some low 
level planting within private plots. The two SUDS areas are indicated to be 
treated with grass seed, with some pockets of mixed species to the south-eastern 
pond. It is considered that both ponds should include additional mixed species 
and a condition is therefore proposed to secure this.  

 
16.2 The proposal will result in the loss of a section of hedgerow that forms part of the 

northern boundary to Lowmoor Road. This hedge is approx. 125m. It does not 
connect to other hedgerows. Removal of the hedgerow has resulted from the 
layout of the development which has individual plots facing onto Lowmoor Road 
with access points. A statement accompanies the application, confirming that the 
hedgerow does not meet any of the criteria to be considered of historical value. 
An assessment of the ecological value of the hedgerow has been undertaken by 
Penine Ecological also, which concludes that the hedgerow falls marginally short 
of the ‘important’ hedgerow qualifying criteria, albeit in respect of woodland 
ground flora, there was a seasonal constraint in relation to the survey timing. One 
additional woodland ground flora species would score as an additional 
‘associated feature’. 

 
16.3 The proposal will result in new native hedgerow planting totalling approx.340m in 

length, mainly to the southern and eastern boundaries. Whilst this will take some 
time to establish, it is considered to be appropriate compensation for the length 
of hedgerow to be lost, with the applicant’s consultant indicating that this would 
likely be a net gain in biodiversity.  

 
16.4 There are numerous small trees to the perimeter of the site, which generally 

appear to be outside of the field and are unlikely to be affected by the proposal.  
 
16.5 The landscaping for the site is considered to be acceptable, subject to the 

recommended condition to secure enhanced planting to the ponds.  
 
17.0 Housing Mix/Affordable Housing 
 

Page 63



17.1 The proposal is considered to provide an acceptable range of house sizes in 
accordance with policy S7 of the ALPP1. 

 
17.2 Policy SA3 of the ALPP2 requires that in Wigton, developments of this scale will 

be required to provide 20% affordable housing provision, with a tenure mix of 
50% social rented and 50% intermediate housing, albeit that in some cases, 
viability of housing sites can be marginal and therefore a flexible approach is 
required. Where the viability of schemes fall short of the policy requirements, the 
onus will be on the developer/ landowner to clearly demonstrate the 
circumstances justifying a lower affordable housing contribution or a different 
tenure mix. 

 
17.3 The proposal identifies 6 houses as affordable dwellings for discounted sale, 4 x 

2 bed houses and 2 x 3 bed houses, equating to 10%. The house types indicated 
as those for discounted sale are ‘201’ and ‘301’’s. It is understood that due to the 
bedroom dimensions, the 201 house type would be akin to a 2 bedroom property 
for three people, and the 301 house type would be akin to a 2 bedroom property 
for four people, as the third bedroom is very small. The affordable housing units 
are distributed through the scheme.  

 
17.4 The Council has sought a peer review of the Viability Report provided by 

Cushman and Wakefield on behalf of the applicant, to support this reduced offer. 
The peer review has been undertaken on behalf of the Council by Keppie 
Massey chartered surveyors. This process has involved a detailed assessment of 
the costs (including land value) and revenues likely to be generated by the 
development, including an appropriate developer profit, to establish the quantum 
of affordable provision that can be delivered whilst retaining a viable scheme.  

 
17.5 Following discussions and the provision of further information in this respect, 

Keppie Massey advise that the evidence provided does justify this shortfall in 
provision on viability grounds. Housing Services have been re-consulted and on 
the basis of the independent review, they confirm that they accept the reduced 
offer, subject to this being secured by s106 agreement.  On the basis of this 
advice, the 10% affordable housing provision as discounted sale is considered to 
be acceptable and would need to be secured by a revised/updated legal 
agreement as this now differs from the provision secured at the outline planning 
stage.    

 
18.0 Building Standards 
 
18.1 Policy SA5 requires that for developments of 10 units or more, 20% of the 

dwellings must be designed and constructed to meet the requirements set out in 
optional Building Requirement M4(2) (or any national equivalent standard should 
these regulations be subsequently reviewed) and all residential developments 
over 30 units must ensure that 5% of the total units (across both market and 
affordable dwellings) should be designed and constructed to meet optional 
Building Requirement M4(3) ensuring that the dwellings are wheelchair 
adaptable, unless the applicant can clearly demonstrate that: a) It is not 
practically achievable due to the physical characteristics of the site; or b) It would 
significantly harm the financial viability of the scheme.  

Page 64



 
18.2 The plans indicate that 16 units will be to M4(2) standards, which is over the 20% 

requirement. No units are proposed to meet M4(3) standards and the Viability 
Report assessed in relation to affordable housing, is considered to justify this 
policy shortfall on viability grounds. Members are advised that seeking units that 
are policy compliant in terms of M4(3) standards would mean a further reduction 
in the affordable housing offer. 

 
 
15.0 Flooding and Drainage 
 
15.1 Policy S29 of the ALPP1 directs development away from areas at risk from 

flooding, and seeks to ensure flood risk is not increased elsewhere, requiring full 
consideration of the surface water drainage hierarchy. The proposal site lies 
within Flood Zone 1, which is land at the lowest probability of flooding. However, 
there are known flooding issues downstream at Wiza Beck.  

 
15.3 Flood risk and drainage are not reserved matters and the outline planning 

application was accompanied by a Flood Risk Assessment and Outline Drainage 
Strategy.  Based on this information, it was considered that flood risk and 
drainage could be appropriately managed through conditions. Condition 10 
secured full details of a surface water drainage system and condition 11 secured 
the drainage for the development in accordance with principles set out in the 
submitted Flood Risk Assessment & Outline Drainage Strategy (Ref No. 
K32867/01/ODS/RH, Issue 03, Dated 11 April 2016) which was prepared by R. 
G. Parkins & Partners LTD proposing surface water discharging into 
watercourse. 

 
15.4  Whilst full surface water drainage details are conditioned and will be dealt with 

under a separate application, drainage plans can have implications for the layout 
and levels of a scheme, particularly where sustainable drainage ponds are 
proposed, as is the case here. As such, detailed surface water drainage 
information has been provided and further information has been sought by the 
Local Lead Flood Authority. The applicant’s drainage consultant has 
subsequently met with representatives of the LLFA and further drainage 
information has been provided. The LLFA has subsequently confirmed that 
further to some minor amendments to the drainage, which can be dealt with 
through the discharge of the condition, the details of the reserved matters 
application are acceptable. 

 
15.5 Foul drainage will connect to mains utilising a pumping station. United Utilities 

have raised no objections to the reserved matters application.  
 
16.0 Biodiversity 
 
 
16.1 Policy S35 of the ALPP1 seeks to maintain and improve conditions for 

biodiversity and the protection of sites and species according to their level of 
importance.  

 

Page 65



16.2 The ecological value of the site was considered at the outline stage, following the 
submission of various ecological reports. The assessment concluded that 
ecological interests would be suitably addressed through a condition that secured 
the mitigation measures contained within these reports (condition 19). In the 
2016 application, a possible badger sett was identified and a further badger 
survey has been commissioned to address this. The survey has not identified 
any use of the site by badgers and it is considered that this aspect of the original 
mitigation measures is satisfied. The reserved matters application includes other 
measures consistent with the original mitigation measures, such as the planting 
of native hedgerows to the southern and eastern boundaries, and the inclusion of 
sustainable drainage features (ponds) to increase the habitat available to Great 
Crested Newts. As outline above, the landscaping of the site is considered to be 
appropriate compensation for any lost habitat.  

 
16.3  As such, it is considered that biodiversity has been assessed at the outline stage 

and where relevant, the reserved matters application responds to the mitigation 
measures conditioned at the outline stage.  

  
 
17.0 Heritage/Archaeology 
 
17.1 Policy S27 of the ALPP1 seeks to protect heritage assets to a level appropriate 

to their significance. Condition 18 of the outline approval required further 
archaeological investigation and this has been conducted and the report 
accompanies this application. Whilst the Council has not been formally asked to 
discharge this condition, the County’s Historic Environment Officer has confirmed 
that the report is sufficient to discharge the requirements of the condition, with 
the results showing no archaeological interest at the site.  

 
17.2 The proposal is therefore considered to be acceptable in relation to policy S27 of 

the ALPP1.  
 
 
18.0 Local Financial Considerations 
 
18.1 Having regard to S70 (2) of the Town and Country Planning Act the proposal has 

possible financial implications in terms of the New Homes Bonus and Council 
Tax Revenue.  

 

19.0 Conclusions 

19.1 Residential development of the site has been accepted in principle with the grant 
of outline planning permission. The site lies within the settlement boundary of 
Wigton and is a housing commitment in the Allerdale Local Plan Part 2. 

 
19.2    For the reasons outlined above, the detailed plans provided to address access, 

layout, scale, appearance and landscaping are considered to be acceptable. 
Whilst it is acknowledged that the access to the site would be provided by a T-
junction arrangement and not a mini-roundabout, the Highways Authority has 
raised no objections to this on highway safety grounds, and the revision is 

Page 66



considered to provide an improved design approach to the layout of the site 
overall.   

 
19.3    The proposal is considered to be acceptable, and the recommendation is that the 

details for the reserved matters be approved, subject to the recommended 
description change as set out at section 2.11 above, the annexed conditions and 
the signing of a Deed of Variation to the original legal agreement to secure the 
revised affordable housing provision along with the originally secured provision for 
offsite commuted sum for upgrading of Phoenix Park and a sum of £4500 to cover 
a traffic regulation order to extend the 30mph speed limit zone.  

 
 
 

 

 

Page 67



Annex 1 

CONDITIONS 
 
 
In Accordance: 
  
1. The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with 

the following plans: 
   
Location Plan 
Dwg 1739-PL216(L) Site Plan as Proposed - Amended plan received 16th 
Aprl 2021 
Amended Affordable Housing Plan – Amended plan received 5th August 
2021 
Dwg GHLRW-WW-01-D Landscape Plan – Amended plan received 16th Aprl 
2021 
Dwg 1739 – PL217 rev F Parking Layout and Visibility Splays Plan as 
Proposed – Amended plan received 16th Aprl 2021 
Dwg 1739-PL219(C) Boundaries & Elevations Plan as Proposed - Amended 
plan received 16th Aprl 2021 
Bow Top Fencing specification 
DWG SD700A - Single Garage Details 
Dwg 1739-PL410(B) Site Sections as Proposed - Amended plan received 
16th Aprl 2021 
Dwg K36669-A1-109B EXTERNAL LEVELS PLAN - Amended plan received 
16th Aprl 2021 
Dwg 201 – REN House Type 201 Elevations Render Variant - Amended plan 
received 16th Aprl 2021 
Dwg 201-301-REN 201-301 Render Variant - Amended plan received 16th 
Aprl 2021 
Dwg 301 – REN House Type 301 Elevations Render Variant - Amended plan 
received 16th Aprl 2021 
Dwg 443/227 Plans and Elevations Types 201o & 301a (excluding attached 
garage) - Amended plan received 16th Aprl 2021 
Dwg 13/302 - 9  Rev E – House type 302 Elevations (Rural 13) - Amended 
plan received 16th Aprl 2021 
Dwg 302- REN - 302 Elevation Render Variant - Amended plan received 16th 
Aprl 2021 
Dwg 302/1G House Type 302 Floor Plans - - Amended plan received 16th 
Aprl 2021 
Dwg 304/1E – 304 Floor Plans - Amended plan received 16th Aprl 2021 
Dwg 13/304 – 10 Rev G House Type 304 Elevations (Rural 13) - Amended 
plan received 16th Aprl 2021 
Dwg 307/1B House Type 307 Floor Plans - Amended plan received 16th Aprl 
2021 
Dwg 443/214 House Type 307 Plans and Elevations - Amended plan 
received 16th Aprl 2021 
Dwg 13/315 - 9  Rev A – House type 315 Elevations (Rural 13) - Amended 
plan received 16th Aprl 2021 

Page 68



Dwg 315/1A House Type 315 Floor Plans- Amended plan received 16th Aprl 
2021 
13/350 – 8 Rev B House Type 350 Elevations (Rural 13) - Amended plan 
received 16th Aprl 2021 
Dwg 350 REN 350 Render Variant- Amended plan received 16th Aprl 2021 
Dwg 350/1A House Type 350 Floor Plans- Amended plan received 16th Aprl 
2021 
Dwg 13/351 - 9  Rev A – House type 351 Elevations (Rural 13) - Amended 
plan received 16th Aprl 2021 
Dwg 351/1 –351 Dwelling Type Floor Plans - Amended plan received 16th 
Aprl 2021 
Dwg 351-REN House Type 351 Render Variant – Amended Plan received 
21st October 2021 
Dwg 13/353 – 09 Rev A House Type 353 Elevations (Rural 13) - Amended 
plan received 16th Aprl 2021 
Dwg 353-REN – 353 Render Variant - received 21st October 2021 
Dwg 353 1/A House Type 353 Floor Plans - received 21st October 2021 
Dwg 13/435 – 9 Rev A Dwelling Type 435 Elevations (Rural 13) - Amended 
plan received 16th Aprl 2021 
Dwg 435-REN – 435 Elevation Render Variant - Amended plan received 16th 
Aprl 2021 
Dwg 435/1 A – 435 Floor Plans- Amended plan received 16th Aprl 2021 
Dwg 13/454 – 10 Rev B House Type 454 Elevations (Rural 13) - Amended 
plan received 16th Aprl 2021 
Dwg 454/1A House Type 454 Floor Plans - Amended plan received 16th Aprl 
2021 
Dwg 454 – REN 454 Elevation in Render Variant- Amended plan received 
16th Aprl 2021 
Dwg K36669/A1/101 G Proposed Foul and Surface Water Drainage Layout – 
Amended plan received 13th October 2021 2021  
Dwg K36669/A1/116 Proposed Exceedance Route Details – 13th October 
2021  
Dwg K36669-A3-200 S104 DEED OF GRANT PLAN - Amended plan received 
16th Aprl 2021  
Dwg K36669-A1-204 S104 FW LONGITUDINAL SECTIONS - Amended plan 
received 16th April 2021 
Dwg K36669-A1-206 S11 FLOW CONTROL DETAILS - Amended plan 
received 16th Apri 2021 
Dwg K36669-A1-205 S13 FLOW CONTROL DETAILS - Amended plan 
received 16th Aprl 2021 
Dwg K36669-A1-207 S04 FLOW CONTROL DETAILS  - Amended plan 
received 16th Aprl 2021 
Dwg K36669-A1-106A DETENTION BASIN DETAILS SHEET 1 OF 2 - 
Amended plan received 16th Aprl 2021 
Dwg K36669-A1-107C DETENTION BASIN DETAILS SHEET 2 OF 2 - 
Amended plan received 16th Aprl 2021 
Dwg K36669-A1-110B SW PIPE NETWORK & MANHOLE SCHEDULE - 
Amended plan received 16th Aprl 2021 
Dwg K36669-A1-100B CATCHMENT PLAN - Amended plan received 16th 
Aprl 2021 

Page 69



Dwg K36669-A1-108A GENERAL DRAINAGE CONSTRUCTION DETAILS - 
Amended plan received 16th Aprl 2021 
Dwg K36669-A1-121 FOUNDATION KEY PLAN AND SCHEDULE A1L 1 OF 2 
- Amended plan received 16th Aprl 2021 
Dwg K36669-A1-122 FOUNDATION KEY PLAN AND SCHEDULE A1L 2 OF 2 
- Amended plan received 16th Aprl 2021  
Dwg K36669-A1-202 S104 SW LONGITUDINAL SECTIONS 1 OF 2 - 
Amended plan received 16th Aprl 2021 
Dwg K36669-A1-203 S104 SW LONGITUDINAL SECTIONS 2 OF 2 Amended 
plan received 16th Aprl 2021 
Dwg K36669-A1-111B FW PIPE NETWORK & MANHOLE SCHEDULE - 
Amended plan received 16th Aprl 2021 
Dwg K36669-A1-103A HIGHWAY LONG SECTIONS 1 of 3 - Amended plan 
received 16th Aprl 2021 
Dwg K36669-A1-104A HIGHWAY LONG SECTIONS 2 of 3 - Amended plan 
received 16th Aprl 2021 
Dwg K36669-A1-105A HIGHWAY LONG SECTIONS 3 of 3 - Amended plan 
received 16th Aprl 2021 
Dwg K36669-A1-115 S38 HIGHWAYS ADOPTION PLAN - Amended plan 
received 16th Aprl 2021 
Dwg K36669-A1-112A EXTERNAL WORKS LAYOUT Amended plan received 
16th Aprl 2021 
Dwg K36669-A1-113A EXTERNAL WORKS CONSTRUCTION DETAILS 1 OF 
2 - Amended plan received 16th Aprl 2021 
Dwg K36669-A1-114A EXTERNAL WORKS CONSTRUCTION DETAILS 2 OF 
2 - Amended plan received 16th Aprl 2021 
Dwg K36669-A1-102B HIGHWAY LEVELS PLAN - Amended plan received 
16th Aprl 2021 
Flood Risk Assesment and Drainage Strategy Rev a, 1 Oct 2020, R.G. 
Parkin & Partners Ltd 
Reason: In order to ensure that the development is carried out in complete 
accordance with the approved plans and any material and non-material 
alterations to the scheme are properly considered. 

 
Post commencement: 
 
2. Notwithstanding the approved landscaping plan, the plant species 

specified for the new boundary hedge to the western boundaries of plots 
1 and 17, shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority, including details of the standard height. The approved 
planting details shall be implemented before plots 1 and 17 are brought 
into use and the hedge shall be retained thereafter and not removed or 
replaced without prior consent of the Local Planning Authority. Should 
any plants which within a period of 5 years from the completion of the 
development die, are removed or become seriously damaged or diseased 
shall be replaced in the next planting season with other similar size and 
species, unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. 

Page 70



 Reason: To allow a degree of natural surveillance of the adjoining pedestrian 
footpath in the interests of securing safe development, in accordance with policy 
S4 of the Allerdale Local Plan Part 1.  

3.          Notwithstanding the approved landscaping plan, no part of the 
development hereby permitted shall be built above ground floor level until 
there has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority, a further detailed landscaping plan for the two 
sustainable drainage ponds. The approved landscaping details shall be 
implemented within the first planting season following completion of the 
development and any plants which within a period of 5 years from the 
completion of the development die, are removed or become seriously 
damaged or diseased shall be replaced in the next planting season with 
other similar size and species, unless otherwise agreed in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority. 

             Reason: In order to enhance the appearance of the development and minimise 
the impact of the development in the locality. 

 
4.  Notwithstanding the approved plans, where any re-contouring of ground 

levels within the development would result in retaining walls or structures 
exceeding 1.0m in height, full details of the retaining walls or structures 
shall be submitted to the Local Planning authority for approval in writing 
before their implementation. Any such structures shall be implemented 
only in accordance with the approved details.  
Reason: To ensure a satisfactory standard of development for the external 
appearance of the approved scheme and to ensure a good standard of housing 
environment for future occupiers, in accordance with policies S4 and DM14 of 
the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1), Adopted July 2014. 
 

5. The boundary treatment to the two sustainable urban draiange ponds 
shall be constructed of black vertical railings with bow top, 1.2m height as 
shown on drawing Dwg K36669-A1-106A DETENTION BASIN DETAILS 
SHEET 1 OF 2. The approved fencing shall be implemented before the 
ponds become operational and thereafter retained for the lifetime of the 
development.  

 Reason: To ensure a satisfactory appearance and maintenance to boundary 
treatment within public areas, in accordance with policies S4 and DM14 of the 
Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1), Adopted July 2014.  

 
6. Notwithstanding the approved landscaping plan, the boundary treatment 

to plots 7 and 49 shall be constructed in accordance with the details on 
approved drawing 1739-PL219(C) Boundaries & Elevations Plan as 
Proposed - Amended plan received 16th Aprl 2021. 

             Reason: For the avoidance of doubt as to the expected boundary treatment to 
these plots where they face onto Lowmoor Road.  

 
7.  Plots 1-10, 23-28, and 46 – 57 shall only be constructed in accordance with 

the ‘Render Variant Elevations’ approved for each house type identified 
for those plots.  

Page 71



  Reason: For the avoidance of doubt as to which house types and finish are 
approved for these plots.  

 
8.  Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning 

(General Permitted Development) Order 2015 (or in any Statutory 
Instrument revoking or re-enacting that Order with or without 
modification) no fences, gates, walls or other means of enclosure shall be 
erected on the western boundary of plots 1 and 17 (between the hedge 
and the pedestrian footpath) without the prior written approval of the 
Local Planning Authority upon an application submitted to it. 

             Reason: The Local Planning Authority wishes to retain control over any 
proposed alterations/extensions in the interests of the appearance of the site 
and the amenities of adjacent properties. 

 
9. The proposed footpath link adjacent to plots 1 and 17 shall be made 

available for use prior to 50% occupation of the housing hereby 
approved and shall be retained in an accessible condition for the lifetime 
of the development.  

             Reason: To facilitate pedestrian permeability through the site to adjoining 
land, in accordance with Policy S4 of the Allerdale Local Plan Part 1 and 
advice contained within the NPPF. 

 
10.        A landscaping management plan including long term design objectives, 

management responsibilities and maintenance schedules for all 
landscape areas including public open space and landscaped buffers 
shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority prior to the occupation of any dwellinghouse hereby approved. 
The development shall thereafter be maintained at all times in accordance 
with the approved management plan.  
Reason: To ensure the long term maintenance and management of public open 
space and landscaped buffers within the residential estate. 

 
 
Post construction conditions:  
 
11.    All planting, seeding or turfing comprised within the scheme and shown 

on the approved landscaping plans shall be carried out in the first 
planting season following completion of the development (unless 
otherside specified by separate condition) and any trees or plants which 
within a period of 5 years from the completion of the development die, are 
removed or become seriously damaged or diseased shall be replaced in 
the next planting season with other similar size and species, unless 
otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
Reason: In order to enhance the appearance of the development and minimise 
the impact of the development in the locality, in compliance with Policy DM14 of 
the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1), Adopted July 2014.  

 
 
 
 

Page 72



 
 
 
 
 

 
 

Page 73



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 74



Allerdale Borough Council 
 

Planning Application FUL/2021/0067 
 

Development Panel Report 

 
Reference Number: FUL/2021/0067  

Valid Date: 1st March 2021  

Location: Princess Hall, Princess Street, Workington, CA14 2QG  

Applicant: Redacre Investments LLP    

Proposal: Demolition of existing two storey building and the 
construction of a two storey mixed use building accommodating 
2no retail units at ground floor with 7 no. apartments at first 
floor, alongside 4 no. town houses 

 

 

RECOMMENDATION 

That the decision to grant permission subject to conditions be delegated to the Chief 
Officer – Place and Governance or the Planning and Building Control Manager subject 
to the signing of a section 106 to secure a sum of £6,000 to cover a traffic regulation 
order to undertake highway road marking and parking alterations. 

Should the legal agreement not be satisfactorily completed within 3 months, then it is 
requested that the powers to refuse the proposal be delegated to the Chief Officer – 
Place and Governance or Planning and Building Control Manager, on the basis that 
those measures necessary to make the development acceptable in policy terms have 
not been secured through the necessary legal agreement. 

1. Summary 

Issue Conclusion 

Principle of Development (Residential) The principle of residential development is 
acceptable. The site is located within the 
settlement of Workington and is previously 
developed land. The proposal complies 
with Policies S3 and S5.  

Principle of Development (Retail ) The sequential assessment shows that 
there are no sequentially preferable sites 
that are available, suitable and viable. The 
proposal therefore accords with Policies 
S10 and DM8 and the retail development 
is acceptable in principle.  

Layout of Development The layout of the development is in 
keeping with the character of the area and 
accords with Policy S4.  

Page 75

Agenda Item 7



Highway Safety  The proposal will not be harmful to 
highway safety.  

 

2. Introduction 
 

2.1. The application has been called in by Councillor Wilkinson   
 
3. Proposal 

 
The Plans for consideration are:- 
WPS-KMA-XX-XX-DR-A-7000-Rev P1 Site Location Plan,  
WPS-KMA-XX-XX-DR-A-7001Rev P1 Existing Site Plan,  
WPS-KMA-XX-XX-DR-A-7002 Rev P1 Proposed Demolition Plan,  
WPS-KMA-XX-XX-DR-A-7003 Rev P1 Proposed Block/Site Plan,  
WPS-KMA-XX-XX-DR-A-7004 Rev P1 Proposed Block/Site Plan Landscape, 
WPS-KMA-XX-XX-DR-A-7005 Rev P1 Proposed Ground Floor Plan (Mixed Use), 
WPS-KMA-XX-XX-DR-A-7006 Rev P1 Proposed First Floor Plan (Mixed Use), 
WPS-KMA-XX-XX-DR-A-7007 Rev P1 Proposed Ground Floor Plan (Townhouses), 
WPS-KMA-XX-XX-DR-A-7008 Rev P1 Proposed First Floor Plan (Townhouses), 
WPS-KMA-XX-XX-DR-A-7009 Rev P1 Proposed Elevations 01, 
WPS-KMA-XX-XX-DR-A-7010 Rev P1, Proposed Elevations 02, 
WPS-KMA-XX-XX-DR-A-7011 Rev P1 House Type A (2 bed) Proposed Floor Plans, 

WPS-KMA-XX-XX-DR-A-7012 Rev P1 House Type A (2 bed) Proposed Elevations, 
WPS-KMA-XX-XX-DR-A-7013 Rev P1 House Type B (3 bed) Proposed Floor Plans 
WPS-KMA-XX-XX-DR-A-7014 Rev P1 House Type B (3 bed) Proposed Elevations  
Transport Statement Technical Note 17/06/2021 
DWG VN201753-D100 Rev A. 

 
3.1. The proposal is for the demolition of the existing two storey building and the 

construction of a two storey mixed use building accommodating 2no retail units at 
ground floor with 7 no. apartments at first floor, alongside 4 no. town houses 
located at the rear of the site. 

  
3.2. The seven apartments will comprise 4no.1-bed apartments and 3no.2-bed 

apartments. The four town houses will comprise 2 two bedroom houses and 2 
three bedroom houses. 

 
4. Site 
 
4.1. The site comprises an area of land approximately 0.226 ha situated between 

Princess Street, Albert Street and Frazer Street forming part of the St Michaels 
Ward of Workington.   

 
4.2. The site comprises a vacant building which fronts onto Princess Street and was 

formerly a dance hall. The building is rendered with a pitched slate roof, at the 
rear there is a single storey flat roofed extension. The floor area of the building is 
circa 876 m2. 

 

Page 76

https://allerdalebc.lightning.force.com/0693X00000LB4duQAD
https://allerdalebc.lightning.force.com/0693X00000LB4ZKQA1
https://allerdalebc.lightning.force.com/0693X00000LB4dzQAD
https://allerdalebc.lightning.force.com/0693X00000LB4dfQAD
https://allerdalebc.lightning.force.com/0693X00000LB4dpQAD
https://allerdalebc.lightning.force.com/0693X00000LB4dBQAT
https://allerdalebc.lightning.force.com/0693X00000LB4dBQAT
https://allerdalebc.lightning.force.com/0693X00000LB4HuQAL
https://allerdalebc.lightning.force.com/0693X00000LB4d1QAD
https://allerdalebc.lightning.force.com/0693X00000LB4dkQAD
https://allerdalebc.lightning.force.com/0693X00000LB4dQQAT
https://allerdalebc.lightning.force.com/0693X00000LB4dQQAT
https://allerdalebc.lightning.force.com/0693X00000LB4cwQAD
https://allerdalebc.lightning.force.com/0693X00000LB4dLQAT
https://allerdalebc.lightning.force.com/0693X00000LB4dLQAT
https://allerdalebc.lightning.force.com/0693X00000LB4SsQAL


4.3. To the north of the site and on the opposite side of Princess Street is Vulcan Park, 
to the east is a row of terraced dwellings fronting onto Albert Street with a rear 
access road serving these properties and is adjacent to the eastern boundary of 
the site. To the west are residential properties fronting onto Princess Street and 
to the south of the site is Frazer Street with properties facing towards the site 
situated on the southern side of the road. The character of the area is 
predominantly terraced residential properties.  

 
5. Relevant Planning History 
 
5.1. Planning permission (reference 2/2008/0819) was granted in February 2008 for a 

part change of use of large storage area to retail area for sale of unwanted and 
new and second hand goods for and on behalf of the general public. This 
permission was subject to a condition that stated that the ancillary retail use 
hereby approved shall be restricted to the allocated floor space shown on the 
approved plan and be exclusively for the sale of second hand household goods, 
excluding clothing, footwear and food. The approved plan identified the proposed 
retail floor space of 252 square metres, being 36% of the total building. The 
remainder of the floorspace was retained as storage space.   

  
5.2. Planning permission (reference 2/1999/0965) granted for a change of use from 

car sales showroom to storage facility and ancillary repairs.  
 

6. Representations 
 

6.1. Town Council object on the following grounds  
1. Insufficient time was given in order to fully consider this application.  
2. There are two retail units offered with this application yet there are empty retail 
units in the town centre which is less than a five-minute walk from the given 
development site.  
3. There is insufficient loading areas identified if the retail units where to be 
granted which would, in turn, encroach on neighbouring parking spaces.  
4. WTC Councillors have received a number of objections from constituents in 
the properties neighbouring the proposed application site.  

 
6.2. Cumbria County Highways 
 

Highways response:  
 
It is noted that the applicant is proposing three new highway accesses to allow 
for additional off-street parking to accommodate this development. We have 
found that the proposed parking is acceptable however we would need to see a 
plan showing the visibility splays for each of the new accesses. Fraser Street and 
Princess Street are both 30mph roads that will mean that each of the accesses 
needs to achieve 60m splays in both directions set back into the site from a point 
of 2.4m. Pedestrian visibility splays of 2.4m x 2.4m shall also be included within 
this plan.  
 
The two accesses proposed to join Fraser Street for the residential parking will 
interfere with the regularly utilised parking bays between the Existing Pedestrian 

Page 77



Links. We would require these bays to be reduced rather than removed 
completely. This would require a Traffic Regulation Order (TRO).  
 
A TRO will also be required for the loading/unloading lay-by on Princess Street in 
order for restrictions to be in place.  
 
The information requested above should be submitted prior to any approvals.  

 

LLFA response: 

 

The LLFA prefers the use of infiltration for all new developments however we 
appreciate that this is not always possible. Please could the applicant submit 
results of BRE365 testing as evidence that infiltration is not suitable for this site.  
 
The principle of the drainage is acceptable to this authority and we would 
recommend the conditions are applied to any notice of approval that may be 
issued. 
 

6.3. United Utilities  
 
No objections subject to conditions 

 
6.4. Housing  

 
The findings from the 2016 housing study show that the need for affordable 
housing in Camerton, Great Clifton, Seaton, Winscales and Workington is mostly 
for four bed family properties. However, there is a substantial requirement to 
meet the needs of an ageing population through the provision of older person 
accommodation.  
 
In the event of a registered and/or none registered housing provider delivering 
affordable housing in Allerdale there would be an expectation that the Council 
would influence how social rented housing would be allocated through 
nomination agreements or its allocation policy which is currently Cumbria Choice. 
  
Where discounted sale properties are delivered there would be an expectation 
that the developer would work with the Council in line with its Discounted Sale 
policy.  

 
6.5. Cumbria Fire Service  

 
No objections  

 
6.6. Natural England  

 
No objections   

 
6.7. Environmental Health  

 

Page 78



The site lies in an area known for being affected by ground gasses from old 
mines workings and naturally occurring sources. The modern method of building 
houses is more like creating a hermetically sealed set of rooms which makes the 
occupants more likely to be affected by any gas contamination affecting the 
properties. Therefore an assessment of the potential risk is required, and 
investigation maybe required post partial demolition.  

 
6.8. The application has been advertised by site notice and neighbour letters.  
 
6.9. 7  Objections and a petition of 16 signatures objecting on the following grounds: 
 
  

 Highway safety by customers and staff comings and going near a busy road 
junction. The junction at Princess Street has poor visibility and has resulted in a 
number of accidents. The proposal is contrary to Paragraph 110 of the Planning 
Framework and Policies S2 & S32 of the Local Plan. 

  
 Access should be purely onto Princess Street which is a quieter road and less 

parked up.  
 
 The proposal would have an adverse impact on the residential amenity of the 

area arising from noise disturbance contrary to Paragraph 127 of the Framework 
and Polices S2 &S32 of the Local Plan.   

 
 There are enough shops within 200-300 metres of the site and the town centre is 

close by, the proposal is contrary to Policy S26 of the Local Plan.  
 
 The proposal does not protect existing community facilities  
 
 The level of affordable housing is not site specific.   
 
 There is limited on street parking particularly after 5.30pm and the shops would 

increase the parking needs of the area.  
 

  Already a convenience store on the corner of Vulcans Lane/Princess Street.  
  
 Object to social housing   
 
 Limited consultation  

 
 
7. Environmental Impact Assessment 

7.1. The Town and Country Planning (Environmental Impact Assessment) 
Regulations 2017 

7.2. The development does not within Schedule 1 nor 2 and, as such, is not EIA 
development. 

 

Page 79



8. Development Plan Policies 
 
8.1. Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1) 

 
Policy S1 Presumption in Favour of Development 
Policy S2 Sustainable Development 
Policy S3 Spatial Strategy and Growth 
Policy S4 Design Principles 
Policy S5 Development Principles 
Policy S8 Affordable Housing 
Policy S10 Elderly Needs Housing 
Policy S16 Town Centre and Retail  
Policy DM8 Protecting Town Centre Vitality and Viability 
 
Allerdale Local Plan (Part 2)  
 
Policy SA3 Affordable Housing   
 

9. Other material considerations 
 
9.1. National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) (2021) 

 
9.2. Allerdale Borough Council Strategy 2020-2030: 

 
 
10.      Assessment: 
 
 
Principle of Development (Residential)   
 
10.1    The site is not specifically allocated, however it is located within the development 

boundary of Workington as defined in the proposals map that forms part of Part 2 
of the Local Plan. Policy S3 states that new development will be located in 
accordance with the spatial strategy and will be concentrated within the towns 
and villages identified in the settlement hierarchy. Workington is the principal 
centre for the district. The provision of seven apartments and four dwellings (11 
residential units in total) is therefore acceptable in principle and accords with 
Policy S3.  

 
10.2. Policy S5 refers to development principles. The policy states that new 

development will be concentrated within the physical limits of Principal, Key and 
Local Service Centres, Limited Growth Villages and appropriate development 
adjacent to Infill / Rounding Off Villages as identified within the settlement 
hierarchy. As previously mentioned Workington is a principal settlement.   

 
10.3   The policy continues to state that the scale of the development proposed will be 

expected to be commensurate to the size of the settlement and reflect its position 
within the hierarchy. Where available and if appropriate the Council will 
encourage and prioritise the effective reuse of previously used land and buildings 
or vacant and underused land.  

Page 80



 
10.4   The proposal is for eleven residential units in total and is commensurate to the 

size of the settlement. Furthermore, the proposal will make effective use of 
previously used land which is currently vacant.  

 
10.5    The policy identifies a number of criteria which are as follows:   

a) The development is of a scale and design which will not detract from the 
character of the settlement. The provision of eleven residential units is not 
considered to be harmful to the character of the area. This is discussed in more 
detail in the layout section of the report.   
b) The development includes acceptable arrangements for car parking and 
access. The proposal would not be harmful to highway safety and is discussed in 
more detail in the highway section of the report.   
c) The capacity of local infrastructure and/or environmental assets would not be 
exceeded by the proposed development. This issue has not been raised in the 
consultation process of the application.  
d) The site of the proposed development is not considered to have significant 
amenity value. The existing building is not an historic asset and it is not 
considered to have any significant architectural quality.     
e) The site is not considered to make a significant contribution to the character of 
the settlement in its undeveloped state. The site is in an undeveloped state, 
however in its current state does not make any significant contribution to the 
character of the area.   
f) The development will not incur any significant harmful effects on environmental 
or heritage assets, habitats or wildlife, which cannot be successfully mitigated. 
The applicant submitted a bat report.  It was observed that the level of bat activity 
on this site was unexpectedly low, given the context of the site with the nearby 
park, and the building providing ‘moderate’ bat roosting potential for bats. The 
building was recognised as having moderate potential for bat roosting, however, 
no evidence for roosting bats was found at this location. As the building is 
proposed to be demolished, any potential for bat habitat would be lost. By 
erecting bat boxes within the new buildings proposed at this site, bats can be 
encouraged to roost at the site. This can be secured by condition.  
 
Overall the proposal is considered to comply with Policy S5.   
 

 
Affordable Housing  
 
10.6. Policy SA3 ALPP2 requires that all housing development of more than 10 

dwellings or where the dwellings would have a combined gross floor space of 
more than 1,000 square metres will be required to make provision for affordable 
housing. Policy S8 ALPP1 requires that within the Principal and Key Service 
Centres housing development of 10 dwellings (or 0.3 ha) or more will be required 
to make provision for 20% affordable housing. However Para 64 NPPF 2021 
states that ‘to support the re-use of brownfield land, where vacant buildings are 
being reused or redeveloped, any affordable housing contribution due should be 
reduced by a proportionate amount.’ As such this negates the affordable housing 
requirements in the NPPF 2021 for 10% discounted sale and the Policy S8 and 
the Policy SA3 triggers for affordables. 

Page 81



  
10.7.  In any event, the proposal is for the seven apartments and four dwellings all for 

social rent. In discussions with the Council Housing officer the applicant has 
agreed that the proposed seven apartments above the retail units are to be 
affordable rent and the occupancy restricted to 55+.This provision will meet the 
substantial requirement to meet the needs of an ageing population through the 
provision of older person accommodation. The 7 apartments for rent for the 55+ 
years complies with paragraph 65 criteria b) of the NPPF 2021 and provides 
specialist accommodation for a group of people with specific needs (such as 
purpose-built accommodation for the elderly or students).   

  
Principle of Development (Retail)  
 
10.8.  Policy S16 refers town centre and retail development. The policy states that 

applications for main town centre uses outside of these defined centres will be 
refused where the applicant has not demonstrated compliance with the 
sequential approach to site selection, or where there is clear evidence that the 
proposal would have a significant adverse impact on the vitality and viability of a 
nearby centre. 

 
10.9   Policy DM8 refers to protecting town centre vitality and viability. In particular it 

states that an impact assessment may be required for certain proposals outside 
of a defined town centre to assess the full extent of potential adverse impacts 
upon the existing town centre. For Workington the threshold is 500 square 
metres. The proposal at ground floor level of the mixed use building is 2 no. retail 
units which will have a floor area of 280m2 (including a back of house area) and 
65m2, providing a total gross retail area of 345m2. Given the proposed retail 
development is under the threshold for Workington then an impact assessment is 
not required in this case.  

 
10.10 Turning to the sequential test, the policy states that applications for these uses, or 

extensions of existing uses (extensions over 200sqm) outside of the defined 
centres will be refused where the applicant has not demonstrated compliance 
with the sequential approach to site selection as set out in national policy. 

 
10.11 In this case a sequential assessment has been submitted with the application. 

The applicant has stated of the two retail units, the larger unit will comprise a 
small convenience store which is intended to cater for the top up needs of 
customers. It will sell such items as milk, bread and other household products to 
supplement the needs of a weekly shop. The second smaller unit will provide a 
smaller complementary facility. 

 
10.12 The applicant has further stated it is relevant to note that the existing site is 

already commercial in nature being the site of an existing retail unit and they 
consider that the proposed use is not a typical town centre use. However as 
explained above the lawful use is a B8 use with an ancillary retail use and 
although the actual proposal includes a convenience store. For the purposes of 
assessing the sequential assessment the proposal is for two new retail units. 

 

Page 82



10.13 The applicants in defining the area to assess have used a 10 minute walking time 
which represents a distance of about 800 metres from the site. This area 
includes part of Workington Town Centre area and the assessment identified 
seven sites within the catchment area and two allocated sites. The scope of the 
assessment area is considered acceptable and provides a reasonable walk time 
from the application site.   

 
10.14 The assessment considered whether there were any more sequentially preferable 

sites having regard to their availability, suitability and viability for the proposed 
use. In particular, note was taken of the guidance in Paragraph 88 of the NPPF 
that in considering sequentially preferable sites applicants should demonstrate 
flexibility in terms of scale and format.  

 
10.15 The applicant set out that relevant to this assessment, the nature of the proposed 

facility was considered being small local convenience retail units, typical of a 
residential neighbourhood and the site selection criteria was a retail unit of circa 
280 m2 and a complementary unit of circa 65 m2, a minimum population of 3000, 
a neighbourhood location with servicing and car parking.  

 
10.16 The seven units were assessed and it was considered that one was already 

occupied and was therefore not available. The remaining six units were to let, 
however four were too small to accommodate even one of the units as they 
ranged from 59 -142 square metres and two of these has restricted access. One 
unit was not large enough to accommodate both units and also had restricted 
access and the remaining unit was too large at 525 square metres (over double 
the required size) and had poor servicing and no on site car parking.         

 
10.17 The applicant also considered the two allocated sites. Firstly Policy SA47 – 

Central Station Car Park. This site which is located within the main retail area is 
0.89 ha in extent. Given its extensive size it was not considered suitable for the 
proposed use.  

 
10.18 Secondly, Policy SA48 – Royal British Legion. This site which has an area of 0.2 

ha is occupied by the British Legion and was therefore not available. The site 
forms an allocation within the Allerdale Local Plan under Policy SA48 with 
supporting policy text in Policy SA46 which states that: “The allocated sites in 
Policies SA47 and SA48 will be safeguarded for main town centre uses and other 
uses that will support and enhance the vitality and viability of the town centre 
throughout the plan period. Retail-led schemes will be particularly encouraged.” 
In relation to its availability, although the Royal British Legion site is allocated 
within the Local Plan and from this it is assumed that it is available to be 
redeveloped during the plan period. At present the property is in operational use 
by the Royal British Legion with future events planned. There is currently no 
planning application for the site nor is there evidence of any active marketing. 
Furthermore it is concluded that the Royal British Legion site is not suitable for 
the proposed use. In this regard, the sequential approach to assessing whether 
there are suitable options for a proposed development should start with the role 
of the proposal and the catchment it is intended to serve. In the case of the 
application proposal this is for a local convenience store to serve a 
neighbourhood catchment area. As referenced above, National Planning Practice 

Page 83



Guidance comments on the need for any sequential assessment to be 
undertaken “with particular regard to the nature of the need to be addressed.” 
Also the applicant advises there is limited opportunity for flexibility in store format 
and scale, as the neighbourhood store format directly relates to the rationale 
behind its location as a convenience facility to serve its surrounding catchment, 
not as a town centre store. A site in a town centre, where main town centre uses 
tend to serve a much larger catchment area and meet the need and range of 
consumer requirements, is the opposite of what this type of neighbourhood 
convenience store is seeking to offer. In addition, the location of the site at the 
junction of Jane Street and Washington Street (A596) and partially to the rear of 
properties fronting Jane Street would not suit the business model of the proposed 
use. In this regard it is noted that the development considerations for the site as 
contained within the Local Plan states that the site will be served by existing 
public car parking within the town centre. This is at odds with the nature of the 
convenience aspect of the proposal which requires accessible on-site parking. 
Due to access constraints, it would also be difficult to readily service the property. 
The development constraints presented by the site in being within the setting of 
the Grade II* listed St John’s Church and the Portland Square Conservation area 
together with protected trees abutting the site will also need to be given careful 
consideration and would impact on the delivery of the proposed scheme, even 
taking into account the need for a flexible approach. The properties fronting Jane 
Street would also shield views of the convenience store, which the applicant 
advises does not fit with the business model of having a store profile. The 
aspiration of Policy SA46 in achieving a retail led scheme would further not be 
achieved by the mixed use proposal the subject of this planning application. 

  
10.19 Overall it is considered the sequential assessment has been robust and it has 

been concluded that having sought to identify available land or premises within 
the defined centres as set out above and edge of centre locations it considered 
that there are no sequentially preferable sites that are available, suitable and 
viable. The proposal therefore accords with Policies S16 and DM8 and the 
proposal of the retail element of the development is acceptable in principle.   

 
Layout of Development   
 
10.20 The proposed comprises two elements, the mixed use building fronting onto 

Princess Street and the town houses adjacent to Frazer Street. Policy S4 refers 
to proposals for all new development and will be required to demonstrate high 
standards of design and must amongst other things be visually attractive, of 
appropriate scale and appearance, respond positively to the character, of its 
location and integrate well with existing development and ensure suitable 
standards of access and amenity are achieved and maintained in relation to the 
development itself and the local area. Furthermore, the proposal should optimise 
the potential of the site by ensuring appropriate density and mass of 
development. 

       
10.21 The site layout demonstrates an open frontage to the mixed-use building, with an 

in-curtilage retail car parking area fronting Princess Street. The form of the 
mixed-use building has been designed in a traditional manner, incorporating 
‘book-end’ gables and a hipped pitched roof. Overall the building is considered to 

Page 84



integrate comfortably within its locality and would not be harmful to the character 
and appearance of the street scene.  

 
10.22 With regard to the proposed four town houses located adjacent to Frazer Street, 

each town house will benefit from having a secure private rear garden and a 
smaller defensible space fronting the car parking area. The town houses have 
been designed in a contemporary manner with traditional proportions and pitched 
roof. They have been arranged on site in such a manner so as to maximise the 
development potential of the site, to permit the inclusion of appropriately sized 
rear gardens and also to ensure an efficient and safe separation of vehicular 
movements between the town houses and the supported living accommodation 
within the mixed-use building.  

 
10.23 The applicant has stated a linear scheme fronting onto Frazer Street would not 

provide an appropriate development density and the ability to separate the car 
parking and servicing of the three elements across the site – the retail, supported 
living apartments and the dwelling houses. A linear scheme would have resulted 
in a significant reduction in residential accommodation due to minimum 
overlooking distances from the existing dwellings along Frazier Street and the 
proposed apartments, and would have significantly impaired their ability to 
effectively and safely separate the parking/servicing across the ‘rear’ of the site. 
On that basis the orientation of the dwellings in relation to Frazer Street is 
considered acceptable.   

 
10.24 In terms of the impact the proposal would have on neighbouring residents, the 

proposed dwellings would not overlook the residential properties on Frazer 
Street. The separation distance between the town houses and the properties on 
Albert Street is considered sufficient and the mixed use building has a sufficient 
degree of separation between the dwellings on Albert Street and the 
neighbouring property on Princess Street 

 
10.25   Overall the proposal is considered to comply with Policy S4.     
 
 
Highway Issues  
 
10.26 The applicant has submitted a transport statement with the application. It 

indicates that there have been no recorded accidents along the site frontage on 
Princess Street or Frazer Street in the preceding 5-year period. There have been 
no recorded incidents along Frazer Street or Albert Street in the preceding 5-year 
period. There have been four recorded incidents along Princess Street in the 
preceding 5-year period with all incidents being recorded as slight. They state 
that based on this review there are no highway black spots or accident clusters 
on the local highway network which would impact on the safety of the proposed 
development.  

 
10.27 The proposed site plan identifies different car parking areas which provide 

separation between the residential and retail elements of the scheme. A total of 
6no.car parking bays have been provided within the proposals for use by 
residents and visitors of the affordable apartments, including for 1no. accessible 

Page 85



bay and 2no. electric vehicle charging points. This car park is accessed via a 
new access/egress position along Frazer Street  

 
10.28 The town houses car park is accessed via a further new access/egress position 

along Frazer Street. It comprises a total of 8no. car parking bays which equates 
to 2no. bays per dwelling.  

 
10.29 The retail car park is accessed directly from Princess Street and comprises a total 

of 14no. car parking bays, including for 2no. accessible bays and 2no. electric 
vehicle charging points  

 
10.30 All resident/visitor/customer vehicles can enter the site (to their respective parking 

areas) from either Princess Street or Frazer Street, and they are able to enter the 
site, turn, reverse, and leave the site in forward gear. 

 

10.31 The proposal also includes the provision of secure bicycle storage consisting of 8 
no. bicycle parking spaces for use by retail customers (along Princess Street), 8 
no. bicycle parking spaces have been provided for use by retail staff and 8no. 
bicycle parking spaces have been provided for use by the apartment residents 
and visitors next to the main residential entrance. Each town house rear garden 
is large enough to accommodate bicycle storage as necessary.  

 
10.32 The highway authority consider the proposed parking provision for vehicles and 

cycles is acceptable. Furthermore, the site is also well located to public transport 
and is situated in a highly sustainable location. The proposal would not lead to 
problems of highway safety or on street parking.   

 
10.33 An additional technical note was submitted to address the highway authority 

comments with reference to a visibility splay of 2.4m by 60m for Frazer Street 
and Princess Street. However according to Manual for Streets (MfS) the required 
visibility splay for a 30mph road is 43 metres. Accordingly, Vectos prepared a 
visibility splay drawing with a splay of 43 metres, as shown in DWG VN201753-
D100 Rev A. This approach was agreed with Highways Officers who confirmed 
that they are not aware of any ongoing speeding issues at the location and given 
that the site is within a built-up area with plenty of warning signs, they would be 
able to accept 43m x 2.4m splays for each of the accesses. It was accepted to 
bring the visibility splay to the centreline of the road. Apart from the visibility to 
the west for the westernmost access (which has a visibility splay of 2.4m by 25m 
up to the junction with Albert Street) it is possible to achieve the 43m splay 
required for a 30mph road along Frazer Street. Due to the built-up nature of the 
local area, there is the likelihood that cars parked along Frazer Street will be 
located within the visibility splay. However, as outlined in MfS, parking in visibility 
splays in built-up areas is quite common and does not create considerable 
problems in practice. The required visibility splay can be achieved on Princess 
Street as there is an existing double yellow line parking restriction enforced along 
Princess Street. The Comments provided by the Council also requested that 
pedestrian visibility splays of 2.4m by 2.4m also be shown on a plan. DWG 
VN201753-D100 Rev A shows the required visibility splay at all access junctions 
on Frazer Street and Princess Street. In accordance with MfS any boundary 
treatment or obstructions located within the pedestrian visibility splay will be kept 

Page 86



below 600 millimetres to allow for sufficient visibility to be maintained for all 
pedestrians including children.  
 

10.34 In terms of Frazer Street, the Highway Authority advised that double yellow lines 
would be required around the entrance to the site and that they would be looking 
to retain 3-5 parking spaces between to two access junctions, dependant on 
space and visibility when exiting the site. A review of this arrangement indicates 
that 3 parking spaces could be retained on Frazer Street to allow for vehicles to 
manoeuvre at both accesses in a safe manner, as shown in DWG VN201753-
D100 Rev A. In terms of Princess Street, the TRO required would involve the 
reduction of the extents of the double yellow lines and insert a loading bay 
restriction for the layby created for servicing and deliveries. There are existing 
double yellow lines provided at the proposed site access on Princess Street and 
therefore there would be no alterations to these lines as part of the proposals. 

 
Third Party Objections 
 
10.35 The Council have received objections from the Town Council and a number of 

local residents. In terms of consultation the Town Council response was received 
on 6th April 2021, however it is considered the Town Council have had significant 
time to provide any further comments in the meantime leading up to the 
committee. With regard to neighbours letter these were originally sent out in 
March. However, on the 22nd April additional neighbours were consulted on 
Albert Street and Frazer Street who were missed originally. Notwithstanding this 
a site notice was posted on 17th March 2021. Overall it is considered that 
sufficient consultation time has been given to the Town Council and local 
residents.      

 
10.36 In terms of the other grounds of objection, the issue of empty retail units within 

the town centre has been addressed in the sequential assessment.  The highway 
authority consider the loading areas for the retail units is acceptable. The level of 
traffic generated by the proposal would not be harmful to highway safety and the 
access onto Frazer Street is considered acceptable subject to provide sufficient 
visibility splays. It is acknowledged that there is limited on street parking on 
Frazer Street after 5.30pm, however the proposal provides off street parking and 
the highway authority accept the proposed parking provision and it will not lead to 
further on street parking.    

 
10.37 The proposal would not have an adverse impact on residential amenity, given 

there is a degree of separation between the proposal and neighbouring 
dwellings, the proximity of other shops near to the site is not a determining factor 
in the outcome of this application, the use of the site is for B8 and is not a 
community facility, the level of affordable housing and its tenure has been 
clarified in the relevant section and the objection to social housing is not a 
material consideration.   

 
11. Conclusions 

11.1. The proposed development is acceptable in principle, the site is located within 
the settlement boundary of Workington and the development represents the 

Page 87



redevelopment of a previously developed site. The retail element is acceptable 
as it is considered that there are no sequentially preferable sites that are 
available, suitable and viable. The proposed layout will integrate into the 
character of the area, it will not be harmful to the living conditions of 
neighbouring residents and the proposal would not be harmful to highway safety.    

12. RECOMMENDATION 

Grant permission subject to conditions and the signing of a section 106 to 
secure a sum of £6000 to cover a traffic regulation order to undertake highway 
road marking and parking alterations. 

Page 88



Annex 1 

CONDITIONS 
 
1. Time Limit: Three years  
 
 
2. In Accordance: 
  
WPS-KMA-XX-XX-DR-A-7000-Rev P1 Site Location Plan,  
WPS-KMA-XX-XX-DR-A-7001Rev P1 Existing Site Plan,  
WPS-KMA-XX-XX-DR-A-7002 Rev P1 Proposed Demolition Plan,  
WPS-KMA-XX-XX-DR-A-7003 Rev P1 Proposed Block/Site Plan,  
WPS-KMA-XX-XX-DR-A-7004 Rev P1 Proposed Block/Site Plan Landscape, 
WPS-KMA-XX-XX-DR-A-7005 Rev P1 Proposed Ground Floor Plan (Mixed Use), 
WPS-KMA-XX-XX-DR-A-7006 Rev P1 Proposed First Floor Plan (Mixed Use), 
WPS-KMA-XX-XX-DR-A-7007 Rev P1 Proposed Ground Floor Plan (Townhouses), 
WPS-KMA-XX-XX-DR-A-7008 Rev P1 Proposed First Floor Plan (Townhouses), 
WPS-KMA-XX-XX-DR-A-7009 Rev P1 Proposed Elevations 01, 
WPS-KMA-XX-XX-DR-A-7010 Rev P1, Proposed Elevations 02, 
WPS-KMA-XX-XX-DR-A-7011 Rev P1 House Type A (2 bed) Proposed Floor Plans, 

WPS-KMA-XX-XX-DR-A-7012 Rev P1 House Type A (2 bed) Proposed Elevations, 
WPS-KMA-XX-XX-DR-A-7013 Rev P1 House Type B (3 bed) Proposed Floor Plans 
WPS-KMA-XX-XX-DR-A-7014 Rev P1 House Type B (3 bed) Proposed Elevations  

Transport Statement Technical Note 17/06/2021 
DWG VN201753-D100 Rev A. 
 
Pre-commencement conditions: 
 
3. No part of the development hereby permitted shall be constructed above 
ground floor level until details of all external walling and roofing materials have 
been submitted to and approved by the Local Planning Authority. Only the 
materials so approved shall be used in the development as approved. 
 
Reason: To ensure a satisfactory standard of development for the external appearance 
of the approved scheme which is compatible with the character of the surrounding area, 
in compliance with the National Planning Policy Framework and Policy DM14 of the 
Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1), Adopted July 2014. 
 
4. Details of the siting, height and type of all means of enclosure/screen 
walls/fences/other means of enclosure shall be submitted to and approved by the 
Local Planning Authority prior to the occupation of any dwelling(s). Any such 
walls/fences etc. shall be constructed prior to the approved building being 
brought into use/occupied. All means of enclosure so constructed shall be 
retained and no part thereof shall be removed without the prior consent of the 
Local Planning Authority. 
 
Reason: To ensure a satisfactory standard of development which is compatible with the 
character of the surrounding area and safeguard the amenity of neighbouring 
properties. 

Page 89

https://allerdalebc.lightning.force.com/0693X00000LB4duQAD
https://allerdalebc.lightning.force.com/0693X00000LB4ZKQA1
https://allerdalebc.lightning.force.com/0693X00000LB4dzQAD
https://allerdalebc.lightning.force.com/0693X00000LB4dfQAD
https://allerdalebc.lightning.force.com/0693X00000LB4dpQAD
https://allerdalebc.lightning.force.com/0693X00000LB4dBQAT
https://allerdalebc.lightning.force.com/0693X00000LB4dBQAT
https://allerdalebc.lightning.force.com/0693X00000LB4HuQAL
https://allerdalebc.lightning.force.com/0693X00000LB4d1QAD
https://allerdalebc.lightning.force.com/0693X00000LB4dkQAD
https://allerdalebc.lightning.force.com/0693X00000LB4dQQAT
https://allerdalebc.lightning.force.com/0693X00000LB4dQQAT
https://allerdalebc.lightning.force.com/0693X00000LB4cwQAD
https://allerdalebc.lightning.force.com/0693X00000LB4dLQAT
https://allerdalebc.lightning.force.com/0693X00000LB4dLQAT
https://allerdalebc.lightning.force.com/0693X00000LB4SsQAL


 
 
5. Prior to the commencement of any development, a surface water drainage 
scheme, based on the hierarchy of drainage options in the National Planning 
Practice Guidance with evidence of an assessment of the site conditions shall be 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  
 
The surface water drainage scheme must be in accordance with the Non-
Statutory Technical Standards for Sustainable Drainage Systems (March 2015) or 
any subsequent replacement national standards. In the event of surface water 
draining to the combined public sewer, the pass forward flow rate to the public 
sewer must be restricted to 8.4 l/s for any storm event.  
 
The development hereby permitted shall be carried out only in accordance with 
the approved drainage scheme.  
 
Reason: To promote sustainable development, secure proper drainage and to manage 
the risk of flooding and pollution. This condition is imposed in light of policies within the 
NPPF and NPPG.  

 

6. Prior to the commencement of development above ground floor level a scheme 
providing for the provision of bat boxes on the approved buildings, shall be 
submitted to and approved by the Local Planning Authority. The approved 
scheme shall be fully implemented prior to the development being brought into 
use and shall be retained thereafter. 
 
Reason: In order to provide a biodiversity gain       
 
7. No development approved by this permission shall commence until a desktop 
study has been submitted to and approved by the Local Planning Authority. 
Should the preliminary risk assessment identify any potential contamination 
which may affect human health, controlled waters or the wider environment, all 
necessary site investigation works within the site boundary must be carried out 
to establish the degree and nature of the contamination and its potential to 
pollute the environment or cause harm to human health. The scope of works for 
the site investigations should be agreed with the Local Planning Authority prior 
to their commencement. 
Reason:  To minimise any risk during or post construction works arising from any 
possible contamination from the development to the local environment in compliance 
with the National Planning Policy Framework and Policy S30 of the Allerdale Local Plan 
(Part 1), Adopted July 2014. 
 

8. Should land affected by contamination be identified under the desktop study 
condition (7) following site investigations which poses unacceptable risks to 
human health, controlled waters or the wider environment, no development shall 
take place until a detailed remediation scheme has been submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The scheme must include an 
appraisal of remediation options, identification of the preferred option(s), the 
proposed remediation objectives and remediation criteria, and a description and 
programme of the works to be undertaken including the verification plan. 

Page 90



Reason: To minimise any risk during or post construction works arising from any 
possible contamination from the development to the local environment in compliance 
with the National Planning Policy Framework and Policy S30 of the Allerdale Local Plan 
(Part 1), Adopted July 2014. 
 
Post-commencement/Pre use commencing conditions: 
 
9. Prior to the commencement of development above ground floor level a scheme 
providing for the provision of bat boxes on the approved buildings, shall be 
submitted to and approved by the Local Planning Authority. The approved 
scheme shall be fully implemented prior to the development being brought into 
use and shall be retained thereafter. 
 
Reason: In order to provide a biodiversity gain. 
       
10. Foul and surface water shall be drained on separate systems.  
 
Reason: To secure proper drainage and to manage the risk of flooding and pollution. 

 

11. No work relating to the construction of the development hereby approved, 
including works of demolition or preparation prior to operations, or internal 
painting or fitting out, shall take place before the hours of 0800 nor after 1800 
Monday to Friday, before the hours of 0800 nor after 1300 Saturdays nor on 
Sundays or recognised public holidays, unless otherwise agreed in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority.  
 
Reason: To protect the amenities of the occupiers of nearby properties during the 
construction period.  

 

12. No deliveries of construction materials or plant and machinery and no 
removal of any spoil from the site shall take place before the hours of 0800 nor 
after 1800 Monday to Friday, before the hours of 0800 nor after 1300 Saturdays 
nor on Sundays or recognised public holidays, unless otherwise agreed in writing 
by the Local Planning Authority.  
 
REASON: To protect the amenities of the occupiers of nearby properties during the 
construction period.  
 
13. Should a remediation scheme be required under condition (8), the approved 
strategy shall be implemented and a verification report submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority, prior to the development (or 
relevant phase of development) being brought into use. 
14. Reason: To minimise any risk during or post construction works arising from any 
possible contamination from the development to the local environment in compliance 
with the National Planning Policy Framework and Policy S30 of the Allerdale Local Plan 
(Part 1), Adopted July 2014. 
 
13. In the event that contamination is found at any time when carrying out the 
approved development that was not previously identified it must be reported 

Page 91



immediately to the Local Planning Authority. Development on the part of the site 
affected must be halted and a risk assessment carried out and submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. Where unacceptable risks 
are found remediation and verification schemes shall be submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. These shall be implemented 
prior to the development (or relevant phase of development) being brought into 
use. All works shall be undertaken in accordance with current UK guidance, 
particularly CLR11. 
Reason: To minimise any risk arising from any possible contamination from the 
development to the local environment in compliance with the National Planning Policy 
Framework and Policy S30 of the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1), Adopted July 2014. 

Page 92



 
 
 
 
 

 
 

Page 93



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 94



Allerdale Borough Council 
 

Planning Application FUL/2021/0286 
 

Development Panel Report 

 
Reference Number: FUL/2021/0286 

Valid Date: 03/11/2021 

Location: 32 Wilson Street, Workington 

Applicant: Mr & Mrs R Stewardson 

Proposal: Re-submission of application FUL/2021/0227 for the 
replacement of 12 windows to new UPVC windows 

 

RECOMMENDATION 

Refuse 

Summary 

Issue Conclusion 

Heritage The proposal relates to a commercial 
property situated within the Workington 
Conservation Area.  The application seeks 
to replace traditional timber sliding sash 
single glazed windows with UPVC double 
glazed sliding sash windows at first and 
second floor.   

The application property and the majority 
of other properties within Wilson Street 
retain their original window design and 
timber materials, including to windows, 
doors and commercial shopfronts; a large 
number of windows are timber mutli-
framed single glazed sliding sash. 

Officers consider that the proposed uPVC 
material and quality of the framing would 
be prominent at this location given the 
building abuts the street and would not 
adequately replicate the existing timber 
framing. It would appear incongruous, 
failing to preserve or enhance the 
character and appearance of the 
designated conservation area on Wilson 
Street.   

There will be consequent harm to the 

Page 95

Agenda Item 8



significance of this designated heritage 
asset which is not outweighed by any 
public benefits. 

The proposal is therefore considered 
unacceptable, contrary to the criteria 
prinically of Policy S27 of the Allerdale 
local plan (Part 1) and advice contained 
within the National Planning Policy 
Framework.  

 

1. Introduction 
 

1.1. The application has been called in by Councillor M Heaslip. 
 

1.2. The application seeks planning permission for the replacement of 12 timber 
sliding sash multiplane windows to the front of the property, to UPVc sliding sash 
multi-pane windows.  
 

2. Proposal 
 

2.1. The Plans for consideration are:- 
 
Dwg No 01001 Rev 01 – Location Plan 
Dwg No 05001 Rev 01 – Proposed Front Elevation 
Victorian Window Sliders Brochure - Ecoslide 
Window Appendix Form 

 
3. Site 
 

 
3.1. The site is situated on Wilson Street, Workington within the Portland Square 

Conservation Area (PSCA). It is predominantly a three storey building with the 
end section to the south being two storey. The property fronts directly onto Wilson 
Street with its vehicular access is to the south of the building. The present use of 
the property is a public house, with accomodation above. The property includes 
traditional timber shop front style openings at ground floor, with relatively small 
window openings at first and second floor. Many of the window openings are 
small multipanes, all materials are timber at present.    
 

3.2.1 The site lies within a commercial area of the town consisting of terraced    
properties to either side of the street, in close proximity to the narrow road. 
Market Place directly to the north, is one of the more prominent parts of PSCA, 
along with Portland Square itself. The majority of properties on Wilson Street and 
Market Place retain their architectural features, fenestration and detailing in 
traditional timber materials, making a positive contribution to the character and 
appearance of the Conservation Area.   

 

Page 96



4. Relevant Site History 
 

4.1. FUL/2021/0227 – Replacement of x12 windows to new UPVc windows – Refused 
14.10.2021 
 

4.2. 2/2007/0990 - Advertisement consent for illuminated signage, as amended by e-
mail received on 1 November 2007 – Refused 8/11/2007 

 
4.3. 2/2001/0537 - Revised scheme for change of use from retail outlet to public 

house, as amended by plans received 7 August 2001, 22 August 2001 and 20 
September 2001 – Approved with conditions 21/08/2001 
 

4.4. 2/2000/0554 - Change of use from retail store to public house (resubmission) - 
withdrawn - 19/09/2000 

 
4.5. 2/2000/0149 - Change of use from retail premises to public house - refused - 

5/5/2000 
 
 

5. Representations 
 

5.1. Workington Town Council – No reply to date. 
 
5.2. The application has been advertised in the local press, on site by means of a site 

notice and by neighbour letter. No representations have been received to date.   
 
6. Environmental Impact Assessment 

6.1. The Town and Country Planning (Environmental Impact Assessment) 
Regulations 2017 

6.2. The development does not within Schedule 1 nor 2 and, as such, is not EIA 
development. 

7. Duties 
 
7.1. For Listed Buildings: 
 

Section 66(1) of the Listed Buildings Act 1990 states that, in considering whether 
to grant planning permission for development which affects a listed building or its 
setting, the local planning authority shall have special regard to the desirability of 
preserving the building or its setting or any features of special architectural or 
historic interest which it possesses. 

 
7.2. For conservation areas:  
 

Section 72(1) of the Listed Building and Conservation Area Act 1990 states that, 
with respect to any buildings or other land in a conservation area, special 
attention shall be paid to the desirability of preserving or enhancing the character 
or appearance of that area. 

Page 97



 
8. Development Plan Policies 
 
8.1. Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1) 
 
8.2. The following policies are considered to be relevant:- 
 

Policy DM15 - Extensions and alterations to existing buildings and properties  
Policy S2 Sustainable Development  
Policy S3 Spatial Strategy and Growth  
Policy S4 Design Principles  
Policy S27 Heritage Assets 

 
These policies can be viewed at:- 
 
https://www.allerdale.gov.uk/en/planning-building-control/planning-policy/local-plan-part-
1/  

 
 
9.  Other material considerations 
 
9.1.  National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) (2021) 
 
9.2 Council Strategy 2020-2030 

10. Policy weighting 
 

10.1. Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires that, 
if regard is to be had to the development plan for the purpose of any 
determination to be made under the Planning Acts, the determination must be 
made in accordance with the plan unless material considerations indicate 
otherwise. This means that the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1) 2014 and the 
Allerdale Borough Local Plan (Part 2) 2020 policies have primacy. 

 

11. Assessment: 
 
 
11.1 The proposal seeks permission for the replacement of 12 windows on the first 

and second floor front elevation of the property. The existing windows are timber, 
single glazed, sliding sash. The windows consist of; two  x 8 over 8 multipanes, 
eight x 6 over 6 multipanes and 2 x 1 over1 paned windows. The replacement 
windows would attempt to replicate the existing windows in terms of the design 
and opening method, and number of panes (with the exception of the 8 over 8 
which would be changed to 6 over6) and would be white UPVC double glazed 
and are of a sliding sash design. The design and access statement submitted 
with the application confirms the existing windows are rotten and require full 
replacement. 

 

Page 98

https://www.allerdale.gov.uk/en/planning-building-control/planning-policy/local-plan-part-1/
https://www.allerdale.gov.uk/en/planning-building-control/planning-policy/local-plan-part-1/


11.2  As noted above, the application property is situated within the Portland Square 
Conservation Area. The site lies within a commercial area of the town consisting 
of terraced properties to either side of the street, in close proximity to the narrow 
road. Market Place directly to the north, is one of the more prominent parts of 
PSCA, along with Portland Square itself. Properties on Wilson Street and Market 
Place retain their architectural features, fenestration and detailing in traditional 
timber materials, making a strong contribution to the character and appearance 
of the Conservation Area.  The existing windows of the application site, along 
with the timber commercial shopfront at ground floor, contribute to this traditional 
character of the area. Only a small element of UPVC is visible in Wilson Street 
itself, at the bottom of the street and nos. 7 & 9 which were only granted planning 
permission for UPVC siding sash as they were considered to be an improvement 
from the non-traditional windows already installed and which they replaced.  

 
11.3 Wilson Street is situated within an historic part of the town and in combination 

with Market Place, directly to the north, it makes a significant contribution to the 
Portland Square Conservation Area. Due to the narrow highway, the properties 
on this street have a strong presence and are highly prominent within the street 
scene. 

  
Heritage 

 
11.4 Policy S27 is the principle policy for the consideration of the proposal given the 

identified historic sensitivity of the site –  
 

"The historic environment including all heritage assets and their settings will be 
conserved and enhanced in a manner appropriate to their intrinsic historic value 
and significance, their importance to local character, distinctiveness and sense of 
place, and to other social, cultural economic or environmental benefits/values. 
The Council will work with partners to seek the conservation and enhancement of 
all designated or nondesignated heritage assets within the Plan Area. In 
determining applications that could affect the significance (including character, 
appearance, historic value, value to people and setting) of a heritage asset 
and/or archaeological asset, the following factors will be taken into account: 
 

 The level of significance of the heritage asset(s). 
 

 The impact of the proposal on the significance (including setting) of the     
heritage asset(s). 

 

 How the significance and/or setting of the asset could be better revealed. 
 

 Opportunities for mitigating climate change without damaging significance. 
 

Only proposals which do not harm any positive qualities of the heritage asset(s) 
will be approved, unless there is a clear and convincing public benefit to the 
proposal that will outweigh the harm caused to the asset(s).  

 

Page 99



11.5 The detailing of the existing timber windows represent an important feature of the 
building which adds to it , which make a positive and collective contribution to the 
heritage significance of the Conservation Area. Therefore the test to consider is 
whether or not the proposed replacement windows achieve the same positive 
contribution that the existing timber windows make to enhancing the character 
and appearance of the Conservation Area, or whether they would detract from 
the contribution the building presently makes to the character of the Conservation 
Area. These aspects can be divided into three categories; materials, sections and 
means of opening. 

11.6 The proposed windows are UPVC and double glazed. Timber represents the 
traditional material used on fenestration details on properties within this part of 
the Conservation Area. The proposal would therefore introduce a modern 
material onto a predominantly intact set of frontages to these traditional 
properties. Officers therefore consider the proposed adoption of modern 
materials at this location would negatively erode the character of the streetscene 
and its significance. 

11.7 Officers do not oppose the principle of replacement double glazing in traditional 
windows if the traditional proportions of the existing windows can be retained. 
Whilst this is often achievable for larger openings, it becomes difficult to secure 
on small multipanes especially, and in smaller openings. Double glazed windows 
are deeper in cross section and UPVC replicas of multipanes usually incorporate 
planted on or dummy astragal bars to create the multipane effect, as opposed to 
a genuine glazing bar, with individual panes of glass, which is the case of the 
existing windows. On fine sections this can result in a greater depth than width to 
the bar and possibly a resulting void in the centre, between the planted on 
external astragal bar and internal glazing bar. Insufficient information by way of 
cross sections have been provided to clearly show how the multi pane windows 
would be achieved. Nor have detailed drawings been provided to allow a 
comparison of the depth of the frames or the dimensitons of the glazing bars.  

11.8 Therefore, the introduction of UPVC as a material at this location, with no set 
back from the highway, would be particularly prominent and would be at odds 
with the largely retained fenestration in traditional timber on both Wilson Street 
and Market Place.  Although the windows would be of a vertical slider design, 
they would fail to replicate the slim detailing of the existing single glazed 
multipane timber framed units and would appear incongruous as a result. For 
these reasons, the proposal would fail to preserve or enhance the character and 
appearance of this part of the Portland Square Conservation Area. Having regard 
to section 72 of the Act and the special attention that shall be paid to the 
desirability of preserving or enhancing the character or appearance of that area, 
along with the requirements of Policy S27 and the NPPF, the proposal would not 
be acceptable. There are no identified public benefits that are considered to be 
off sufficient weight to outweigh the identified harm and therefore the 
recommedation is for refusal. 

 

 

Page 100



11.9 This recommendation is considered to be consistent with similar proposals where 
replacement UPVC windows have been refused on heritage grounds within the 
vicinity of the site. For example, at 3 King Street (HOU/2017/0249) – an appeal 
was dismissed (APP/G0908/D/18/3198453) for replacement UPVC sliding sash. 
This was also an historic property retaining its architectural detailing and fronting 
onto the highway, in a similar manner to the proposal. The inspector stated that, 
‘the majority of the properties in this area are historic buildings which have largely 
retained their original windows, often timber sliding sash, and have a strong 
sense of character which contributes positively to the character and appearance 
of the Conservation Area’. The inspector continued, ‘The use of woodgrain effect 
UPVC would not disguise the nature of the material which is smooth, shiny and 
modern. Therefore the proposed windows would adversely affect the traditional 
integrity of the appeal building and consequently would not preserve or enhance 
the character or appearance of the Conservation Area.’ Further, with regards to 
unauthorised UPVC in the locality, the Inspector noted that,  ‘The slow 
degradation of the special architectural and historic qualities of the area by 
uncontrolled and ad hoc UPVC windows does not justify granting planning 
permission in the context of the special attention that must be paid to the 
desirability of preserving or enhancing the character or appearance of the area 
as a whole. Moreover to do so on appeal against this background would send out 
the wrong message’.  

 
11.10 Replacement of traditional timber sliding sash windows with UPVC have been 

similarly resisted at appeal at 4 Portland Street (2/2016/0517), and 14 Nook 
Street, both within relatively close proximity to the application site and again, both 
fronting directly onto the highway, where UPVC would be more prominent.   

  

 Other Issues 

11.11 Given the nature of the proposal there are no other issues to be taken into 
consideration. 

 Local Financial Considerations 

 
12.1 Having regard to S70 (2) of the Town and Country Planning Act the proposal will 

have no local financial consideration. 

 
12. Conclusions 

13.1 The introduction of UPVC as a material at this location, with no set back from the 
highway, would be particularly prominent and would be at odds with the largely 
retained fenestration in traditional timber on both Wilson Street and Market Place.  
Although the windows would be of a vertical slider design, they would fail to 
replicate the detailing of the existing single glazed multipaned timber framed units 
and would appear more chunky and incongruous as a result. For these reasons, 
the proposal would fail to preserve or enhance the character and appearance of 
this part of the Portland Square Conservation Area. There will be consequent 
harm to the significance of this designated heritage asset, which is not 
outweighed by any public benefits. The proposal would be contrary to policies 

Page 101



S2, DM15 and S27 of the adopted Allerdale Local Plan Part 1 (2014) and the 
advice contained within the National Planning Policy Framework 2021.  

13. RECOMMENDATION 

That the proposal be refused.  

Page 102



Annex 1 

Reason 
 

1. The introduction of UPVC as a material at this location, with no set back from the 
highway, would be particularly prominent and would be at odds with the largely 
retained fenestration in traditional timber within the immediate locality of the site. 
The replacement UPVC windows would fail to replicate the detailing of the 
existing single glazed multipaned timber framed units and would appear 
incongruous. For these reasons, the proposal would fail to preserve or enhance 
the character and appearance of this part of the Portland Square Conservation 
Area. There will be consequent harm to the significance of this designated 
heritage asset which is not outweighed by any public benefits. The proposal 
would be contrary to policies S2, DM15 and S27 of the adopted Allerdale Local 
Plan Part 1 (2014) and the provisions of the National Planning Policy Framework 
2021.  

Page 103



 
 
 

 

Page 104



Allerdale Borough Council 
 

Planning Application OUT/2019/0017 
 

Development Panel Report 

 
Reference Number: OUT/2019/0017 
 

 

Valid Date: 7/05/19 
 

 

Location: Beech grove Seaton , Workington 
 

 

Applicant: Thwaytes, Thwaytes, Rutherford & Warren 
 

  

Proposal: Outline application for 8 dwellings with all matters 
reserved except access 

 

 

RECOMMENDATION 

That outline planning permission be granted, subject to the recommended conditions.  

1. Summary 

Issue Conclusion 

Principle of Development The application site is considered to 
represent a sustainable location for further 
housing development within the village in 
compliance with the settlement objectives 
of Policy S3 of Allerdale Local Plan Part 1 
(ALP Part 1)  and the updated settlement 
limits of Policy SA2 of the Allerdale Local 
Plan Part 2 (ALPP2). 

The site is well related to the surrounding 
built development.   

Highways  The intensification of the use of the 
existing vehicular access from the small 
Beech Grove estate onto Causeway Road 
is acceptable with no significant adverse 
impacts on highway safety. The details are 
acceptable to the Local Highway Authority. 

Drainage This subject represented a key concern 
within the representations received, 
prompting the applicant to undertake a 
detailed flood risk assessment towards 
adopting an outline drainage strategy 

Page 105

Agenda Item 9



(including cumulative considerations with 
the recently approved nearby major 
housing development on the opposite side 
of Causeway Road). The submitted details 
are considered to be acceptable to the 
Lead Local Flood Authority. 

Ecology  Policy S35 seeks to protect and safeguard 
biodiversity. Assessments were 
undertaken to establish the ecological 
value of the site (including a reptile survey) 
It was concluded the proposal would not 
have a significant impact on ecology and 
biodiversity gain can be achieved via 
planning condition. 

 

 
2. Proposal 

 
2.1.   The proposal seeks outline consent for the erection of up to 8 houses on an 

approx. 0.5ha area of land on the south eastern perimeter of the village of 
Seaton. 

 
2.2.  The outline application seeks approval of the detail of access, specifying  

a single vehicular access off the cul de sac of Beech Grove, which then links to 
Causeway Road.  

 

2.3.  The application is supported by: Ground Investigation Assessment, Ecology 
Report and Flood Risk/Drainage documents. 

 
2.4. The Plans for consideration are:- 

 
60790-01 Site location plan 
60790-10 rev B Site Plan Outline proposal, indicative layout 
Amendment 078467-CUR-00-XX-RP-Z-92001 Rev V01 drainage strategy part 1 

           Amendment 078467-CUR-00-XX-RP-Z-92001 Rev V01 drainage strategy part 2 
           Amended Ecological  Assessment survey report  11/10/2021 
           Amended reptile survey report  11/10/21 
 
3.0       Site 

 
3.1.  The site comprises of an area of open rough pasture land situated to the south 
        western edge of the Beech Grove estate in Low Seaton. A vehicular access road 
        traverses across the site. 
  
3.2.  An underground watercourse culvert (Gale Brook) also traverses through the 

north western section of the site. It opens up briefly at the western corner of the 
site, before returning underground within a further separate underground culvert. 

Page 106



 
3.3.  The southern boundary is bordered by properties on Low Seaton, which is a 

lengthy cul-de-sac. The northern edge abuts the rear gardens of the residential 
properties on Kelsick Park and Milburn Croft housing estates. A large domestic 
curtilage belonging to a property in Low Seaton acts as the application sites 
south western boundary which is segregated by a large hedge.  

 
3.4 The site is within close proximity to the centre of Seaton, with its associated 

services and facilities. 
 
4.        Relevant Planning History 

 
4.1. Following concerns on the suitability of Low Seaton’s cul-de-sac highway having 

the capacity to accommodate additional vehicular traffic, two separate 
applications (2/2004/0961) and (2/2004/1230), each for a pair of detached 
dwellings fronting onto Low Seaton highway, were approved and implemented 
with an alternative and separate new rear access via Beech Grove’s estate 
entrance (which traverses across the current application site). Garaging was 
provided at the rear of these properties.  This approved access corridor was 
revised and upgraded under application 2/2016/0296, and has recently been 
completed. 

 
4.2. These dwellings were allowed on appeal, with the Inspector including a planning 

condition requiring the access highway to be built to adoptable standards. 
 
4.3. The current proposal’s access via Beech Grove estate’s junction onto Causeway 

road is within proximity of a previously approved residential development 
(2/2017/0277) for 100 houses (in outline), on land to the rear of the British Legion 
(since demolished), on the opposite side of Causeway Road. However this 
outline consent was superseded by a revised outline application 2/2018/0493 for 
the same scale of development in the same locality, but served by an alternative 
vehicular access via Hill Farm. This outline consent remains extant. 

 
4.4. In addition, an outline consent for a small neighbouring site on Camerton Road 

for 5 dwellings was granted under 2/2017/0278. 
 

4.5. A further outline application for 4 dwellings under 2/2017/0279 on the southern 
side of Camerton Road was refused and dismissed at appeal on the grounds of 
landscape impact and extension of the village. 

 
5. Representations  

 
5.1. Parish Council  

5.2. Object to the development due to the cumulative impact of approved and 

potential developments on overstretched infrastructure. The parish understands 

that land from the north feeds the direction of the land proposed to be developed 

and flooding occurs on the highway junction of the proposed development. It is 

understood the land itself acts to soak up this and surrounding drainage and the 

Page 107



Parish Council is concerned the proposal will lead to flooding problems. Water 

drainage into the existing watercourse, which is already a concern for properties 

adjacent to the route of the watercourse, will increase, exacerbating flooding 

problems. The Parish Council is also concerned with the additional traffic at the 

current junction, especially given its propensity to flood. Question whether local 

residents had been re-consulted on the additional evidence. The Parish 

reiterated their original objections, following re-consultation on the 

drainage/ecology information. 

5.3. Local Highway Authority/Lead Local Flood Authority  
 

5.4. Consider the proposed shared road is acceptable in principle. Seek as part of the 
reserved matters the details between the adopted highway at Beech Grove and 
the new site access. No objections subject to conditions.  

 
5.5. Environmental Protection  

 
5.6. Seek updates to the applicants phase 1 report and seek a Construction 

Management Plan for the development. 
 
5.7. United Utilities  

 
5.8. No objection regarding foul water and surface water discharge from the site with 

standard drainage conditions. 
 
5.9. Environment Agency 

 
5.10. No objections. Advise Gale Brook is designated a Main river. A permit will be 

required for any works within 8m of this watercourse. Any future reserved matters 
application should account for future repair/maintenance of the watercourse –
questioning the indicative layout for plots 3 and 4. They may object to any such 
future reserved matters application if this is not addressed. The rest of the 
culverted watercourse is an ordinary watercourse, which will similarly need to 
account for future maintenance by any riparian owners (e.g. plots 1-4 on the 
plan). 

 
5.6.    The application was advertised on site and in the press. 
 

A total of 16 letters of objection were received. The grounds of objection are 
summarised as follows: 

           
           -     Extensions of existing properties not shown on plans – loss of privacy. 
           -     Cumulative traffic generation/impact on roads and junctions (Church Road & 
                 Causeway Road) and drainage impact (including Gale Brook) with other 

large housing proposals in Seaton. 
- Cumulative impact with the approved housing estate access junction at the 

                 British Legion. 
- Question the access arrangements for the existing houses at Low Seaton 
- Inadequate road, drainage and education infrastructure. 

Page 108



- The proposal is contrary to Paragraph 109 of the NPPF. 
-  Impact on residents downstream on Gale Brook- Milburn Croft, Westcroft 

and Derwent bank, plus Barepot. Need for its remediation along its full length 
- For clarity Beech Grove comprises of 9 dwellings which use its entrance. 
- Need for a robust drainage strategy. 
- Albeit the nearby approved housing estate outline consent 2/2018/0493 

revised and revoked the earlier outline consent 2/2017/0277 it does not 
prevent any further future resubmission for the outstanding sections of the 
site. Therefore this consent needs to be considered. 

- Question whether the culvert traversing across the site is fit for purpose. 
Need of CCTV assessment.  

- Proposal is contrary to policy S29 of ALPP1. 
- Lack of details on the type of dwellings on the site. 
- The site is not large enough for 8 dwellings. 
- Lack of details on the distance from existing dwellings. 
- Local knowledge highlights part of the site floods at the lower end in bad 

weather. 
- The size of the access is inadequate for the scale of the development. 
- The boundary hedgerow should be retained. 
- The site is overgrown and has attracted vermin. 
- Loss of light to the bungalows on Beech Grove (seek a restriction for the 

proposal to be bungalows). 
- Structural concerns on future construction works. 
- Over-development of the area. 
- Disruption will result in loss of health. 
- The development and its associated construction disturbance, impact on 

traffic /flood risk and services is under Allerdale’s tagline no longer a “great 
place to live”. 

- Better alternative sites for housing exist elsewhere.  
- Loss of open green space. 
- Too much housing in Low Seaton to the detriment of its rural appeal/village. 
- Proposal is contrary to Allerdale local plan’s strategic objectives SO1c 

(inappropriate existing facilities), SO1d (lack of details on access), SO2b (the 
proposals is not the renewal/repair of empty properties) SO2c and SO2d plus 
Policy S8 – (no affordable units), SO2e. S7 and S10 (no housing provision for 
the elderly), SO4a ,SO4b and S22 (re transport objectives re existing journey 
times and transport infrastructure, inadequate road junctions and the site is 
served by a solitary access, S32 ( individual and accumulative construction 
disturbance with the other nearby housing approvals ), S22 residential 
amenity of existing houses will be disturbed by traffic, So5e and S29 flood 
risk and surface water drainage with reference to flooding on and outside the 
site with Gale brook having finite lifespan of 15-25 years due to its current 
condition (photo’s provided of flooding) which applicable to the entire length 
of the watercourse with reference to flood maps.-seek a flood risk 
assessment. Question the details of the 2019 ecology survey-nearby 
presence of slow worms. 

 
 
 

Page 109



5.11. An objection letter was also received from the Workington Flood Action Group. 
They refer to the Environment Agency’s maps with Plots 1-4 being within risk 
areas. They challenge the findings of the applicant’s initial drainage report as to 
the site’s permeability, the contentious details of utilising Gale Brook and the site 
is in an area at flood risk. The proposal is therefore contrary to Policy S29 of 
ALPP1. Reference is made to an assessment of the culverts in Barepot which if 
unattended may be blocked in year 2025 and the Low Seaton culverts may be in 
a similar state. They contest Gale Brook is hydraulically overloaded with concern 
that the culverts may collapse. Reference is also made to the other approved 
housing development which will increase the flow and velocity of water to this 
site. The Group refer to the loss of the approved turning area for the existing four 
houses at Low Seaton under the garden of plot 8 and emphasise the site is not 
within the ALPP2. Consequently, a full Flood Risk Assessment is requested with 
the need to consult both the Environment Agency and the County Council. The 
objection will be withdrawn if the applicant agrees to remediate Gale Brook in 
Low Seaton and fund its realignment in Barepot. 

 
6. Environmental Impact Assessment 

6.1. The Town and Country Planning (Environmental Impact Assessment) 
Regulations 2017 

6.2. The development does not within Schedule 1 nor 2 and, as such, is not EIA 
development. 

7. Duties 
 

7.1. The proposal does not affect the setting of any listed buildings or conservation 
areas. It would not significantly impact on any Natura 2000 designation (noting 
the watercourse does constitute a tributary to the River Derwent’s SAC).  

 
8. Development Plan Policies 
 

8.1. Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1) 
 

           Policy S1 - Presumption in favour of sustainable development 
           Policy S2 - Sustainable development principles 
           Policy S3 - Spatial Strategy and Growth 
           Policy S4 - Design principles 
           Policy S5 - Development Principles 
           Policy S7 - A mixed and balanced housing market 
           Policy S22 - Transport principles 
           Policy S29 - Flood Risk and Surface Water Drainage 
           Policy S30 - Reuse of Land 
           Policy S32 - Safeguarding amenity 
           Policy S33 - Landscape 
           Policy S35 - Protecting and enhancing biodiversity and geodiversity 
           Policy DM14 - Standards of Good Design 
           Policy DM17 –Trees, hedgerows and woodland 

 

Page 110



8.2. Allerdale Local Plan (Part 2) 
 
           Policy SA2 – Settlement limits 
           Policy SA33 – Broadband 
 Policy SA52 – Green Infrastructure 
  
 The northern strip of the site is designated as a green infrastructure.  
 
9. Other material considerations 
 
           National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) (2019) 

 
           Allerdale Borough Council Plan 2020-2030 
 

10. Policy weighting 
 

10.1. Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires that, 
if regard is to be had to the development plan for the purpose of any 
determination to be made under the Planning Acts, the determination must be 
made in accordance with the plan unless material considerations indicate 
otherwise. This means that the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1) 2014 and the 
Allerdale Borough Local Plan (Part 2) 2020 policies have primacy. 

 
11. Assessment: 
 

Principle of development 
 

11.1. Policy S5 of the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1) states that new residential 
development will be concentrated within the physical limits of Principal, Key and 
Local Service Centres. Seaton’s settlement is included as part of Workington for 
the purpose of the settlement hierarchy and housing allocation and growth.  

 
11.2. Workington (including Seaton) is the Principal Service Centre and the focus for 

35% of the housing growth required across the Plan area, where additional, 
development sites can be supported to sustain housing growth. The Local Plan 
requires the delivery of at least 5,471 dwellings during the plan period, therefore 
requiring 1979 dwellings over the plan period (up to 2029) for Workington 
(including Seaton). The proposed 8 dwellings would make a modest contribution 
to delivering the identified housing need.  
 

11.3. The proposed development site lies within the revised settlement limit for 
Workington (including Seaton) under policy SA2 of the Allerdale Local plan (Part 
2).  

 
11.4. The sites of the approved housing developments ref. 2/2017/0277 and 

2/2018/0493 have also been incorporated into the revised limits for Seaton under 
the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 2), thus enabling for the future growth of the village 
as part of Workington’s housing supply. 
 

Page 111



11.5. Local representations emphasise concerns with the scale of housing 
development in Seaton, and Officers acknowledge that the village benefits from 
three major housing commitments namely; 

 

 Causeway Road, Seaton (2/2017/0277 and 2/2018/0493) - outline 
approval up to 100 units 

 Land east of Whitestiles, Seaton, 69 dwellings approved 2/2016/0657 

 Lowca Lane 2/2017/0510 - outline for 41 self-build plots 
 
11.6. However, this smaller scheme, should be assessed on its individual planning 

merits. The Local Plan does not preclude the consideration of windfall sites, 
where these are within the settlement limits.  

  
11.7. The scale of the proposal is small and both individually and cumulatively, it is 

considered to be acceptable to maintain a sustained growth within the Principal 
Service Centre of Workington. It is consistent with the aims of the spatial strategy 
set out in the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1). Its inclusion within the settlement 
limits, reinforces that the site is sustainable and well related to the existing 
settlement pattern of development within the village.  
 

11.8. As such, the principle of housing is considered to be acceptable at this location. 
The site is not considered to make a significant contribution to the character of 
the settlement in its un-developed state and the scale of development proposed 
is proportionate to the size of the village, as a sustainable location for future 
housing development.   
 

11.9. The principle of the proposal is therefore considered to be in accordance with 
Policies S2, S3 and S5 of the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1) and Policy SA2 of the 
Allerdale local plan (Part 2). 

 
           Layout/ Scale of development  
 

11.10. The current outline excludes all reserved matters except access with a single 
vehicular access from Causeway Road via Beech Grove. The application 
includes an indicative layout providing for 8 dwellings. As the provision of 8 
dwellings is included in the description, it is appropriate to assess whether this is 
a suitable scale of development, even though matters of layout and scale are 
reserved. The indicative layout demonstrates that eight dwellings can be 
accommodated, and it accords well with the immediate character of the village.  

  
11.11. The site itself is well related to the existing settlement with built development on 

three boundaries of the site. The proposal would infill an existing green wedge 
corridor within the settlement pattern. Whilst the Gale Brook watercourse and its 
associated culverts do sterilise a corridor of land through the site (thus ensuring 
its future maintenance) officers consider ample land remains to accommodate 
the scale of the development proposed. An amended plan is awaited to omit the 
culvert corridor from the application site. 
 

Page 112



11.12. The site concerned is bordered by two storey dwellings on Kelsick Park and Low 
Seaton and bungalows on the neighbouring boundary of Beech Grove. Given this 
existing mixture it is considered not essential to restrict by condition the scale of 
the house types for this development.  
 

           Landscape and Visual Impact 
 
11.13. Given the constrained nature of the site, there are not considered to be any wider 

landscape and visual impacts of the proposal, having regard to policies S35 and 
S32. Policy DM17 seeks to, where possible protect trees which contribute 
positively to the character of the area. 

 
11.14. The only feature of landscape value is a hedgerow on the western perimeter 

which is sought to be retained as part of the estates future landscaping. 
Conditions are also applied to secure the long term maintenance of the 
undeveloped landscape corridor along the culverted section of Gale Brook. 
Through consideration of the detailed plans at the reserved matters stage, Gale 
Brook and its designation as Green corridor can be appropriately considered 
under policy SA52. A condition reinforces no development within the corridor of 
the river.     
 
Design and residential amenity 

 
11.15. Policy S32 of the Allerdale local plan (Part 1) seeks to safeguard amenity. These 

matters will need to be fully considered at the reserved matters stage, when 
details of layout, scale and appearance are fully considered.  The planning 
considerations concerning any possible loss of light, privacy and amenity to 
neighbouring residential dwellings can be evaluated as part of this future 
submission. The onus will be within any future reserved matter application to 
demonstrate a housing scheme which is sympathetic to the site and 
surroundings and provides a high standard of housing for future occupiers and 
safeguards the amenity for existing properties which border the site. 

 
           Highway considerations 
 
11.16. Policy S22 of the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1) outlines the transport 

considerations for development schemes. Confirmation is awaited from the 
applicant that the proposed means of access via Beech grove is part of the 
application i.e. does not constitute a reserved matter. The highway 
considerations represent a key concern within the submitted representations, 
which was similarly a major issue on the larger housing scheme, now approved. 

 
11.17. Paragraph 111 of the NPPF states “Development should only be prevented or 

refused on highways grounds if there would be an unacceptable impact on 
highway safety, or the residual cumulative impacts on the road network would be 
severe.”  

 
11.18. The previously approved housing development (up to 100 dwellings) on the 

opposite side of Causeway Road (which included the means of access) 
incorporated a new vehicular access via the partial demolition of the Royal British 

Page 113



Legion Club (RBL), with a secondary access for pedestrian use and emergency 
vehicles an existing agricultural access onto Camerton Road. However this 
consent was superseded by the outline consent 2/2021/0493, which remains 
extant, and gained an alternative access via Hill Farm onto Causeway Road. 
Given the location of this access closer to the centre of village and its services 
and transport infrastructure, it is considered that this access, unlike its 
predecessor, will substantially lessen any combined traffic movements with the 
current proposal, within this part of the village.  
 

11.19. The existing driveway across the site is built to an adoptable standard. The 
indicative layout amends the former approved rear access driveway details for 
the existing four approved dwellinghouses off Low Seaton.  
 

11.20. Officers attribute significant weight to the advice of the Local Highway Authority, 
who raise no objection to the proposal on highway safety grounds.   
 

11.21. The details are therefore considered satisfactory in terms of demonstrating 
acceptable access arrangements for the site. 
 

           Drainage 
 
11.22. Policy S29 of the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1) specifies the criteria for 

consideration of flood risk and surface water drainage. 
 
11.23. This subject was a primary source of concern on the earlier approved housing 

scheme for 100 dwellings (ref.2/2017/0277 and subsequently 2/2018/0493),  both 
of which adopted a surface water drainage strategy utilising the existing 
upstream culverted section of Gale Brook water course, which traverses beneath 
Causeway Road and then predominantly underground through the application 
site itself, prior to being briefly exposed in a short open culvert section in the 
western corner of the site, before diverting back underground in a separate 
culvert on the perimeter of the site. 
 

11.24. This watercourse falls both under the remit of the Environment Agency and the 
County’s Lead Local Flood Authority (LLFA). This drainage corridor route, which 
acted as the attenuated means of the surface water drainage for the former 
consents, proved to be contentious, with reference to localised flooding events 
along its corridor. The larger housing development was only granted consent 
upon the applicant providing a detailed surface water drainage strategy to 
demonstrate that the scale of run off reflected current guidance re: greenfield run 
off rates with an allowance for climate change (which was the subject of a 
detailed peer analysis commissioned by the LLFA).  Thus, there was no 
demonstrable increase in flood risk. Furthermore, it also prompted the clearance 
of blockages within the upper underground culverted sections of the watercourse. 
 

11.25. Similar concerns on surface water drainage and flood risk are being raised in this 
current application. This is further complicated by the fact that part of the 
application site is recognised as an area known for localised flooding events 
(including high risk -1 in 30 years). This is confined to the approximate route of 

Page 114



the culvert, with the high risk elements concentrated at both the open section and 
the access entrance to the Beech Grove estate onto Causeway Road. 
 

11.26. As a consequence, Officers, especially in accounting for cumulative impacts with 
the nearby approved housing development, requested a bespoke, site specific 
flood risk assessment towards formulating the surface water drainage strategy 
for the site, with the focus concentrating on the Gale Brook corridor. The 
assessment considered the flood risk from fluvial/tidal flooding to the site, 
reservoir flooding (none), groundwater flooding (very low), surface water flooding 
from the site (low, but surface water flooding to the site, low - high. The latter 
aspect relates to ponding to a low lying area (approx. 30cm deep) over a limited 
area and therefore has limited storage volume. The removal of these 
depressions was considered to have no “discernible impact” on flood risk 
elsewhere, with much of the site area being developed with managed run off by a 
formal drainage system. 
 

11.27. The report does however recommends some mitigation conditions including; 
finished floor levels, a landscaped corridor along the route of the culvert and the 
use of filter drains to the landscaped areas. 
 

11.28. The subsequently provided outline surface water drainage strategy accounts for 
infiltration tests, the availability of the watercourse itself on the site, green field 
run off rate calculations (for a 1 in 100 year event plus 40% allowance for climate 
change, 10% allowance for urban creep), allowance for undeveloped areas, 
adoption of permeable paving etc, future maintenance of the culvert, 
identification of exceedance routes, levels of land around buildings and SUD’s 
maintenance plan. 
 

11.29. The strategy confirms that consideration has also been given to the cumulative 
impacts with the larger approved housing development and its restricted 
discharge rates. The proposal will adopt the same principles as the larger 
scheme, reducing the flood risk downstream for up to a 100 year event plus an 
allowance for climate change, concluding the cumulative impacts will not 
increase flood risk elsewhere.  
 

11.30. The submitted information has been evaluated by the LLFA, who accept its 
findings. Based on this advice, Officers are satisfied that the development will not 
significantly increase flood risk in the locality individually or cumulatively, 
complying with the objectives of policy S29 of the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1).  
 

           Ecology 
   
11.31. Policy S35 of ALPP 1 seeks to protect and enhance biodiversity. The initial 

ecology survey was undertaken in 2019. It acknowledged that Gale Brook acts 
as an important tributary to the river Derwent and its associated SAC 
designation, thus a construction environmental management plan is 
recommended including the following measures: silt traps, fencing off the 
watercourse (5m), adoption of an emergency plan for pollution events, storage of 
materials in bunded areas, testing of imported soil to the site and planting solely 
native tree/vegetation species. 

Page 115



 
11.32. The site itself was considered of low ecological value, especially given its small 

size, lack of trees and high levels of disturbance. Mitigation measures were 
recommended to address habitat mitigation and compensation. 
 

11.33. The survey acknowledged the presence of nesting birds which would require 
mitigation. Similarly a range of mitigation measures were recommended to 
address any possible amphibians on site, but the existence of Great Crested 
Newts was considered unlikely. A reptile survey was however recommended in 
the correct recording season. Bats were considered to be unlikely to roost at the 
site. Additional measures were recommended (covering of excavations) to 
minimise any harm to badgers who may occasionally visit the site. 
 

11.34. It was concluded from the survey that the works are unlikely to impact on other 
protected species: otter, while clawed crayfish, water vole, dormice, red squirrel 
or botanical or invertebrate species of note. Any other NERC species e.g. 
hedgehog can be mitigated against.  
 

11.35. The applicant undertook an updated ecological survey 2021, as the resulting 
delay associated with addressing the various drainage concerns caused the 
original report to be out of date, plus the original assessment was undertaken in 
winter months. It concluded the following: 

 

 Bird species – common bird species on site, need for precautionary 
measures to avoid nesting season and seek seed producing landscaping 
details to improve foraging opportunities. 

 Bats – No significant change since the original survey in 2019 with only 
foraging/commuting bats, with negligible potential for roosting bats due to 
the lack of structures and trees. 

 Reptiles the nature of the site has the potential as basking habitat for 
reptiles, prompting a specific reptile survey for the site. 

 A bespoke reptile presence/absence survey was undertaken in 2021,  
            comprising of 7 visits. Whilst existing survey records suggest 3 sightings 

of slow worms in the locality (the nearest being 200m to the north-2011), 
there are no records from the site itself, and despite its moderate potential, 
none were found during the survey. (The presence of domestic cats is 
likely to diminish the likelihood of their presence). It was therefore 
concluded that the proposal is unlikely to have a significant impact on the 
population of reptiles, with no need for additional surveys. 

 Invertebrates –given the existing cover supporting bees/butterflies, it is 
           recommended meadow and ruderal species be included in the proposed 
           development.  

 Other considerations e.g. otters, badgers, otter, red squirrel, and great 
crested newt, refer to original survey findings with no evidence of activity 
during the survey.  

 
11.36. The overall conclusion is that there is no significant change since 2019 resulting 

in the mitigation measures of the original report remaining valid and sufficient to 
address the requirements of policy S35.  

 

Page 116



          Contaminated Land 
 
11.37. The application was supported by a ground investigation report. Environmental 

Health have required these be updated and recommend standard conditions 
safeguarding remediation and verification.  

 
           Affordable Housing 
 
11.38. The scale of housing development proposed at eight dwellings and the reduction 

of the size of the site to exclude the culvert corridor, as a minor development, 
does not trigger the requirement for the provision of affordable housing under the 
criteria of the updated NPPF.   

 
           Local Financial Considerations 
 
11.39. Having regard to S70 (2) of the Town and Country Planning Act. There are 

matters regarding the New Homes Bonus Scheme and Council Tax Revenue for 
the Council. This has carried no weight in the determination. 

 
12. Conclusion  
 
12.1. Each application is judged on its individual merits. The principle of the 

development is acceptable as a sustainable location within the village which is 
well related to its surroundings.  
 

12.2. The application site itself has few constraints, but officers acknowledge the 
existence of the existing culvert traversing through the site and recognise the 
flood history of the immediate locality, which had prompted local representations, 
especially in the context of cumulative concerns with the approved housing 
development for 100 dwellings. This larger development utilises surface water 
drainage via the existing watercourse of Gale Brook also. Having secured a  
flood risk assessment/drainage strategy, which takes into account cumulative 
impacts, the findings have been accepted by the LLFA. Therefore, subject to 
securing the mitigation measures recommended, plus the receipt of amended 
plans to omit the culvert corridor from the application site. It is considered that 
this issue has been satisfactorily investigated and resolved. Any cumulative 
highway concerns have diminished as a result of the larger housing scheme 
being accessed via Hill Farm. 
 

12.3. Officers consider there are no other major constraints impacting on the 
development of the site. The principle of housing development at this location is 
acceptable and the proposal is recommended favourably, in compliance with the 
adopted policies of the Allerdale Local Plan Parts 1 and 2. 
 

Recommendation 

That subject to the receipt of amended details omitting the culvert corridor and 
confirming the inclusion of the reserved matter of means of access as part of the current 
submission that outline planning permission be granted, subject to the recommended 
conditions.  

Page 117



 

Page 118



Annex 1 
 
Conditions/Reasons  
 
 
1.    Prior to the commencement of works, details of the layout, scale and 

appearance, and landscaping (hereinafter called 'reserved matters') shall be 
submitted to and approved by the Local Planning Authority. 

       Reason: The application has been submitted as an outline application, in 
accordance with the provisions of the details of the town and country Planning 
(General Development Procedure) Order 1995. 

 
2.    Insofar as this decision grants outline permission for residential development 

of up to 8 dwellings, the development hereby permitted shall be carried out in 
accordance with the following plans: 

 60790-01 Site location plan 
 Amendment 078467-CUR-00-XX-RP-Z-92001 Rev V01 drainage strategy part 1 
 Amendment 078467-CUR-00-XX-RP-Z-92001 Rev V01 drainage strategy part 2 
 Amended Ecological  Assessment survey report  11/10/2021 
 Amended reptile survey report  11/10/21 
      Reason: To ensure a satifctory housing density for the development. 
 
3. Insofar as this decision grants outline permission for residential 

development of up to 8 dwellings, the submission of all reserved matters 
applications shall be made no later than the expiration of 3 years beginning 
with the date of this permission and the development shall begin no later  
than whichever is the later of the following dates: 

       (a) The expiration of 3 years from the date of the grant of this permission, or  
       (b) The expiration of 2 years from the final approval of the reserved matters 

or, in the case of approval on different dates, the final approval of the last 
such matter to be approved. 

       Reason: In order to comply with Section 51 of the Planning and Compulsory 
Purchase Act 2004. 

 
 
4.   Excluding drainage works, no development shall be undertaken within a three 

metre easement to each side of the route of Gale Brook watercourse, whether 
that be the open or culverted sections of the watercourse. 
Reason: To enable the future maintenance and management of the watercourse, in 
the interests of proper drainage and reducing flood risk, in accordance with Policy 
S29 of the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1) (July 2014).     

 
 
Pre commencement  
 
5. No development shall take place until a detailed surface water scheme has    

been submitted to and approved by the Local Planning Authority. The detailed 
surface water drainage scheme shall: 

a)  Be in accordance with the broad principles set out in the drainage strategy 
  Amendment 078467-CUR-00-XX-RP-Z-92001 Rev V01 drainage strategy part 

Page 119



     1 & 2 Flood risk assessment Statement dated 30th April 2021 proposing 
     surface water into Gale Brook (for the avoidance of doubt, no surface water 
      shall discharge to the public sewerage system either directly or indirectly); 
b)    Be in accordance with the Non –Statutory Technical Standards for 
  sustainable Drainage systems (March 2015) or any subsequent replacement 

national standards; c) Set out drainage provision for both developed and 
undeveloped areas: d) Demonstrate that the run-off rate from the site 
following development shall not exceed 26.99l/s; 

c) Provide appropriate volume of storage up to the 1 in 100 plus climate 
change event, with the design and capacity of the attenuation being 
underpinned by updated calculations; 

d)  How flow paths of exceedance routes from a 1 in 100 year plus climate 
change event so as to demonstrate they will not affect properties on or 
offsite. 

e)      Include details of how drainage infrastructure shall be managed and 
         maintained after completion. 
        The development shall be completed, maintained and managed in 
         accordance with the approved details. 
         Reason: To promote sustainable development, secure proper drainage and to 
         manage the risk of flooding and pollution from surface water in compliance with 
         Policy S29 of the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1) (July 2014). 
 
6.      The carriageway and footways shall be designed, constructed, drained 
         and lit to a standard suitable for adoption and in this respect further 
         details, including longitudinal/cross sections and a footpath link to Beech 
         Grove, shall be submitted to the Local Planning Authority for approval 
         before work commences on site. No work shall be commenced until a full 
         specification has been approved. These details shall be in accordance 
         with the standards laid down in the current Cumbria Design Guide. Any 
         works so approved shall be constructed before the development is 
         complete.  
         Reason: To ensure a minimum standard of construction in the interests of 
         highway safety. 

 
7. Prior to development commencing, a Construction Environmental 

Management Plan shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. The statement shall include the following:  

       a) Traffic Management Plan to include all traffic associated with the 
development, including on -site parking and turning for site and staff traffic;  

       b) Procedure to monitor and mitigate noise and vibration from the 
construction and demolition and to monitor any properties at risk of damage 
from vibration, as well as taking into account noise from vehicles, deliveries. 
All measurements should make reference to BS7445.  

       c) Mitigation measures to reduce adverse impacts on residential properties 
from construction compounds including visual impact, noise, and light 
pollution.  

       d) Mitigation measures to ensure that no harm is caused to wildlife species 
during construction.  

       e) A written procedure for dealing with complaints regarding the 
construction;  

Page 120



       f) Measures to control the emissions of dust and dirt during construction and 
demolition;  

       g) Programme of work for Construction phase;  
       h) Hours of working and deliveries;  
       i) Details of lighting to be used on site.  
       j) Appropriate pollution prevention guideline measures to include 

biosecurity, materials and machinery storage, and mitigation for the control 
and management of noise, dust, surface water run-off and waste to protect 
Gale Brook and any surface water drains from sediment, and pollution from 
cement or fuel. 

       The approved statement shall be adhered to throughout the duration of the 
development. 

       Reason : In the interests of amenity and safeguarding ecological interests and 
biodiversity in compliance with policies S32 and S35 of the Allerdale Local Plan 
(Part 1) (July 2014).  

 
8. No development approved by this permission shall commence until all 

necessary site investigation works within the site boundary have been 
carried out to establish the degree and nature of the contamination and its 
potential to pollute the environment or cause harm to human health. The 
scope of works for the site investigations should be agreed with the Local 
Planning Authority prior to the commencement of works. 

       Reason:  To minimise any risk during or post construction works arising from any 
possible contamination from the development to the local environment in 
compliance with the National Planning Policy Framework and Policy S30 of the 
Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1) (July 2014). 

 
During operational works 
 
9. Where land affected by contamination is found which poses unacceptable 

risks to human health, controlled waters or the wider environment under 
condition 8, no development shall take place until a detailed remediation 
scheme has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. The scheme must include an appraisal of remediation 
options, identification of the preferred option(s), the proposed remediation 
objectives and remediation criteria, and a description and programme of the 
works to be undertaken including the verification plan. 

        Reason:  To minimise any risk during or post construction works arising from any 
        possible contamination from the development to the local environment in 
        compliance with the National Planning Policy Framework and Policy S30 of the 
        Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1) (July 2014). 
 

10. Should a remediation scheme be required under condition 9, the approved 
strategy shall be implemented and a verification report submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority, prior to the 
development (or relevant phase of development) being brought into use. 

          Reason:  To minimise any risk during or post construction works arising from any 
          possible contamination from the development to the local environment in 
          compliance with the National Planning Policy Framework and Policy S30 of the 
          Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1) (July 2014). 

Page 121



 
11. In the event that contamination is found at any time when carrying out the 

approved development that was not previously identified it must be 
   reported immediately to the Local Planning Authority. Development on the 
   part of the site affected must be halted and a risk assessment carried out and 
   submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. Where 
   unacceptable risks are found remediation and verification schemes shall be 
   submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. These 
   shall be implemented prior to the development (or relevant phase of 
   development) being brought into use. All work shall be undertaken in 
   accordance with current UK guidance, particularly CLR11. 

       Reason:  To minimise any risk during or post construction works arising from any 
possible contamination from the development to the local environment in 
compliance with the National Planning Policy Framework and Policy S30 of the 
Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1) (July 2014).  

 
13.   Vehicular access to the development site herbey approved shall solely be via 

the existing access onto Beech Grove estate, Seaton. 
       Reason : In the interests of highway safety. 
  
14.  The development hereby approved shall only be undertaken in full 
       accordance  with the recommendations and mitigation measures outlined in 

the submitted ecological report ref Amended Ecological Assessment survey       
report dated 11/10/2021.  

       Reason : In the interests of safeguarding local wildlife and biodiversity in 
compliance with Policy S35 of the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1) (July 2014).  

 
15.  No residential dwelling shall be constructed above ground level until full 

details of the layout, maintenance and management of the public open space 
(the corridor adjacent to Gale Brook watercourse) have been submitted to 
and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The public open 
space shall be fully implemented prior to the occupation of the completione 
dwellinghouse on the site and retained for the lifetime of the development. 

       Reason: To ensure the satisfactory provision of open space in accordance with the 
National Planning Policy Framework and Policies S2, S4, S24, S25, S26 and 
DM14 and safeguard the future maintenance corridor of Gale Brooks watercourse 
of the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1) (July 2014). 

 
Prior to occupation 
 
16. No dwelling shall be occupied until the estate road, including footways and 

cycleways to serve that dwelling, have been constructed in all respects to 
base course level and street lighting where it is to form part of the estate 
road, has been provided and brought into full operational use. 

       Reason: In the interests of highway safety. 
 
17. Prior to the first occupation of each dwelling, details for that dwelling shall 

be  submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority of 
either:- 

a) Evidence that the applicant will provide onsite access to broadband 

Page 122



      infrastructure providers during the construction process to allow the 
      providers to install the necessary broadband infrastructure; or  
b) Evidence, following contact with broadband infrastructure providers, that it 

is not practicably or viably possible to install broadband infrastructure to 
achieve superfast (as defined by Government standards) fibre broadband 
connectivity.  
Reason: To seek to secure sustainable superfast (as defined by Government 
standards) fibre broadband connectivity in accordance with policy SA33 of the 
Allerdale Local Plan Part 2 (July 2019). 

 
18.  Any landscaping scheme submitted at the reserved matters stage shall 

include retention of the existing hedgerow on the western boundary of the 
site, together with measures for its protection during the construction of 
development. All planting, seeding or turfing comprised within any approved 
landscaping scheme shall be carried out in the first planting season 
following completion of the development and any trees or plants 

       which within a period of 5 years from the completion of the development 
       die, are removed or become seriously damaged or diseased shall be 
       replaced in the next planting season with other similar size and species, 
       unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  
         Reason: In order to enhance the appearance of the development and 
         minimise the impact of the development in the locality and improve biodiversity 
        in compliance with policy S33 and S35 of the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1) (July 

2014).  

Page 123



 

 

Page 124


	Agenda
	1 Minutes
	Minutes , 23/11/2021 Development Panel

	5 VAR/2020/0009 - Lowmoor Road, Wigton - Variation of condition 6 on approved application 2/2016/0249
	6 RMA/2019/0015 - Lowmoor Road, Wigton - Residential development and associated infrastructure
	7 FUL/2021/0067 - Princess Street - Mixed use development retail, apartments, houses
	8 FUL/2021/0286 - 32 Wilson Street, Workington - Window replacements to UPVC
	9 OUT/2019/0017 - Land at Beech Grove, Low Seaton - Outline application for 8 dwellings

